# DEMO: Purchase from www.A-PDF.com to remove the watermark

# TSIMSHIAN

BY

FRANZ BOAS

283

# CONTENTS

Page
§ 1. Distribution of language and dialects
§§ 2-4. Phonetics
§ 2. System of sounds
§ 3. Grouping of sounds and laws of euphony
§ 4. The phonetic systems of Nass and Tsimshian
§ 5. Grammatical processes
§ 6. Ideas expressed by grammatical processes
§§ 7–67. Discussion of grammar
§§ 7–16. Proclitic particles
§ 7. General remarks 298
§ 8. Local particles appearing in pairs (nos. 1–22)
§ 9. Local particles—continued (nos. 23-62)
§ 10. Modal particles (nos. 63–135)
§ 11. Nominal particles (nos. 136–156)
§ 12. Particles transforming verbs into nouns (nos. 157-163)
§ 13. Particles transforming nouns into verbs (nos. 164–166)
§ 14. Transitive pronominal subject
§ 15. Particles that may precede the transitive subject (nos. 167-180) 337
§ 16. Alphabetical list of particles
§§ 17–32. Suffixes
§ 17. Suffixes following the stem 343
§ 18. Pronominal suffixes
§ 19. Modal suffixes following the pronominal suffixes
§ 20. Demonstrative suffixes
§§ 21–31. Connectives. 350
§ 21. General remarks
§ 22. Attributive and adverbial connectives
§ 23. Predicative and possessive connectives
§§ 24–31. Predicative and possessive connectives of the Tsimshian
dialect
§ 24. General characteristics of the connectives 354
§ 25. Predicative connectives
§ 26. Connectives between subject and object 359
§ 27. Possessive connectives
§ 28. Prepositional connectives
§ 29. Phonetic modification of the connectives
§ 30. Connectives of the conjunction AND
§ 31. The connective -l
§ 32. Suffixes of numerals.
§ 33. Contraction 363
§ 34. Incorporation

	Reduplication
	General remarks
§ 36. 1	initial reduplication, including the first consonant following
8 OF 1	the first vowel
•	initial reduplication, including the first vowel
	Reduplication of words containing proclitic particles
	fication of stem vowel
••	Formation of plural
•	Methods of forming the plural
	First group. Singular and plural the same.
§ 42. S	Second and third groups. Plurals formed by reduplication and
	vowel change
	Fourth group. Plurals formed by the prefix qa
	Fifth group. Plurals formed by the prefix $qa$ - and the suffix $-(t)k^{u}$ .
	Sixth group. Plurals formed by the prefix l
•	Seventh group. Irregular plurals
	Plurals of compounds
§§ 48–54. I	Personal pronouns
§ 48. 8	Subjective and objective pronouns
§ 49. T	Use of the subjective
§ 50. T	Use of the objective
§ 51. 7	The first person singular, objective pronoun
	Remarks on the subjective pronouns
§ 53. 7	The personal pronoun in the Nass dialect
	Independent personal pronoun
§ 55. Posse	ession
§ 56. Dem	onstrative pronouns
	Numerals
	Cardinal numbers
	Ordinal numbers, numeral adverbs, and distributive numbers
	Syntactic use of the verb
	Use of subjunctive after temporal particles
	Use of subjunctive in the negative
	The subjunctive after conjunctions
	Use of the indicative
	The negative
	Γhe interrogative
•	The imperative
	rdinating conjunctions
	osition
3 or. Tieb	OGINOH

#### **TSIMSHIAN**

#### By Franz Boas

#### §1. DISTRIBUTION OF LANGUAGE AND DIALECTS

The Tsimshian (Chimmesyan) is spoken on the coast of northern British Columbia and in the region adjacent to Nass and Skeena rivers. On the islands off the coast the Tsimshian occupy the region southward as far as Milbank sound.

Three principal dialects may be distinguished: The Tsimshian proper, which is spoken on Skeena river and on the islands farther to the south; the Nîsqa'e, which is spoken on Nass river, and the Gitkcan (Gyitkshan), which is spoken on the upper course of Skeena river. The first and second of these dialects form the subject of the following discussion. The description of the Tsimshian proper is set off by a vertical rule down the left-hand margin of the pages.

The Tsimshian dialect has been discussed by the writer and by Count von der Schulenburg. I have also briefly discussed the dialect of Nass river, and have published a collection of texts in the same dialect. References accompanying examples (like 290.2) refer to page and line in this publication; those preceded by ZE refer to a Tsimshian text with notes published by me.

#### PHONETICS (§§ 2-4)

#### § 2. System of Sounds

The phonetic system of the Tsimshian dialects is in many respects similar to that of other languages of the North Pacific coast. It abounds particularly in k-sounds and l-sounds. The informants from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Fifth Report of the Committee on the Northwestern Tribes of Canada (Report of the 59th Meeting of the British Association for the Advancement of Science, 1889, 877-889).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Dr. A. C. Graf von der Schulenburg, Die Sprache der Zimshlan-Indianer (Brunswick, 1894).

<sup>\*</sup>Tenth and Eleventh Reports of the Committee on the Northwestern Tribes of Canada (Reports of the 65th and 66th Meetings of the British Association for the Advancement of Science, 1895, 583-586; 1896 586-591).

<sup>4</sup> Tsimshian Texts (Bulletin 27 of the Bureau of American Ethnology, Washington, 1902).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Eine Sonnensage der Tsimschian, Zeitschrift für Ethnologie, 1908, 776-797.

whom my material in the Nass river dialect has been gathered used the hiatus frequently, without, however, giving the preceding stop enough strength to justify the introduction of a fortis. A few people from other villages, whom I heard occasionally, seemed to use greater strength of articulation; and there is little doubt that the older mode of pronunciation had a distinct series of strong stops. In the Tsimshian dialect the fortis survives clearly in the t and p; while the tsand k fortis have come to be very weak. I have also observed in this dialect a distinct fortis of the y, w, m, n, and l. In these sounds the increased stress of articulation brings about a tension of the vocal chords and epiglottis, the release of which gives the sound a strongly sonant character, and produces a glottal stop preceding the sound when it appears after a vowel. Thus the fortes of these continued sounds are analogous to the Kwakiutl ey, ew, em, en, and el. sumably the same sounds occur in the Nass dialect, although they escaped my attention. Differentiation between surd and sonant is difficult, particularly in the velar k series.

The phonetics of Tsimshian take an exceptional position among the languages of the North Pacific coast, in that the series of l stops are missing. Besides the sound corresponding to our l, we find only the l, a voiceless continued sound produced by the escape of air from the space behind the canine teeth; the whole front part of the mouth being filled by the tip of the tongue, which is pressed against the palate. Tsimshian dialect has a continued sonant k sound, which is exceedingly weak and resembles the weak medial r, which has almost no trill and is pronounced a little in front of the border of the hard palate. It corresponds to the sound in Tlingit which Swanton (see p. 165) writes y, but which I have heard among the older generation of Tlingit distinctly as the same sound as the Tsimshian sound here discussed. assumption that it was originally the continued sonant corresponding to x of other Pacific Coast languages agrees its prevalent u tinge. feel, however, a weak trill in pronouncing the sound, and for this reason I have used the symbol r for denoting this sound. In some cases a velar trill appears, which I have written r.

In the Nass dialect, liquids (m, n, l) that occur at the ends of words are suppressed. Tongue and lips are placed in position for these sounds, but there is no emission of air, and hence no sound, unless a following word with its outgoing breath makes the terminal sound audible.

The vocalic system of Tsimshian is similar to that of other Northwest Coast languages, with which it has in common the strong tendency to a weakening of vowels. The Tsimshian dialect has no clear a, but all its a's are intermediate between a and  $\ddot{a}$ . Only after w does this vowel assume a purer a tinge. A peculiarity of the language is the doubling of almost every long vowel by the addition of a parasitic vowel of the same timbre as the principal vowel, but pronounced with relaxation of all muscles.

Following is a tabular statement of the sounds observed in the Nass dialect.

The series of vowels may be rendered as follows:1

						E				
Short	•	•	u	0	ô	$\boldsymbol{a}$	è	$\boldsymbol{e}$	î	i
Long				ō	â	$ar{a}$	ä	$ar{e}$	-	ī
With parasitic vowel			_	ōu	âô	$\bar{a}a$	äê	$ar{e}\hat{e}$	_	īî

This series begins with the u-vowel with rounded lips and open posterior part of mouth-opening, and proceeds with less protrusion of lips and wider opening of the anterior portion of the mouth to a; then, with gradual flattening of the middle part of the mouth-opening, through e to i.

The system of consonants is contained in the following table:

		Ste	ps.	A	ffrice	itives	Con	tinued	Nasals
	Sonant	Burd	Surd fol- lowed by hiatus	Sonant	Surd	Surd followed	Sonant	Surd	
Labial :	$\boldsymbol{b}$	$\boldsymbol{p}$	(p')	_	_	_	_	_	m
Dental	$\boldsymbol{d}$	t	(t')	dz	ts	(ts')	z	s,(c)	$\boldsymbol{n}$
Anterior palatal	$g^{\centerdot}$	k·	$(k\cdot)$	_	_	-	_	$\boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\cdot}}$	-
Middle palatal	$\boldsymbol{g}$	$\boldsymbol{k}$	(k')	_	_	-	_	<b>x</b>	-
Velar	$\boldsymbol{g}$	q	(q')	-	-	-	( <u>?</u> )	$oldsymbol{x}$	-
Lateral, voiced contin	ued		•	•		•	•	•	$\overline{l}$
voiceless stop	o (?)							•	L
Breathing .	•			•		•	•	•	h
Semi-vowels .			•						y hw

It is doubtful whether c (English sh) occurs as a separate sound; s seems rather to be pronounced with somewhat open teeth. The sounds g and k take very often a u-tinge. The semi-vowel w is almost always aspirated.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Notwithstanding its defects, I have adhered for the Nass dialect to the spelling used in previous publications.

## § 3. Grouping of Sounds and Laws of Euphony

Clustering of consonants is almost unrestricted, and a number of extended consonantic clusters may occur; as, for instance, -ltkutg, ppt, qsl, xtg, and many others.

#### Examples are:

```
a'qLk^{u}det they reached 111.11 \bar{a}'d'lk^{u}sk^{u}L came 35.1 xsk^{u}\bar{a}k^{v} eagle 178.10
```

There are, however, a number of restrictions regulating the use of consonants before vowels. Terminal surd stops and the affricative ts are transformed into sonants whenever a vowel is added to the word.

```
g \cdot at mang \cdot a' dem 90.6gwalk^u drygwa' lgwa 176.2ne \cdot b\bar{e}' p uncledep \cdot b\bar{e}' Eb\bar{e} my uncles 157.9n \cdot ts'\bar{e}' \hat{e}' ts grandmotherts'\bar{e}' Edz\bar{e} my grandmother 157.10
```

It seems that single surd stops do not occur in intervocalic position. A number of apparent exceptions, like  $k'\bar{o}pE$ - small, were heard by me often with sonant, and contain probably in reality sonants.

There are a number of additional intervocalic changes:

```
Intervocalic x changes into y.

" x changes into w, \bar{o}.

" x changes into g. This last change is not quite regular.
```

$\partial x^*$ to throw	$\hat{o}'y\hat{\imath}n$ you throw 139.3
$hwîl\bar{a}'x$ to know	hwîlā'yi 1 know
hax to use	hd'yaEm use of—55.3
$xb$ e $ts\bar{a}'x$ afraid	<i>xbetsā'wē</i> I am afraid
k·sax to go out	k:sa'wun I go out! 171.4
yd'ôxku to eat	$y\hat{a}'\hat{o}g'an$ to feed

In a few cases l is assimilated by preceding n.

```
an-hwî'n instead of an-hwî'l 40.6, 7
```

## § 4. The Phonetic Systems of Nass and Tsimshian

The system of vowels of Tsimshian is nearly the same as that of the Nass dialect, except that the pure u and  $\bar{u}$  do not occur. The vowels o  $\bar{o}$ , and e  $\bar{e}$  appear decidedly as variants of u  $\bar{u}$  and i  $\bar{i}$  respectively, their timbre being modified by adjoining consonants.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Figures refer to page and line of F. Boas, Tsimshian Texts (Bulletin 27 of the Bureau of American Ethnology); figures preceded by E. S. to F. Boas, Tsimshian Texts, New Series (Publications of the American Ethnological Society, Vol. 111, 1910).

<sup>§§ 3, 4</sup> 

I have been able to observe the system of consonants of Tsimshian more fully than that of the Nass dialect. It may be represented as follows:

sontou as 101	iio w s	•			Stop	ps	Aff	ricati	ven	Conti	sued	N	asals
				Sonant	Surd	Fortis	Sonant	Burd	Fortis	Sonant (trill?)	Surd	Sonant	Fortis
Labial	•			ь	p	p!	-	_	_	-	-	m	m!
Dental				d	$\bar{t}$	$\bar{t}!$	dz	ts	ts!	_	8	n	n!
Anterior pal	latal		. 9	$g^{\bullet}$	k·	k:!	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Middle palat	al			$\boldsymbol{g}$	$\boldsymbol{k}$	k!	-	_	_	r	_	_	_
Velar Glottal	•			g •	<i>q</i> -	<i>q!</i> -	_	-	-	( <u>r</u> )	<b>x</b> -	-	- -
Lateral, con	tinue	ed,	٧o	iced		•	•			•			$\overline{l}$
	66	Í		"		rtis							l!
"	"		voi	cele	ss,	poste	rior						ł
Breathing				•		•	•						h ·
Semi-vowels	ļ						•					y,	w
66	fort	tis		•		•	•	•	•				', $w!$

The terminal surd is much weaker than in the Nass dialect, and 1 have recorded many cases in which the terminal stop is without doubt a sonant:

wālb house

g•ad people

Before q and k, terminal sonants become surds:

 $w\bar{\imath}$ -ts! em- $l\hat{a}'^{\circ}pge$  great cave ES 96.30 ne- $g\bar{a}'itga^{\circ}$  his hat ES 90.1

Before t and vowels, the sound remains a sonant:

 $g \cdot a'bE$  . . . to draw water . . . ES 96.10  $h\bar{e}' \circ ldEt$  . . . many . . . ES 96.14

The fact that some terminal sounds always remain surd shows that in the cases of alternation of surd and sonant the latter must be considered the stem consonant.

Some of the sounds require fuller discussion. It has been stated before that the fortes, as pronounced by the present generation, are not as strong as they used to be and as they are among more southern tribes. The t-series is alveolar, the tip of the tongue touching behind the teeth. The affricatives have a clear continued s-sound, the tip of the tongue touching the upper teeth; while s has a decided tinge of the English sh. It is pronounced with tip of tongue turned back (cerebral) and touching the palate. The teeth are closed. The sound is entirely surd. The nasals m and n are

long continued and sonant, even in terminal positions; m! and n! have great tension of oral closure with accompanying tension of glottis and epiglottis. The sound r has been described before. It is entirely absent in the Nass dialect. Bishop Ridley, who prepared the translation of the gospel on which Count von der Schulenburg's grammar is based, has rendered this sound, which often follows a very obscure  $\hat{\imath}$  or E, by  $\bar{u}$ ; but I hear distinctly r. Thus, in place of Bishop Ridley's  $n\bar{u}y\bar{u}$  (I), I hear n!E'ryu; instead of  $g\bar{u}el$ , gE'rel; instead of  $shg\bar{u}$ , sgEr. In the Nass dialect,  $\bar{e}$  or  $\bar{\imath}$  takes the place of this sound:

Tsimshian	Nass	English
<i>sger</i>	$sgar{\imath}$	to lie
$n!_{E'rEn}$	$nar{e}'$ E $n$	thou
ge' $rel$	$g \cdot ar{e}'$ E $l$	to pick
se'rel	$sar{e}'$ e $l$	middle
k.'E $'$ rE $l$	$k$ .' $ar{e}'$ E $l$	one
ge'redax	$k \cdot ar{e}' dax$	to ask
ge'retks	ge $tks$	to reach
ql'E'reng'axs	$q_L$ ' $\bar{e}'ng$ ' $\hat{i}xs$	to crush with foot
E'rEnx	$ar{ar{e}}noldsymbol{x}$	box
E'rEml	$ar{e}m$ L	bucket
E'rla	$ar{e}lx$	seal

The sound has, however, a close affinity to u, before which it tends to disappear.

pliä'r to tell; pliä'u I tell.

It is suggestive that many u-sounds of Tsimshian are  $\bar{\imath}$  or  $\bar{e}$  in Nass. This may indicate that the u and r in Tsimshian are either a later differentiation of one sound or that a loss of r has occurred in many forms. On the whole, the latter theory appears more plausible.

Examples of this substitution are the following:

Tsimshian	Nass	English
$dar{u}ls$	$dar{e}ls$	to live
$t.'ar{u}^os$	$t.'ar{e}s$	to push
$dar{u}'^ola$	$dar{e}'l\hat{n}x$	tongue
$har{u}^os$	wis	root
$iar{u}'^o t k$	ie'tku	to have around neck
$dar{u}^{o}lk$	$dar{e}_L k^u$	cedar-bark basket
$har{u}^otk$	$ar{e}tk^{m{u}}$	to call
$lar{u}'^o nti$	$oldsymbol{\hat{lint}x}$	angry
$lar{u}'alg\cdot at$	$lar{e}'$ ${\it Elg}$ ${\it it}$	feast
$sar{u}^o ns$	ร์เกร	blind
$lar{u}t$	$lar{e}t$	$\mathbf{wedge}$
$gar{u}'^op'$ E $l$	k·'î' $lb$ ' $el$	two

In terminal position Tsimshian -xr corresponds to Nass -ax, and after long vowels r to x.

Tsimshian	Nass	English
$d {m er}$	dax	to die, plural
kser	ksax	to go out, plural
yer	yax	to hide
ts!Er	ts!ax	much
8ET	sa <b>x</b>	mouth of river
ler	<i>La</i> <b>x</b>	under

## Examples of r following a long vowel are—

$lar{a}r$	$lar{a}$	trout
ts!är	ts!äx	inside
$dzar{\imath}r$	dzī $x$	porpoise

## Combined with change of vowels are—

Tsimshian	Nass	English
pliä' $r$	$p$ Ley $ar{o}'oldsymbol{x}$	to tell
$xl\hat{i}r$	$x\iota\iota\iota x$	to burst

The sound r, the continued sonant corresponding to g, is heard very often in the middle and at the end of words, as  $gan_ra'n$  trees; but it disappears invariably when the word is pronounced slowly, and g takes its place.

The sounds x and x of the Nass dialect do not occur in the Tsimshian dialect.

The ending x of the Nass dialect is generally replaced by i in Tsimshian.

Tsimshian	Nass	English
wila'i	$hwular{a}'x^*$	to know
hoi	$h \hat{a} x^{\cdot}$	to use
gai	$qar{a}'ix\cdot$	wing
$\dot{w}ai$	$\dot{w}ar{a}x^{ullet}$	to paddle

This change is evidently related to the substitution of y for x before yowels.

Terminal x of the Nass dialect tends to be displaced by a terminal a.

Tsimshian	Nass	English
$dar{u}'$ o $la$	$dar{e}'l\hat{m{x}}$	tongue
E'rla	$ar{e}lx$	seal
$nar{a}'$ o $la$	$nar{a}_L x$	jejune
gaina	$qar{e}nx$	trail
gô'ep!a	$q\hat{o}'ep!ax$	light
$nar{a}^o$	nax	bait
$t!ar{a}^{o}$	d' $ax$	lake

Here b	elong	also-
--------	-------	-------

Tsimshian	Nass	English
$mar{e}$	$m\ddot{m{a}}m{x}$	sour
$bar{u}^o$	$b \hat{o} x$	to wait

Vocalic changes, besides those referred to before in connection with the sound r, occur.

In place of au in Tsimshian we find  $\bar{e}$  in Nass.

Tsimshian	Nass	English
hau	hē	to say
gil- $hau'li$	$g \cdot i l ar{e}' l \hat{\imath} x \cdot$	inland
$g$ ' $\bar{\imath}txau'tk$	$g$ · $itxar{e}'tk$	some time ago
t!em- $ga'us$	$t'$ E $m$ - $qar{e}'$ 8	head
t!em-ga'us ma'ulkst (mâlkst)	$mar{e}lk\cdot st$	crab-apple

Tsimshian  $\bar{a}u$  is replaced in Nass by  $\hat{a}\hat{o}$ .

Tsimshian	Nass	English
$y\bar{a}'uxk$	yâ'ôxku	to eat, singular
$y\bar{a}'uk$	$y\hat{a}\hat{o}k^{u}$	to follow
$q!\bar{a}'watsx$	$q!\hat{a}'\hat{o}tsx$	$\mathbf{gills}$

Initial  $w\hat{a}$  of Tsimshian is sometimes replaced by  $\bar{o}$  in Nass.

Tsimshian	Nass	English
wâpx	$ar{o}px$	forehead

Another very frequent change is that from  $\bar{a}$  following w to  $\hat{i}$ .

	-	
Tsimshian	Nass	English
$war{a}lp$	$hw \hat{\imath} l p$	house
$war{a}ar{l}$	hwîl	to do
$war{a}tk$	hwîtk <del>u</del>	$\mathbf{from}$
$ts!uwar{a}'n$	$ts!uw \hat{\imath}' n$	top
$lgwar{a}'lks{\it Elk}$	łgu-wî′lksi⊥k <b>u</b>	prince
$var{a}s$	$(hai)w \hat{\imath}' s$	rain

The substitution is, however, not regular, for we find-

Tsimshian	Nass	English
$war{a}i$	$hwar{a}x^{\centerdot}$	to paddle
$oldsymbol{w}ar{a}n$	hwan	to sit, plural

## Related to this is probably—

Tsimshian	Nass	English
$har{a}'yets$	hêts	to send
hā'yîtk"	hētk <b>u</b>	to stand
gai'na	$q\bar{e}nx$	trail
sgā'yiks	sqêksku	to wound

## Tsimshian p! is replaced by Nass m.

Tsimshian	Nass	English
$p!a'lg \cdot \hat{\imath}xs$	$ma'ly \cdot \hat{\imath} x$	heavy
p!as	mas	to grow
$p!\bar{e}'yan$	$miyar{a}'n$	smoke
p!al	mal	button
gan-sp!a	gan-sma	baton

#### § 5. GRAMMATICAL PROCESSES

The most characteristic trait of Tsimshian grammar is the use of a superabundance of particles that modify the following word. Phonetically these particles are strong enough to form a syllabic unit, and they remain always separated by a hiatus from the following word. Most of them, however, have no accent, and must therefore be designated either as proclitics or as prefixes. These appear particularly with verbal stems, but their use with nominal stems is not by any means rare. They do not undergo any modifications, except in a few cases, and for this reason a large part of the grammatical processes relate to the use of these particles. On the whole, their position in the sentence or word-complex is fairly free. Suffixes are rather few in number. They differ fundamentally from the proclitic particles in being phonetically weaker and in forming with the preceding stem a firm unit. Some pronouns which belong to the proclitic series are also phonetically weak and share with the suffixes the inclination to amalgamate with the preceding elements. Thus the proclitic pronouns sometimes become apparently suffixes of the preceding words, whatever these may be.

Incorporation of the nominal object occurs principally in terms expressing habitual activities. In these it is well developed.

The Tsimshian uses stem modifications extensively for expressing grammatical processes. Most important among these is reduplication, which is very frequent, and which follows, on the whole, fixed laws. Change of stem-vowel is not so common, and seems sometimes to have developed from reduplication. It occurs also in compound words, which form a peculiar trait of the language. Not many instances of this type of composition have been observed, but they play undoubtedly an important part in the history of the language. Many elements used in word-composition have come to be so weak in meaning that they are at present more or less formal elements. This is true particularly of suffixes, but also, to a certain extent, of prefixes, though, on the whole, they have preserved a distinct meaning.

The grammatical processes of Tsimshian have assumed a much more formal character than those of many other Indian languages. It is not possible to lay down general rules of composition or reduplication, which would cover by far the greatest part of the field of grammar.

Instead of this, we find peculiar forms that belong to certain definite stems—peculiar plurals, passives, causatives, etc., that must be treated in the form of lists of types. In this respect Tsimshian resembles the Athapascan with its groups of verbal stems, the Salish and Takelma with their modes of reduplication, and the Iroquois with its classes of verbs. The freedom of the language lies particularly in the extended free use of proclitics.

#### § 6. IDEAS EXPRESSED BY GRAMMATICAL PROCESSES

The use of the same stems as nouns and as verbs is common in Tsimshian, although the occurrence of nominalizing and verbalizing elements shows that the distinction between the two classes is clearly felt. The proclitic particles mentioned in the last section may also be used with both verbs and nouns. While many of these particles, particularly the numerous class of local adverbs, always precede the stem from which they can not be separated, there are a considerable number of modal elements which have a greater freedom of position, and which merge into the group of independent adverbs. These elements are so numerous and diverse in meaning, that it is difficult to give a satisfactory classification. The group of local proclitics occupies a prominent place on account of its numbers and the nicety of local distinctions. It is, however, impossible to separate it strictly from the group of modal proclitics.

The use of these proclitics is so general, that the total number of common verbal stems is rather restricted.

The proclitics are used-

- (1) As local adverbial and adnominal terms;
- (2) As modal adverbial and adnominal terms;
- (3) To transform verbs into nouns;
- (4) To transform nouns into verbs.

Almost all the proclitics belonging to these groups form a syntactic unit with the following stem, so that in the sentence they can not be separated from it. The pronominal subject of the transitive verb precedes the whole complex.

Another series of proclitics differs from the last, only in that they do not form so firm a unit with the stem. The pronominal subject of the transitive verb may separate them from the following stem. To this group belong all strictly temporal particles. The transition from this class to true adverbs is quite gradual.

In the group of inseparable modal proclitics must also be classed the plural prefixes qa- and l-, which will be discussed in §§ 43-45.

The pronominal subjects of some forms of the transitive verb—and of some forms of the intransitive verb as well—are also proclitics. They consist each of a single consonant, and have the tendency to amalgamate with the preceding word.

Suffixes are few in number. They are partly modal in character, signifying ideas like passive, elimination of object of the transitive verb, causative. A second group expresses certainty and uncertainty and the source of information. By a peculiar treatment, consisting partly in the use of suffixes, the modes of the verb are differentiated. Still another group indicates presence and absence; these take the place to a great extent of demonstrative pronouns. The objective and possessive pronouns are also formed by means of suffixes. Most remarkable among the suffixes are the connectives which express the relations between adjective and noun, adverb and verb, subject and object, predicate and object, preposition and object, and conjunction and the following word. There are only a few classes of these connectives, by means of which practically all syntactic relations are expressed that are not expressed by means of particles.

Reduplication serves primarily the purpose of forming the plural. A number of particles require reduplicated forms of the following verb. Among these are the particles indicating imitation, genuine, action done while in motion. The progressive is indicated by a different kind of reduplication.

Nouns are classified from two points of view, according to form, and as special human individuals and common nouns. The selection of verbal stems and of numerals accompanying the noun is determined by a classification according to form, while there is no grammatical differentiation in the noun itself. The classes of the numeral are formed partly by independent stems, but largely by suffixes or by contraction of the numeral and a classifying noun. In syntactic construction a sharp division is made between special human individuals—including personal and personal demonstrative pronouns, some terms of relationship, and proper names—and other nouns.

Plurality is ordinarily expressed both in the noun and in the verb. It would seem that the primary idea of these forms is that of distribution, but at present this idea is clearly implied in only one of the many methods of forming the plural. The multiplicity of the methods



used for forming the plural is one of the striking characteristics of the Tsimshian language.

It has been mentioned before that most forms of the transitive verb are treated differently from intransitive verbs. While the subject of these forms of the transitive verb precedes the verb, that of the intransitive verb, which is identical with the object of the transitive verb and with the possessive pronoun, follows the verb. This relation is obscured by a peculiar use of intransitive constructions that seem to have gained a wider application, and by the use of the transitive pronoun in some forms of the intransitive verb. The independent personal pronoun, both in its absolute case (subject and object) and in its oblique case, is derived from the intransitive pronoun.

All oblique syntactic relations of noun and verb are expressed by a single preposition, a, which also serves frequently to introduce subordinate clauses which are nominalized by means of particles.

## DISCUSSION OF GRAMMAR (§§ 7-67)

Proclitic Particles (§§ 7-16)

## §7. General Remarks

The Tsimshian language possesses a very large number of particles which qualify the verb or noun that follows them, each particle modifying the whole following complex, which consists of particles and a verbal or nominal stem. All these particles are closely connected with the following stem, which carries the accent. Nevertheless they retain their phonetic independence. When the terminal sound of the particle is a consonant, and the first sound of the following stem is a vowel, there always remains a hiatus between the two. Lack of cohesion is also shown in the formation of the plural. In a very few cases only is the stem with its particles treated as a unit. Usually the particles remain unmodified, while the stem takes its peculiar plural form, as though no particles were present. There are very few exceptions to this rule.

The freedom of use of these particles is very great, and the ideas expressed by them are quite varied. There is not even a rigid distinction between adverbial and adnominal particles, and for this reason a satisfactory grouping is very difficult. Neither is the order of the particles sufficiently definitely fixed to afford a satisfactory basis for their classification.

As will be shown later (§ 22), nouns, verbs, and adverbs may be transformed into elements analogous to the particles here discussed by the addition of the suffix -em. Since a number of particles have the same ending -em (haldem- no. 77; pelem- no. 80; belssem- no. 81; mesem- no. 83; nôôm- no. 96; tsagam- no. 9; ts'elem- no. 7; xpîlyîm- no. 126; legem- no. 5; and the monosyllabic particles am- no. 136; ham- no. 156; t'em- no. 140; t'em- no. 13; ts'em- no. 152; k'sem- no. 146; q'am- no. 118; xlem- no. 56; lem- no. 134; sem- no. 168; dem- no. 170), it seems justifiable to suggest that at least some of these may either have or have had an independent existence as stems that may take pronominal endings, and that their present form is due to contractions (see § 33). At least one particle (q'ai- no. 122) seems to occur both with and without the connective -em.

The particles may be classified according to the fixity of their connection with the following stem. In a large number the connection is so firm that the pronoun can not be placed between particle and stem, so that the two form a syntactic unit. A much smaller number may be so separated. Since only the subject of the transitive verb appears in this position (see § 48), it is impossible to tell definitely in every case to which group a particle belongs. Furthermore, the particles of the second group may in some cases be joined to the verb more firmly, so that the pronominal subject precedes them, while this freedom does not exist in the former group.

The most distinct group among the particles is formed by the local adverbs. Many of these occur in pairs; as up and down, in and out, etc. All of these express motion. In many cases in which we should use an adverb expressing position, the Tsimshian use adverbs expressing motion, the position being indicated as a result of motion. For instance, instead of HE STANDS NEAR BY, the Tsimshian will say HE IS PLACED TOWARD A PLACE NEAR BY. These particles are generally adverbial. This seems to be due, however, more to their significance than to a prevalent adverbial character. We find instances of their use with nouns; as,

gali-a'k's river (gali- up river; ak's water)

A second group might be distinguished, consisting of local adverbs, which, however, show a gradual transition into modal adverbs. Here belong terms like in, on, over, lengthwise, all over, sideways, etc. In composition this group precedes the first group; but no fixed



rules can be given in regard to the order in which particles of this group are arranged among themselves. The use of some of these particles with nouns is quite frequent.

The second series leads us to the extensive group of modal adverbs, many of which occur both with nouns and verbs. These gradually lead us to others, the prevailing function of which is a nominal one.

I have combined in a small group those that have a decidedly denominative character.

There is another small group that is used to transform nouns into verbs, and expresses ideas like to MAKE, TO PARTAKE OF, TO SAY.

It will be recognized from these remarks that a classification necessarily will be quite arbitrary and can serve only the purpose of a convenient grouping.

## §8. Local Particles appearing in Pairs

1. bax- up along the ground (Tsimshian: bax-).

bax-iä' to go up, singular 142.8 bax-qâ'ôd'en to finish taking up 209.2

bux-sg'e' trail leads upward (literally, to lie up)

bax-dô'q to take up several 208.8

#### We find also-

bax-iä' Lak's water rises (literally, goes up)

#### Tsimshian:

bax-wa'lxs to go up hill bax-qE'owa to haul up

2. iaga- down along the ground (Tsimshian: y!aga-).

iaga-sg·ē' trail leads downward (literally, to lie downward) iaga-ië' to go down 137.5

iaga-sa'k sku to go down (plural) 29.9

#### Tsimshian:

y!aga-gâ'o to go down to  $y'aga-d\hat{o}'x$  to take down

3. mEn- up through the air (Tsimshian: man-).

men-g'a'asku to look up 214.2  $men-d\bar{a}'ult$  he went up through the air 95.4 men-g·ibā'yuk to fly up 126.9

 $men-L\hat{o}'\hat{o}$  to go up, plural 42.8 lō-men-hwan to sit in something high up, plural 34.1 (lō- in; hwan to sit, plural)

 $m E n - d\hat{o}' x$  to be piled up; (to lie up, plural) 164.13  $men \cdot q\hat{a}'\hat{o}d$  to finish taking up 95.10

#### Tsimshian:

man-iā'o to go up ZE¹ 790¹85 di-man-hô'ksg to go up with some one mela-man-wālxs both go up man-lī' plume (literally, upward feather)

4. d'Ep- down through the air (Tsimshian: tgi-).

d'ep-ië' to go down (from a tree) 9.14
d'ep-hë'th" to stand downward, a tree inclines downward 201.8
dē-gulîk's-d'ep-ma'qs to throw one's self down also (dē also;
gulîk's self [obj.]; maqs to throw)
lō-d'ep-gal to drop down inside (lō in; gal to drop) 181.13
lō-d'ep-dā'ul lôgs the sun sets

#### Tsimshian:

tgi-nē'otsg to look down lu-tgi-lôo to stretch down in something tgi-iä'o to go straight down through the air

5. lEgEm-, lôgôm- into, from the top (Tsimshian: lôgôm-).

 $l\hat{o}g\hat{o}m$ -ba'x to go aboard (literally, to run into [canoe]) 111.11  $l\bar{e}g\bar{e}m$ - $q\hat{a}'t'\bar{e}n$  to finish (putting) into 215.12  $l\hat{o}g\hat{o}m$ - $\hat{o}'x$  to throw into from the top

#### Tsimshian:

sa-lôgôm-gôs to jump into (canoe) suddenly  $lôgôm-b\bar{a}'$  to run in  $lôgôm-t.'\bar{a}'$  to sit on edge of water

6. t'uks- out of, from top (Tsimshian: uks-, t'uks-).

t'uks-Lô'ô to stretch down out of canoe 181.3 t'uks-iä'ê to go out of (here, to boil over) 132.5 t'uks-ba'x to run out of dish (over the rim) t'uks-ô'x' to throw (meat out of skin of game 150.12

#### Tsimshian:

uks-halhô'lt they are full all the way out
uks-dô'g to take out of (bucket)
adat uks-sa'k ! a n-ts!a'ltgao then he stretched out his face

7. ts'ElEm- into, from the side (Tsimshian: ts/ElEm-).

ts'elem-ba'x to run in 204.9 ts'elem-hē'th' to rush in (literally, to place one's self into) 209.11 ts'elem-a'quh' to get into 129.12 ts'elem-dē-ba'x to run in with something 140.15

#### Tsimshian:

ts! Elem-wi-ha'utg to cry into (house)
ts! Elem-t!ā'd to put into

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References preceded by ZE refer to the Zeitschrift für Ethnologie, 1908.

8. k·si- out of, from the side (Tsimshian: ksE-).

k·si- $g\bar{o}'u$  to take out 129.12

k·si-q'ōts to cut out 121.6

k'si-hä'tku to rush out (literally, to place one's self outside) 30.7

#### Tsimshian:

ksE-lô'o to shove out

 $ksE-h\bar{u}'^otk$  to call out

sem-kse-ya'dz to cut right out ZE 78473

ksE-gwa'ntg to rise (sun), (literally, to touch out)

9. tsagam- from on the water toward the shore (Tsimshian: dzagam-).

tsagam-ha'k's to scold from the water toward the shore 16.4  $tsagam-h\bar{o}'u$  to escape to the shore 51.14

 $tsagam-d\bar{e}-g \cdot ib\bar{a}'yuk'$  to fly ashore with it  $(d\bar{e}$ - with) 178.12

t lep-tsagam-q'äê'xqLt he himself dragged it ashore (t he; lep-self [subj.]; q'ä'êxqL to drag; -t it) 175.14

tsagam-g·ē'n to give food shoreward 175.3

#### Tsimshian:

| dzagam-dā'ul to go ashore | dzagam-lu-yîlya'ltg to return to the shore, plural

10. uks- from the land to a place on the water (Tsimshian: uks-, t'uks).

 $uks-i\bar{e}'$  to go out to a place on the water near the shore 150.14  $uks-a'q\iota k^u$  to reach a point out on the water 74.13  $d\bar{e}-uks-ba'xt$  he also ran down to the beach 104.13

Sometimes this prefix is used apparently in place of inga- (no. 2), signifying motion from inland down to the beach, although it seems to express properly the motion out to a point on the water.

#### Tsimshian:

uks-hë'oth to stand near the water uks-ha'u to say turned seaward uks-da'ul to go out to sea

In Tsimshian this prefix occurs also with nouns:

uks-a'pda-q!amē'otg one canoe after another being out seaward wagait-uks-G'ideganē'idzet the Tlingit way out at sea

11. qaldîx:- to the woods in rear of the houses; corresponding nouns, g:îlē'lîx:; qaq'alā'n 65.13 (Tsimshian: qaldîk-; corresponding noun, gîl-hau'li).

qaldîx:-iē' to go back into the woods 8.4 qaldix:-ma'ga to put behind the houses into the woods 65.13

#### Tsimshian:

qaldîk-sge'r to lie aside qaldîk-iā'o to go into woods

12. na- out of the woods in rear of the houses to the houses; corresponding noun, q- $\ddot{a}u$  (Tsimshian: na-).

na-ba'x to run out of woods 147.11 na-hē'ts to send out of woods 213.13 na-de-iä to go out of woods with something 214.8

#### Tsimshian:

 $|na-g\hat{o}l|$  to run out of woods, plural  $|na-b\bar{a}'|^a$  to run out of woods, singular

13. t'Em- from rear to middle of house (Tsimshian: t!Em-).

t'Em-ië' to go to the middle of the house 130.12 t'Em-d'ā'L to put into the middle of the house 193.14 t'Em-q'ä'qL to drag into the middle of the house 62.11

#### Tsimshian:

 $t'.Em-st\bar{u}'^{o}l$  to accompany to the fire  $t'.Em-di-i\bar{a}'^{o}$  to go also to the fire

14.  $as\bar{e}$ - from the middle to the front of the house (Tsimshian: asdi-).  $as\bar{e}$ - $\partial' x$ : to throw from the middle of the house to the door

#### Tsimshian:

 $\mid asdi-g\bar{a}'^o$  to take back from fire

The same prefix is used in Tsimshian to express the idea of MISTAKE:

| asdi-ha'u to make a mistake in speaking

Tsimshian synonyms of t'Em- (no. 13) and asdi- (no. 14) are-

15. lagauk- from the side of the house to the fire.

lagauk-iā'o to go to the fire lagauk-hū'otg to call to fire

16. ts!Ek:!al- from the fire to the side of the house.

ts! Ek: !al-ma'g to put away from fire

17. gali- up river; corresponding noun, magân 117.6 (Tsimshian: q!ala-).

 $l\bar{o}$ -gali- $sg\cdot\bar{\imath}$  (trail) lies up in the river 146.10 gali- $i\bar{e}'$  to go up river 117.6

This prefix occurs with nominal significance in gali-a'k's river (literally, up river water).

#### Tsimshian:

| wī-q'ala-a'ks large river | lu-q'ala-yä'ok to follow behind 18. g·isi- down river; corresponding noun, sax 23.6 (Tsimshian: gisi-; corresponding noun, ser).

g·îsi-ba'x to run down river 18.11 g·îsi-a'qLk\* to arrive down river 23.6

k'ul-g'îsi-lûk's they float about down the river 16.10

In one case it seems to mean DOWN AT THE BANK OF THE RIVER.

g·îsi-lō-wû'wôq' it was dug down in it down the river 197.8

#### Tsimshian:

| ste-gisi-iā'o to continue to go down river | gisi-ksiā'n down Skeena river

19. **g·îdi**- right there, just at the right place or in the right manner (Tsimshian: **g·îdi**-).

 $s_{Em-g}\cdot\hat{i}di-l\bar{o}-h\bar{e}'t\bar{k}^u$  exactly just there in it it stood 88.8  $g\cdot\hat{i}di-q\bar{a}k\cdot sk^ut$  just there he was dragged 51.5  $g\cdot\hat{i}di-g\bar{o}'u$  to catch (literally, to take in the right manner) 147.8

#### Tsimshian:

 $g \cdot \hat{i}di - g\bar{a}'^{o}$  to catch ZE  $787^{137}$   $g \cdot \hat{i}di - w\bar{a}'l$  to stop  $s_{E} - g \cdot \hat{i}di - h\vec{c}'^{o}tg$  to stand still suddenly  $g \cdot \hat{i}di - t'.\bar{a}'^{o}$  to stop ZE  $788^{155}$ 

20. lîg·i- at some indefinite place, not in the right manner; i. e., almost (Tsimshian: lîgi-).

lîg'i-k'uL-da' to sit about somewhere 54.10
lîg'i-tsagam-dē'lpk" it was a short distance to the shore somewhere 104.8

lîg·i-metmē'tku full in some place (i. e., almost full) 159.10

This particle is often used with numerals in the sense of ABOUT:

lîg·i-txa'lpx about four 14.1

It is also used as a nominal prefix:

 $l\hat{\imath}g\cdot\hat{\imath}-lax-t\hat{\imath}'\hat{a}'\mathbf{L}$  somewhere on the edge 104.8

lîg·î-nda' somewhere 87.1

lîg·i-hwî'l goods (i. e., being something) 164.8

#### Tsimshian:

lîgi-nde' somewhere ZE 78220 lîgi-gâ'o something lîgi-la-nī'edz to see bad luck coming lîgi-ga'n any tree

'A few others appear probably in pairs like the preceding, but only one of the pair has been recorded.

## 21. *spī*- out of water.

 $sp\bar{\imath}-i\bar{e}'$  to go out of water 52.2  $sp\bar{\imath}-g\bar{o}'u$  to take out of water

## 22. wul'am- out of water (Tsimshian: wul'am-).

### Tsimshian:

wul'am-bax-dô'g to take up from water wul'am-a'xly to get ashore wul'am-i $\bar{a}'^{o}$  to go ashore

#### § 9. Local Particles—Continued

The following series of local particles do not appear clearly in pairs, or—according to their meaning—do not form pairs:

## 23. tsaga- across (Tsimshian: dzaga-).

tsuga-sg·ī to lay across 40.12 lep-tsaga-yôxku he went across 40.13 tsaga-dê'êntku to lead across 79.11 tsaga-hō'ksaan to fasten across an opening 217.5 tsaga-hîs'ia'ts to chop across 201.7 gun-tsaga-ië' to order to go across 40.13

#### Tsimshian:

 $dzaga-i\bar{a}'^o$  to go across  $dzaga-di-l\hat{a}'^o$  staying also across (a name).  $g'ap-k!a-dzaga-alu-b\bar{a}'^o$  to run really very openly across ZE  $786^{121}$ 

## 24. qulk-si- through a hole (Tsimshian: gulksE-).

qalk·si-yô'xku to go through 149.12 qalk·si-g·a'asku to look through 127.8 qalk·si-libā'yuk to fly through, plural 14.9 lō-qalk·si-ha'q'oax to squeeze through inside 149.15

## This prefix occurs also before nouns:

 $qalk \cdot si - n\hat{o}'\hat{o}$  a hole through 11.9  $qalk \cdot si - sq\ddot{a}'\hat{e}xk^u$  through the darkness

#### Tsimshian:

galksE-nē'otsg to look through
galksE-k!ī'ots!El to poke through
galksE-a'xlg to get through (literally, to finish through)

## 25. g. îme- probably far into, way in (Tsimshian: gami-).

g·îme-iē to walk to the rear of the house, through the space between people sitting on the sides 132.14, 189.13
g·îme-qa'ts to pour through a pipe, along the bottom of a canoe g·îme-yô'xku to go through a pipe 183.1

#### Tsimshian:

| lu-gami-t!ā'o it goes way in

## 26. lôgôl- under (corresponding noun, Lux).

lôgôl-dep-d'a, to sit under (a tree) 8.4

44877-Bull. 40, pt 1-10-20

27. lukL- under (Tsimshian: lukli-).

lukr-q:ibā'yuk to fly under

#### Tsimshian:

| lukli-da'ul to go under

28. *lē-gan-* over. (In Tsimshian *q'an-* occurs alone, but also *l.*7-*q!an-*, which is more frequent. This prefix is a compound of *l!*7- on, and *q!an* over.)

lē-gan-ôx to throw over lē-gan-g·a'ask to look over

#### Tsimshian:

 $l/\bar{\imath}-q!an-b\hat{e}'l$  to be spread over  $l/\bar{\imath}-q!an-s\bar{u}'$  to swing over  $sa-q!an-t!\bar{a}'^o$  to put over

29. 15- in; the corresponding noun has the prefix ts'Em-INSIDE; independent noun, ts'äwu (Tsimshian: lu-; the corresponding noun has the prefix ts'Em-INSIDE).

 $l\bar{o}$ -d'a to be in 118.10

dē-lō-a'lg'îxı qô'ot he also speaks in his mind (i. e., he thinks) 49.14

lō-d'ep-iax'ia'q to hang down inside 65.10 (d'ep-down [no. 4])
 lō-sqa-ma'qsaan to put in sideways 150.3 (sqa-sideways [no. 36])
 lō-wusen-mē'tku it is full inside all along 29.10 (wusen-along [no. 51])

hasp'a-lō-yô'xku to go in the same road 202.15 (hasp'a-, hasba-upside down [no. 74])

lē-lō-d'ερ-yu'k to move on the surface in something downward 104.11 (lē- on [no. 30]; d'ερ- down [no. 4])

This prefix occurs in a few fixed compositions:

 $l\bar{o}$ - $ya'ltk^u$  to return  $l\bar{o}$ - $d\bar{a}'ltk^u$  to meet

It occurs also in a few cases as a nominal prefix:

 $l\bar{o}$ - $ts'\bar{a}'wu$  inside 102.10  $l\bar{o}$ -ts's- $g'\bar{e}'w\hat{i}t$  in the lowest one 53.11 (t's- extreme [no. 143])  $l\bar{o}$ -t's- $g'\bar{i}'\hat{e}ts$  at the extreme outside 219.1  $l\bar{o}$ - $t\hat{i}pta'p$  deep inside 197.8

lō-sē'luk in the middle 184.13

#### Tsimshian:

lu-sge'r to lie inside ZE 782<sup>27</sup>
lu-t'.ā'o to sit in
sa-lu-haldem-bā'o suddenly to rise in something
lu-tgi-lô'o to stretch down in
lagax-lu-dâ'o to put in on both sides (lagax- on both sides [no. 38])

30.  $l\bar{e}$ - on; the corresponding noun has the prefix lax-; independent noun,  $lax'\bar{o}'$  (Tsimshian:  $l/\bar{e}$ -; the corresponding noun has the prefix lax-; independent noun,  $lax'\hat{o}'$ ).

 $l\bar{e}$ -d'a' to sit on 202.4  $l\bar{e}$ -men- $pta'ltk^a$  to rise up to the top of (see no. 3)  $l\bar{e}$ -ia'q to hang on 89.10 txa- $l\bar{e}$ -baL to spread over entirely (see no. 93)

lē-sqa-sg·i to put on sideways 184.13 (see no. 36)

#### Tsimshian:

sa-l/\(\bar{\cap}\)-g'\(\delta'\)-ks to drift suddenly on something (see no. 98) l/\(\bar{\cap}\)-be'ts'\(\epsilon\) n to put on sem-l/\(\bar{\cap}\)-t'\(\bar{\alpha}\) lb to cover well (see no. 168) l/\(\bar{\cap}\)-se-gu'lg to make fire on something (see no. 164) ha-l/\(\bar{\cap}\)-g\(\delta'\)-t to think (see no. 160)

31. tgo- around (Tsimshian: tgu-).

 $l\bar{o}$ -tgo-ba'x to run around inside 77.11

k'wa'ts'ik's-tgo-ma'ga to turn over and over much 52.10 (see no. 176)

tgo-ya'ltku to turn around 47.9

k'uL-lō-tgo-lāx-lē'lb' En to roll about around inside to and fro 13.14 (k'uL- about [no. 331· lō- inside [no. 29]; tgo- around; lāx-to and fro [no. 38])

#### Tsimshian:

k'ul-tgu-në'otsg to look around (see no. 33)

tgu-wa'n to sit around, plural

tgu-iā'o to go around

tgu-da'p to measure around ZE 78480

32. k'utgo- around; corresponding noun, dax circumference. sā-k'utgo-dā'uL to go suddenly around (the trunk of a tree) 211.9 k'utgo-ië'etku to go around (the house) 218.1

33. k'uL- about (Tsimshian: k!ul-).

k'uL-ba'x to run about 94.10 k'uL- $l\bar{e}$ - $L\hat{o}'\hat{o}tk^u$  he puts about on it 218.7 q'asba-k'uL-hwa'ax he paddled about astray 17.2 k'uL-lix-la'k to scatter about

#### Tsimshian:

alu-k'ul-iā'o to go about plainly ZE 78348 k'ul-yu-ha'oksg to carry bucket about (see no. 159) k'ul-da'msax to be downcast here and there (i. e., always)

34. k.'îlq'al- round on the outside.

k''îlq'al-ma'n to rub over the outside 103.12 k''îlqal-axts'ā'xk'' scabby all around

35. tq'al- against (Tsimshian: txal-).

tq'al-gwalk\* to dry against (i. e., so that it can not come off) 104.2 tq'al-d'āt to put against (i. e., on) face 195.12 tq'al-da'k'ı to tie on 68.12

This prefix is often used to express the idea of MEETING:

tq'al-hwa' to meet and find 31.6

hwagait-lō-tq'al-gō'usk" to reach up to inside against (i.e., meeting) (hwagait- up to [no. 71]; lo- in [no. 29])

tq'al-qâ'ô to go to meet (to go against) 158.11

Sometimes it expresses the idea of WITH:

tq'al-a'k's to drink something with water 21.9 tq'al-hu'ksaan to place with something 36.8

In still other cases it signifies FOREVER, in so far as the object remains fastened against something:

lō-tq'al-gwâ'tk" to be lost forever in something (lō- in; tq'alagainst 166.1

It also may express the idea for a purpose:

tq'al-ā'm good for a purpose 80.14
sem-tq'al-sīep'en to like much for a purpose 45.1
tq'al-wē'lemlk\* female servant

#### Tsimshian:

sa-txal-g'd'sg to float suddenly against (i. e., so that it reaches) txal-hô'ltg full all over txal-a'xlg to arrive at

36. sqa- across the way (Tsimshian: sga-).

sqa-d'a' to be in the way 183.10 lō-sqa-hē't'ɛn to place inside in the way 129.10 sqa-sg·ī' to lie across 148.11

#### Tsimshian:

 $l\bar{u}$ -sga- $y\hat{e}dz$  to strike in and across the face lEp-sga-dakl (he) himself ties across (see no. 129) sga-g- $\bar{\iota}'$  ot g to swell lying across sga- $b\bar{a}'$  o to run across (i. e., to assist) sga-na'k some time (literally, across long) ZE  $791^{204}$  sga- $b\bar{\upsilon}'$  a few

37. g·ilwul- past, beyond (Tsimshian: g·îlwul-).

g·ilwul-dām to hold beyond a certain point 61.8

#### Tsimshian:

g:îlwul-bā'° to run past g:îlwul-ax'a'xlg to get ahead l! $\bar{\imath}$ -q!an-g:îlwul-d $\bar{\imath}$ '°lxk not to be able to pass over (see no. 28)

## 38. lax- to and fro, at both ends (Tsimshian: lagax-).

(a) to and fro:

 $l\bar{a}x$ -ba'x to run to and fro

(b) at both ends, on both sides:

lāx-g·ilg·a'lkus carved at both ends
lāx-lō-līô'xku to move in it on both sides 34.4
lāx-lē'lk to watch both ends 136.10
lāx-aa'lg·îx to talk both ways (i. e., to interpret)
lāx-hwā'nemlku seated on both sides (two wives of the same man) 194.7

#### This prefix occurs also with nouns:

Lāx-wâse, Wâs (a monster) at each end 106.14 Lāx-mâk'sk\* white at each end (name of a man)

#### Tsimshian:

| lagax-lu-dâ'o to put in on both sides | lagax-ne-stâ'o both sides

#### 39. sa- off (Tsimshian: sa-).

sa-ôx to throw off 145.2 sa-besbē's to tear off 25.4 sa-hē'tk" to stand off 137.9 sa-t'ô'q to scratch off sa-uks-ts'ens-x'k''ä'xk" to e

sa-uks-ts'Ens-x'k''ä'xk\* to escape going off, leaving out to sea (uks- toward water [no. 10]; ts'Ens- leaving [no. 104])

#### Tsimshian:

 $sa-g\bar{a}'^{\circ}$  to take off  $sa-ts/\hat{a}'^{\circ}t$  to pull off

## 40. gîs- away to another place.

gîs-d'a' (plural gîs-hwa'n) to transplant (d'a [plural hwan] to sit) gîs-ië' to move away to another place gî's-hë'thusen! move away to another place!

## 41. wud'En- away forward (Tsimshian: wud'En-).

wud'en-ië' to step forward wud'en-k'sla'qs to kick away

#### Tsimshian:

| wud'en-gwa'o away here along the middle

## 42. lūks- along a valley (Tsimshian).

| lūks-g·ig·ā'onit down along the river

# 43. will-away, probably in some special direction (Tsimshian: awul-). $w\bar{\imath}_L$ - $g\bar{o}'$ to take away

#### Tsimshian:

| awul-ma'g to put aside, to sidetrack

44. hagun- toward, near; corresponding noun, awa'a (Tsimshian: gun-; corresponding noun, awa'o).

hagun- $i\bar{e}'$  to go toward 129.14 aqL-hagun- $y\hat{o}'xk^u$  unable to get near 201.6 (see no. 137) hagun- $h\bar{e}'tk^u$  to stand near 125.4 hagun- $d\bar{e}'lpk^u$  a short distance near by 147.5

#### Tsimshian:

| gun-iā'o to go toward | gun-gâ'o to go toward something | gun-t!ā'o to sit near

45. hēla- near by.

hēla-d'a' to sit near by

46. *lōsa*- in front.

losa-ië to walk in front of losa-d'a' to sit in front of

47. txas- along the surface of a long thing (Tsimshian: txas-).

txas-ie' to walk on a long thing txas-la'agul to wrap up a long thing txas-ia'ts to chop along a long thing

#### Tsimshian:

lu-txas-sge'r to put in edgewise sa-lu-txas-lû'ot to shove in suddenly edgewise txas-k'd'ol through the year ZE 792<sup>232</sup>

48.  $had \hat{\imath}x^{\bullet}$ - lengthwise along the middle line (Tsimshian:  $hat/\bar{E}k$ -).  $had \hat{\imath}x^{\bullet}-q\bar{o}'ts$  to cut (a salmon) lengthwise 55.3

#### Tsimshian:

lu-hat!Ek-ldot to push in endwise

49. stEx- lengthwise, on either side of middle line.

stex-t'ōtsk\* one side lengthwise is black stex-sg·īL qē'nex lax-ts'ē'L ak's the trail lies along (the water) on the beach-side; (sg·ī to lie; qē'nex trail; lax- on [no. 151]; ts'ē'L beach; ak's water)

- 50. haL- along the edge, edgewise (Tsimshian: hal-).
  - (a) Along the edge:

 $k'uL-haL-i\ddot{a}'$  to walk about along the edge (of the water) 122.4  $d\bar{e}t-haL-d\partial'qt$  he held it also along the edge (of the fire) 47.8 ( $d\bar{e}$  also [no. 167]; t he [subj.];  $d\partial q$  to place; -t it)

Not quite clear is the following:

q'am- $l\bar{o}$ -hal- $t'uxt'a'k^udet$  they only twisted off (their necks) inside along the edge 115.5 (q'am- only [no. 118];  $l\bar{o}$ - in [no. 29]; -det they)

## (b) Edgewise:

hal-g'â'ôt'en to put (the paddle into the water) edgewise Tsimshian:

k!ul-hal-hë'tg to stand about alongside of ZE 796<sup>297</sup> hal-k'!a'n to go along beach in canoe hal-qwa'o along here

51. wusEn- along the inside (Tsimshian: wusEn-).

wusen-hē'thu to rush along inside (the canoe) 57.5 lō-wusen-mē'thu full along inside (the canoe) 29.10 wusen-bîsbē's to tear lengthwise (to split) 99.13 (or wuden-see no. 41)

wusen-yîs'ia'ts to chop lengthwise (into wedges) 148.4

#### Tsimshian:

lax-wusen-iā'o on the flat top of a mountain (literally, on along going)

52. wītsEn-, hūts'En- along through the middle (Tsimshian: wuts!En-).

wīts' en-iä' to go back through the house 125.3

hūts' en-d'āl to put from fire back to the rear of the house 207.2

Tsimshian:

| wuts!En-iā'o to go along through the house

53. xLîp- at end (Tsimshian: xlEp-).

 $x \hat{l} p - g u' x$  to hit at end 88.11  $x \hat{l} p - t' \hat{e} s t' \hat{o}' t s k^u$  black at the ends 31.5

#### Tsimshian:

| xlep-hô'ksen to put on at end | sem-xlep-ts'uwā'n the very end of the top

54. xtse- in the middle of a long thing (Tsimshian: xts/E-).

xtsē-ia'ts to chop across the middle 133.9 sa-xtse-q'ō'ts to cut quickly across the middle 100.6

#### Tsimshian:

| xts/E-gai' to bite through in the middle

55.  $k^u L\bar{e}$ - all over (Tsimshian:  $k^u li$ -).

 $k^{\mu}L\bar{e}$ -hasha'ts to bite all over 84.15  $k^{\mu}L\bar{e}$ -bishē's to tear to pieces 71.6  $k^{\mu}L\bar{e}$ -ia'ts to hit all over 58.2

#### Tsimshian:

| kulī-iā'om laxha' going across the sky ZE 78350 | kulī-gaigai' to bite all over | kulī-galgô'l split all over 56. **xLEm**- around an obstacle, making a curve around something (Tsimshian: **xlEm**-).

xLEM ië' to go overland, cutting off a point xLEM-ma'gal to put a rope over something xLEM-hë'tsl to send around something xLEM-da'ga to choke some one, hang some one

Here belongs also-

xLEm-galgai's'êt to kneel down

This prefix occurs also with nouns.

xLEm-qe'nex trail going around in a circle

Tsimshian:

xlem-iā'ok to embrace xlem-da'kl to tie around

57. *k•'êdō-* sideways.

k-'ê $d\bar{o}$ -g-a'ask to look sideways

58.  $k''\bar{a}L$ - aside.

 $q'am-k''\bar{a}_L-L\hat{o}'\hat{o}t$  she only pushes aside 191.11  $k''\bar{a}_L-h\bar{e}'tgum$   $q'\bar{e}'sEmq$  labret standing on one side 191.13

59. qana- inclined against (Tsimshian)

qana-t'ā'o to sit leaning against something qana-hë'otg to stand leaning against something qana-ba'tsg to stand leaning against something

60. maxl E- through a narrow channel (Tsimshian).

 $maxle - b\bar{a}'^o$  to go through a channel maxle - ha'd'eks to swim through a channel  $maxle - g'\bar{a}'p$  a narrow channel

 $Maxl_{E}$ - $q\bar{a}'la$  Metlakahtla, narrow channel of sea (compare G-it- $q\bar{a}'la$  people of the sea)

- 61. g·ik·si- out of; undoubtedly a compound of k·si out of (no. 8). g·ik·si-hwî'tku to come out of 10.1
- 62.  $l\bar{u}ila$  near the end; perhaps a compound of  $l\bar{v}$  in (no. 29), and  $h\bar{e}la$  near (no. 45).

lū'ila-d'ē'lîks cut off smooth at end (name of a dog), from d'ē'lîk's smooth

 $l\bar{u}'ila$ -a'lg- $\hat{i}x$  to speak close to some one

## §10. Modal Particles

There is no strict distinction between this group and the preceding one. Many of the particles classed here are used with equal frequency as adverbial and as adnominal elements. Thus we find  $w\bar{\imath}$ , which means at the same time greatly, much, and large;  $\iota go$ , which sig-

nifies both a LITTLE and SMALL. The attempt has been made to relegate all elements which may be separated from the stem by a pronoun into a group by themselves (§ 15); but since such separation occurs only in transitive verbs, and not all particles have been found with transitive verbs, it seems likely that the grouping may have to be changed when the language comes to be better known. While in some cases the composition of particles and stems is quite firm, others convey the impression of being almost independent adverbs.

```
63. awus- ready to move; not free (Tsimshian).
```

| awus-t!ā'o ready to stand up, singular | awus-wa'n ready to stand up, plural | awus-hë'oth ready to move

63a. a- easily (Tsimshian).

a-sonā'l easily tired a-kuti' easily hungry

a-bā'g'ask worried (literally, easily tasted)

64, anb'El- in an unusual frame of mind. This prefix is not entirely free (Tsimshian: p!El-).

anb'el-hē' to say crying 220.5

anb'el-a'lg'îx to speak while angry, to talk behind one's back anb'el-ia'alk' to strike, break, in a state of anger anb'el-qalā'q to play

#### Tsimshian:

 $|p/el-qa-m\bar{\imath}'^{o}lk|$  to play with something

65. ank:s- opening up (Tsimshian: aks-).

ank·s-ksla'qst to kick apart 134.3 ank·s-iē' to increase ank·s-t'ɛmē'st paint-pot wī-anksî-sgan large rotten (open) tree 106.12

#### Tsimshian:

sa-hagul-aks-iā'o to open suddenly slowly (see no. 76)
aks-iā'og to increase
aks-t!ū'os to push open
sz-aks-q!a'g to open up

66. agwi- outside, beyond (Tsimshian: agwi-).

agwi-tq'al-d'a' it is outside close against it agwi-an-dā'x' the outside agwi-mā'l boat (literally, beyond a canoe)

agwi-huxdā'ek.'En great-grandchild (lit., beyond grandchild)

#### Tsimshian:

| agwi-ba'tsg to stand outside

- 67.  $al\bar{o}$  (a- easily, lu- in?) plainly; alone (Tsimshian: alu-).
  - (a) Plainly, real:

 $al\bar{o}$ -d'a' there was plainly 106.13  $al\bar{o}$ - $b\bar{a}'n$  run quickly! 93.4

sem-k-'a-ale-ba'x to run really exceedingly quick 107.10

As a nominal prefix we find it in-

alō-g·ig·a't real persons (i. e., Indians) 170.13

Here belongs probably-

sem-alo-qôl to run quite suddenly, plural 141.8

(b) Alone; always with reduplication:

 $al\bar{o}$ - $heh\bar{e}'tk^u$  to stand alone 44.15  $al\bar{o}$ - $s\hat{i}sg\bar{i}'$  to lie alone  $al\bar{o}$ -d'ed'a' to sit alone

#### Tsimshian:

 $alu-k'uL-i\bar{a}'^o$  to go about plainly ZE 783<sup>48</sup>  $alu-t/\bar{a}^o$  to be in evidence .  $alu-b\bar{a}'^o$  to run really

68. aLax- in bad health (Tsimshian: la-).

aLax-hag'â'ôtku having a crippled back

#### Tsimshian:

 $| la-g\cdot a'tk$  in bad health

69. aLda- in the dark.

alda-wā'x to paddle in the night alda-iē' to walk in the dark

70. i- with reduplication; action done while in motion.

i-g·ig·Ebā'yuk flying while being moved i-aa'lg·înē I talk while moving, while at work i-hahā'dîk's swimming while carrying

71. hwagait- completing a motion entirely (Tsimshian: wagait-).

This prefix belongs to the series bagait- (lebagait-) (no. 82), sagait- (no. 99), spagait- (no. 103), q'amgait- (no. 119).

hwagait-qalk si- $d\bar{a}'uL$  to pass through entirely 143.14 (see no. 24) hwagait-sg  $\bar{\imath}'$  to lie way over 134.3

hwagait-ma'q to put away

This is also a nominal prefix:

hwagait-g·ī'îks way off shore 146.14 hwagait-gō'st over there 134.4

#### Tsimshian:

sem-sa-wagait-uks-da'ul to go right out to sea very suddenly (see nos. 168, 98, 10)
wagait-y'iā'ks way off shore

72. walen-former.

walen-ga'n an old (rotten) tree 25.4
walen-na'k'st his former wife 135.14
walen-g'ig'a't the people of former times 191.1
walen-wē-gêsgd'ôt the same size as before 23.4

- 73. wī- great, greatly; singular (Tsimshian: wī-). This prefix is commonly used as an attribute, but also as an adverb, expressing, however, rather a quality of the subject. See also *zgo* no. 135.
  - (a) Adverbial:

wī-se-mē'L to make burn much 89.8 wī-sa'gat it splits much 148.8

It is also found in fixed combinations:

 $w\bar{\imath}$ - $y\bar{e}'tk^u$  to cry 90.3

wi-am-hē't to shout 89.12. Here it is apparently connected with the adverbial -Em (§ 22)

(b) Adjectival:

wī-g·a't big (awkward) man 196.9 wī-lig·'ē' ɛnsk great grizzly bear 118.4 Wī-xbā'la Great West-wind (a name)

#### Tsimshian:

(a) Adverbial:

wi-ha'utk to cry

(b) Adjectival:

wī-gô'ep.'a great light ZE 785\*\*
wī-medī'ek great grizzly bear
g'ap-k!a-wī-naxnô'g really exceedingly great supernatural being (see nos. 117, 106)
wī-sem'âgit great chief

73a. wud'ax- great, plural (Tsimshian: wut!a-).

wud'ax-qa-wē'n large teeth 84.3 wud'ax-ax-qa-gâ'ôdet great fools 33.10

74. hasba- upside down (Tsimshian: hasba-). This prefix is related to q'asba- no. 121.

haspa-bē's to tear out so that it is upside down 127.13 sem-hasba-sg'ī' to lay exactly face up 214.11 hasba'-sg'ī to lay upside down (a hat) 17.2

Peculiar is-

 $hasba-l\bar{v}-y\hat{v}'xk^u$  to go in the same trail 202.15

#### Tsimshian:

| hasba-p!ē'egal to tear out so that it is upside down

- 75. hats' Eks-terribly, causing feeling of uneasiness. hats' Eks-hwî'l to act so that people get afraid hats' Eks-a'lg'îx to talk roughly
- 76. hagul- slowly (Tsimshian: hagul-). hagul-hwî'l to do slowly 54.4 hagul-gwâ'ôth\* to disappear slowly

#### Tsimshian:

hagul-bā'o to run slowly ZE 786<sup>124</sup>
hagul-dzaga-iā'o to go slowly across ZL 787<sup>125</sup>
hagul-k<sup>u</sup>da'xs to leave slowly
hagul-iā'ox to go slowly

77. haldem- (Tsimshian: haldem-) occurs only with the verbs bax, plural  $g\partial l$ , to run, with the meaning to rise 124.9, 114.7.

In Tsimshian the same composition with  $b\bar{a}^o$ , plural  $g\partial l$ , to run, occurs with the same meaning; but the prefix seems to be a little freer with the meaning rising from the ground. haldem- $n\bar{v}^o dz$  to look up

78. hī- to begin (Tsimshian: hī-).

hē'-yuk to begin 138.14 q'ai-hē-lē'duxdet they just began to shoot 20.4

This prefix is much more common with nouns:

 $h\bar{\imath} \cdot mEs\bar{a}'x$  beginning of day  $h\bar{e}' \cdot Luk$  morning

#### Tsimshian:

 $h\bar{\imath}$ -se-t/ $\bar{a}'$ °t it just began to be ZE 781°  $h\bar{\imath}$ -ts/ $\bar{\imath}'$ °n just to enter  $h\bar{\imath}$ -set/a-demt p/a'egant he began to break it down

79. his- to do apparently, to pretend to (Tsimshian: sis-); always with medial suffix (see § 17.3-5).

hîs'-a'k'sk" to pretend to drink 18.7 hîs-huwû'qs to pretend to sleep 219.10 hîs-huwî'lth"s to pretend to do 23.1 hîs-nô'ôth" to pretend to be dead 65.11 hîs-wiyē'th"s to pretend to cry 217.10 hîs-Lî'nth's to pretend to be angry hîs-xda'k's to pretend to be hungry

#### Tsimshian:

sîs-kutī'onu I pretend to be hungry
sîs-ā'xs to laugh (literally, to play with the mouth)
sîs-yu-hu-kuda'ks to play having (i. e., with) a bow (see nos. 159, 160)

80. **pElEm**- to act as though one was performing an action (Tsimshian: **bEnEm**-).

pelem-gō' to act as though taking 38.8

pelem-iē' to go and turn back again at once

pelem-g'a'p to act as though eating something

#### Tsimshian:

| benem-xsi'otk to act as though vomiting | benem-t/\(\vec{u}'\)os to act as though about to strike

81. **bElxsEm**- in front of body, forward; similar in meaning to xLna- no. 127 (Tsimshian: xbEsEm-).

 $t \ l\bar{o}$ -belwsem-qaq'ā'q'ant he opened it in front of his body 26.14 Tsimshian:

· | xbesem-sger to lie prone ZE 789171

82. bagait- just in the right place or manner (Tsimshian: lEbagait-). Compare hwagait- (no. 71), sagait- (no. 99), spagait- (no. 103), g'amgait- (no. 119).

bagait-kwa'st it is cracked right in the middle bagait-gō' to hit just in the right place q'am-bagait-bɛbɛsba'tsk" only to be lifted just in the right way 62.13

Like the other prefixes ending in -gait, this prefix is also nominal: sem-bagait-sē'luk just right in the middle 73.4.

#### Tsimshian:

lebagait-sga-ba'tsg to stand across just there ZE 793240 lebagait-det!ā'o sitting alone lebagait-bā'o to be lost

83. mEsEm- separate.

mesem-hwa'n to sit separately mesem-Lô' to walk separately

84. ma- like (Tsimshian: mE-).

ma-wa'tsx crazy (literally, like a land-otter)
ma-ô'l having epileptic fits (literally, like a bear)

#### Tsimshian:

| me-wa'ts!a crazy (literally, like a land-otter)

85. wadi- like (Tsimshian).

wadi-hats!iā'on innumerable (literally, like fly-blows) wadi-ksz-le'atx like fluid slime wadi-wā'lb like a house

86. max- only, entirely, all.

max-hāna'q (they are) all women 184.5 max-ë'uxt a woman having only sons; (they are) all men max-hē'x: it is only fat 42.3 87. mEL(a)- to each, distributive (Tsimshian: mEla-).

mela-gulā'nt three to each meli-k''â'l one man in each (corner) 33.12

#### Tsimshian:

mela-k! E'rel one to each

88. mEla- both (Tsimshian).

| mE'la-men-wā'lxs both go up (see no. 3) | mela-l!ī-dâ'o to put on both (see no. 30) | mela-hakhē'ldem g'at both (villages had) many people

89. sen-firmly (Tsimshian).

 $| sen - n\bar{a}'^{o}$  to bait  $| sen - d\hat{o}'xs$  to hold fast  $| sen - w\hat{o}'x$  to admonish

90. dex-, dîx- firmly; not free (Tsimshian: dax-).

 $d\hat{\imath}x\cdot -yu'k^u$  to hold fast

#### Tsimshian:

| dax-yā'ogwa to hold fast

91. dE-,  $d\bar{e}$ - with (Tsimshian: dE-).

 $dE-d\bar{a}'uL$  to carry away (literally, to go away with)  $tsaum-de-g \cdot iba'yuk$  to fly ashore with something 178.12

#### Tsimshian:

 $de-b\bar{a}'^o$  to run away with  $bax-de-g\hat{o}'it.'eks$  to come up with  $t\ de-ts'\bar{v}^o nt$  he entered with it

92. dūla- improperly.

 $d\bar{u}la-a'lg\cdot\hat{i}x$  to talk improperly, to grumble  $d\bar{u}la-d'\bar{a}'del\ \bar{u}qt$  to put mouth on one side  $d\bar{u}la-y\bar{e}'\hat{e}tk^us$  to walk improperly, to wabble  $w\bar{v}-d\bar{u}la-g\cdot a'tk^u$  being a great improper man (i. e., cowardly) 195.3

93. txa- entirely, all (Tsimshian: txa-).

 $txa-q\bar{o}'ltsegat$  he carried all on his shoulder 116.4  $txa-w\hat{o}'\hat{o}$  to invite all 186.15  $txa-l\bar{o}-ts'\hat{a}'\hat{o}t$  to skin inside entirely 150.10  $txa-bel\bar{a}'da$  it was all abalone 45.3

This prefix is contained also in-

trane'thu all

#### Tsimshian:

txa-ga'ntg stiff (literally, woody) all over txa-wā'ontg to have teeth to the end (of life) txa-yêlg all slippery txa-l.'ī-qai'nat all fall on

§ 10

94. nā- to complete an action (Tsimshian: na-).

 $n\bar{a}$ -da'qL to strike with a hammer so that it breaks  $n\bar{a}$ -ha'ts to bite through 127.8 na- $\hat{o}'x$  to hit so that it breaks 48.8 na- $qapq\bar{a}'bet$  they fastened it so that it staid 178.3  $n\bar{a}$ - $d'\hat{c}'sd'\bar{c}'s$  to knock with the hand 8.12

#### Tsimshian:

| na-g·a'lk to punch through

95. na- each other, one another (Tsimshian: na-).

k''ax-na-al'a'lg'îxdet they talked to each other for a while 19.8 (see no. 107)

na-xsē'nqdet they disbelieved each other 28.2

k'uz-na-gaq'ē'det they howled about to one another 96.4

### Tsimshian:

| lu-na-la'ol to put into each other

96.  $n\hat{o}'\hat{o}m$ - to desire. This may possibly be the verb  $n\hat{o}'\hat{o}$  to DIE.

 $n\hat{o}'\hat{o}m-i\hat{e}'$  to desire to go  $n\hat{o}'\hat{o}m-a'k$ 's to desire to drink 21.8

If this element is an adverbial form of  $n\partial'\partial$ , it corresponds to Tsimshian:

dza'gem xst'â'ganu I am dead asleep

97. sel-fellow, companion (Tsimshian: sel-).

sîlhāna'q fellow-woman 208.12 sîl-q'aima'qsit fellow-youths 195.13

This prefix is also used with verbs:

sîl-hwa'n to sit together

sîl-qas-qâ'ôt'en to be of the same size 89.7

## Tsimshian:

 $| n_E - s_E l - w\bar{a}' lt \text{ his companions} |$ 

98.  $s\bar{a}$ - suddenly (Tsimshian: sa-).

 $s\bar{a}-h\bar{e}'tk^u$  to stand suddenly 99.14  $s\bar{a}-g\bar{e}'sxk^u$  to stop crying suddenly 22.5

### Tsimshian:

sa-ha'u to say suddenly sa-l':- $g\cdot\hat{a}^o$ ks to float suddenly on something sa-lu-haldem- $b\bar{a}'^o$  to arise suddenly on something sa-lu-nâ'ok to lie on something suddenly

99. sagaīt- together (Tsimshian: sagaīt-) (see nos. 71, 82, 103, 119).

sagait-da'k'ı to fasten together 68.10 sagait-ië' to go together 51.8 sagait-wê'lgat to carry all together 70.10

sugait-wa'n to sit together ZE 786<sup>113</sup>
sagait-hëtg to stand together
sagait-lu-am'ā'm gagā'od they were all glad (literally, good in their hearts)
sagait-wā'lxsɛm we walk together

100. sag'ap- without purpose (Tsimshian: sag'ap-).

k'ul-sag'ap-ië' to walk about without purpose 96.10 sag'ap-lë'mîx' to sing without purpose

#### Tsimshian:

| k.'ul-sag'ap- $i\bar{a}'^o$  to go about without purpose ZE 796<sup>296</sup>

101. sī- new (Tsimshian: su-).

 $s\bar{\imath}\cdot na'k$  st his new wife 135.15  $s\bar{\imath}\cdot hvc\hat{\imath}l$  new

#### Tsimshian:

su-p!a's young, singular (literally, newly grown)
su-ma'xs young, plural (literally, newly standing)
su-sa'mi fresh meat
su-se-n-dzô'g to make a new village (see no. 164)

102. sîx - steadily (Tsimshian: sta-).

 $six \cdot g \cdot a'a$  to look steadily, to watch 156.1  $six \cdot -i\vec{e}'$  to walk steadily  $six \cdot -w\vec{a}'x$  to paddle steadily

#### Tsimshian:

| sta-iā'onu I walk steadily | sta-gisi-iā'o to go down river steadily

103. spagait- among (Tsimshian: spagait-). This prefix belongs to the series hwagait-, bagait-, sagait-, q'amgait- (nos. 71, 82, 99, 119); -spa seems to belong to haspa- inverted, q'aspa-astray, which have spa in common with spagait-.

 $d\bar{e}$ - $l\bar{o}$ -spagait- $h\bar{o}ksk^u$  also to be inside among 42.4

# This prefix occurs also with nouns:

spagait-ganga'n among trees 31.14 spagait-sq'ë' exk" in the darkness 11.9 spagait-lôga lō'leq [among] in a rotten corpse 217.9

### Tsimshian:

spagait-sqē'otg in the darkness ZE 78233 spagait-g'a't among people spagait-ganga'n among trees

104. ts'Ens- to desert, deserted (Tsimshian: ts!Ens-).

ts'Ens-lu'k to desert by moving 159.15

ts'Ens-dza'ku widow (literally, deserted by dying)

```
Tsimshian:
```

ts! ens-lâ'yîk to desert by moving
ts! ens-dza'k widow (literally, deserted by dying)

105. ts'Ent- a short way (Tsimshian).

ts!  $enl-dz\hat{o}'x$  to move canoe back a short way ts!  $enl-i\bar{a}'$  o to go a short way off

106.  $k^{-1}\bar{a}$  to a higher degree, exceedingly (Tsimshian: k/a-).

sem-k.  $\bar{a}$ -ale-ba'x to run really exceedingly fast 107.10 (see nos. 168, 67)

k''a- $w\bar{\imath}$ - $h\bar{e}'ld_{EL}$   $\bar{e}lx$  there were exceedingly many seals 107.6 (see no 73;  $\bar{e}lx$  seal)

k''a-wī-t'ē'sL hwîlpt as nē'E his house is larger than mine (literally, his house is exceedingly large to me) (see no. 73; hwîlp house; as to; nēE me)

k''a- $w\bar{\imath}$ -t' $\bar{e}$ 's  $\iota$  hwîlp (this) house is the largest  $\iota q\bar{o}$ -k'' $\bar{a}$ - $w\bar{\imath}$ -t' $\bar{e}$ 's t he was a little larger 103.15 (see no. 135)

### Tsimshian:

 $g'ap\text{-}k!a\text{-}dzaga\text{-}alu\text{-}b\bar{a}'^o$  to run really very openly across ZE  $786^{\,121}$ 

 $g'ap-k!a-w\bar{\imath}-naxn\hat{o}'g$  really a greater supernatural being k!a-na'g exceedingly long ZE 786 126

107. k''ax- for a while (Tsimshian: k/a-).

k'ax- $h\bar{a}'\hat{o}t$  it stops for a while 218.3

k'ax-hâx' to use for a while 34.6

k.'ax-gun-g'a'a to show for a while 26.6 (gun- to cause; g'a'a to see)

k-'ax-na-al'a'lg- $\hat{\imath}x$  to talk to each other for a while 19.8 k-'ax-sa- $q\bar{e}'t$  to make a string for a while 117.6

Here belongs also-

g'ax hao'n later on

#### Tsimshian:

| ada' k'a-t'ā'ot then he sat for a while

108.  $g \cdot \hat{i}n$ - seems to occur only in  $g \cdot \hat{i}n - h\bar{e}'th^u$  to rise 151.14.

#### Tsimshian:

| g·îna-hëotg to rise

109. g·îna- (left) behind (Tsimshian g·ina-).

g'îna-hē'tku to stand behind 141.2

 $g \cdot \hat{i} n a - g \cdot \hat{a}' \hat{o}$  to be there, being left behind 67.2

g'îna-d'ā' to remain, being left behind 194.13

k'ul-g'îna-dô'x to be (plural) about being left behind 70.8 (see no. 33)

Lgō-q'am-g'îna-d'ā' only a little one was left 95.14

44877—Bull. 40, pt 1—10——21



 $g \cdot ina - t \cdot l \cdot \bar{a}^o$  to stay behind  $g \cdot ina - i\bar{a}'^o$  to go slower than (literally, to leave going)  $g \cdot ina - ts^2 \bar{i}'^o k$  left dry

110. k:/îna- to go to do something; the action to be done is expressed by a noun (Tsimshian).

k'.ina-xsa'n to go to gamble

k: 'îna-dâ'osta to go across (to see)

k:!îna-su-p!a's to go after a young girl

111. g:î'ldEp- underneath (?), upside down (?)

 $g\cdot\bar{\imath}ldep-da'lb\hat{\imath}k\cdot sk^u$  to cling to the under side (of the canoe) 57.6  $k'uL-g\cdot\hat{\imath}ldep-qax\bar{a}'ik^u$  to drift about capsized, upside down 24.3  $g\cdot\hat{\imath}ldep-qalu'ks$  I turn dishes over upside down

112. k·sax-only, just (Tsimshian: ksa-, often with q'am- or am-only).

 $k \cdot sax - d \cdot \partial' q$  just to take (i. e., without implements for taking) 41.7  $k \cdot sax - k \cdot uL - dax d \partial' x$  they just lay about 162.5

 $k \cdot sax \cdot g \cdot in\bar{a}' m L t s\bar{o}' \hat{o} s k \cdot L h\bar{e}' x$  he only gave a little fat 163.6  $(t s\bar{o} \hat{o} s k \cdot \text{ little}; h\bar{e} x \cdot \text{ fat})$ 

This may really belong to the particles given in § 15.

k:sax- is often used with nouns:

 $k \cdot sax \cdot ts \cdot \tilde{e}'p$  only bones 214.12

k·sax-Lgo-nts'è'êts only the little grandmother 152.10

#### ·Tsimshian:

q'am-ksa-txālpx only four q'am-ksa-k!e'rel only one am-ksa hanā'nga only the women ksa-hē'otqet he just stood still

- 113. k'ōpE- little, plural; a little (Tsimshian: k'abE-). This is commonly used as an attributive prefix for the plural only. The idea of a little, slightly, is generally expressed by this prefix; while Lgo-, which is the singular of the attributive prefix, seems to imply that a small one performs the action expressed in the verb. See no. 135.
  - (a) Adverbial:

 $k'\bar{o}pe$ - $aba'g'ask^u$  to be troubled a little 74.15  $k'\bar{o}pe$ -ama-g'a'adesem, look out a little well for her 192.1  $k'\bar{o}pe$ - $l\bar{o}$ -qabu'x to splash in something a little

(b) Adjectival:

 $k'\bar{o}p_E$ - $huw\hat{\imath}'lp$  little houses 185.8  $k'\bar{o}p_E$ - $tk''\bar{e}'Lk^u$  children 102.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This particle is classed more properly with those given in § 13,

(a) Adverbial:

k!abe-sī'epgenu I poor one am sick

(b) Adjectival:

 $k!abE-ga-g\hat{o}'k$  little baskets

114. gun- to order, to cause (Tsimshian: gun-).

gun-ba'<sub>L</sub> to cause to spread out 130.11 gun-gō'u to cause to hit 53.8 gun-s<sub>E</sub>-mē'<sub>L</sub> to order to make burn 91.14

gun-që' Lqan to order to poke 91.6

### Tsimshian:

 $gun - m\delta'gan$  to ask to be taken abourd  $gun - n\delta'\sigma dz$  to show (literally, to cause to see)

115. gulîk·s- backward; also reflexive object (Tsimshian: g·îlEks-).

gulîk's-hē'tk" to rush back 210.4

gulîk's-a'qık" to reach (arrive) coming back 76.10

gulîk's-g'a'asku to look back

dē-gulîk's-d'ep-ma'qs to throw one's self also down (dē also; d'ep down) 42.13

gulîk s-dza'kus to kill one's self

sem-gulîk's-ë'thus to repent (literally, to name one's self much) 52.3

qulîk:8-d'ôtku pocket-knife (literally, covering itself)

anîk s-lō-lā'galtku looking-glass (contracted from an-gulîk s-lō-lā'galtku what one's self in beholds)

#### Tsimshian:

g·îleks-bā'o to run back ZE 788149 g·îleks-gā'o to take back g·îleks-nī'odz to look back lep-g·îleks-ô'iget he threw himself down

116. gulx- continued motion (Tsimshian: gugulx- for all times).

gulx-t'ë's to push along gulx-ba'x to jump along

#### Tsimshian:

| gugulx-hë'otg to stand for all times

117. g'ap- really, certainly, must, strongly (Tsimshian: g'ap-).

q'ap-lgu'ksaan to be really unable (to carry) 167.13 q'ap-dē-dzā'pt really on his part he made 170.5 g'ap-hä'q'al to urge really 43.13 g'ap-wī-t'ē'st it is really large 13.13 g'ap-gō'dē I have taken it entirely g'ap-yô'xgun you must eat g'ap-ô'lq'ê certainly, it is a bear

g'ap-xs-ts!a'ps really to be called a tribe ZE 7834 g'ap-k!a-wi-naxnô'g really a greater supernatural being (see nos. 106, 73) g'ap-wul'am-bâ'osg really to blow ashore (see no. 22) g'ap-bz'tsg really to stand

- 118. q'am- only, i. e., without result, to no purpose; compare k'sax(no. 112) ONLY, i. e., without doing anything else (Tsimshian:
  q'am-, am-).
  - (a) Adverbial:

q'am-anû'q to agree without caring 18.13
q'am-tsagam-sîdä' Ext he only fastened it ashore (without taking it up to the house to eat it) 178.3
q'am-lîlä'êxk" the only finished eating (but did not go) 107.10
q'am-lō-q'ā' El only to lie down (without doing anything) 59.7.

(b) Adnominal, with numerals:

q'am-k''â'l only one 100.13

q'am-gulâ'n only three 113.1

q'am-alebō' only few 178.10

(c) Adnominal; refuse, useless:

q'am-ia'ts chips
q'am-hwî'lp a miserable house

#### Tsimshian:

(a) Adverbial:

am-man-wā'lxs he just went up (see no. 3)

- (b) Adnominal, with numerals: q'am-ksa-txālpx only four q'am-k!â'l only one
- (c) Adnominal; useless:

  Lgu-q'am-k!wa's an old little broken one
  q'am-wā'lb old house
  q'am-t/ō'ots charcoal
- 119. q'amgait- already, just then (Tsimshian: amgait-). This prefix, which is related to the series in -gait- (nos. 71, 82, 99, 103), appears also independently.

k·'ēt q'amgait-g'a'as Txä'msɛm T. had already seen it 17.12 t q'amgait-hwîlā'x·L sɛm'â'g'it the chief knew it already 220.1 (hwîlā'x· to know; sɛm'â'g'it chief)

g'amgait nîg'i wô'qt just then he did not sleep 37.1

q'amgait q'a'mts' ɛn dâ' gôl . . . mēg'â'qst already he had secretly taken salmon berries 49.15 (q'a'mts' ɛn secretly; dâ'g to take; mēg'â'qst salmon berry)

| ada amgait-tā'ot then he was just there ZE 78222

120. ganē- always, permanently, without stopping. This prefix occurs commonly with hwil and adverbial ending -a in the sense of ALWAYS 121.4, 15. Other compounds are—

ganē-mē'z it burns so that the fire can not be put out again

ganē-me'l it burns so that the fire can ganē-d'a' to sit down for good ganē-ts'ē'n to have entered to stay ganē-a'lg'îx to talk without stopping ganē-qabē'yit there are just as many

121. q'asba- anywhere, astray. This prefix is related to hasba- urside down (no. 74); see also no. 103.

 $q'asba-k'uL-hw\bar{a}'ax$  to paddle about astray 17.2 (k'uL- about [no. 33])

q'asba-sa-k'uL-ië' he went about away astray 38.14 (sa- off [no. 39]; k'uL- about [no. 33])

- 122. q'ai- still, just, near; also used as an independent adverb.
  - (a) Adverbial:

q'ai- $huw\hat{o}'qt$  he was still asleep 127.5

q'ai-hwagait-tsagam-yu'kdet they moved still far away toward the shore (hwagait- [no. 71]; tsagam- toward shore [no. 9])

q'ai-lîg'i-që sxk\*t just any time he stopped 91.5 (lîg'i- any place or time [no. 20]; qēsxk\* to stop speaking)

(b) Adnominal:

q'ai-q'â'lîl Lôqs just six months 29.5 Lgo-q'ai-ts'ō'sg'îm wi-t'ē's just a little large 153.5 (Lgo-small [no. 135]; ts'ōsk' small; -m adjectival connective; wi- great [no. 73]; t'ēs large)

123. *gal*- too.

gal-alà'n too slow gal-d'è'elt too fast gal-là'ltku too late

124. qal- without people, empty (Tsimshian: qal-).

qal-hwî'lp house without people in it qal-bē'îs space 81.6 qal-ts'a'p town, tribe

This particle is also used with verbs:

qal-d'a' to stay away from a town qal-dzô'q to camp away from a town

Tsimshian:

| qal-E'rEnx empty box | qal-ts!a'p town 125. **xpī-** partly.

xpī-ma'k'sku partly white

 $xp\bar{\imath}$ -ts' $\epsilon m\bar{e}'l\hat{\imath}x'$  partly beaver (name of a monster supposed to resemble a seal with beaver-tail)

xpī-nâ'ts partly coward (name of a man)

126. xpîlyîm- forward (in time and space).

xpîlyîm-g·a'a to look forward

127. xLna- bending forward (Tsimshian: xlna-).

 $x Lna - sg \cdot \hat{i}' t k^u$  to fall down forward  $x Lna - d\hat{a}' k$  to kneel down

### Tsimshian.

| xlna-ma'xsg to dive, plural (literally, to stand head foremost) | xlna-de-dā'ul to go down headlong with

128. *l*- is a particle used to express the plural of certain words, and will be found discussed in § 45.

129. *lEp*-self, as subject (see *gulîk's*-self as object [no. 115]).

(a) Adverbial:

lep-g·în-hē'tkut he himself arose 156.11
t lep-tsagam-q'ä'êxqLt he himself dragged it ashore 175.13
lep-gulîk·s-haLā'eltkut it itself acted by itself 61.3
lep-gulîk·s-hanwulā'kus nä'ê, I myself destroyed my own 220.5
(nä'ê I)

(b) Adnominal:

 $lep-neb\bar{e}'pt$  his own uncle

#### Tsimshian:

(a) Adverbial:

lep-ëitg he himself takes a name lep-lqusqe'ret he himself is happy

 $d\bar{\imath} t - l_{EP} - d\hat{o}' g_{E} t$  he himself, on his part, took

ām-di-lep-nexnô'xsedet that they themselves, on their part, are supernatural

lep-q'îleks-ô'iqet he himself threw himself down

(b) Adnominal:

lep-qaxsâ' (their) own canoes

130. lEbElt- against (Tsimshian: lEbElt-).

dē-lebelt-hwîlenestä' you also do against (some one) 65.14 lebelt-hē'tku to incite against lebelt-a'lq'îx to talk with some one

## Tsimshian:

lebelt-da'l to fight against  $lebelt-w\bar{a}'l$  enemy

131. *lEg'ul*- for good (Tsimshian: *lEk!ul*- for good; see *gane*-always, permanently [no. 120]).

leg'ul-sî'ns to be entirely blind leg'ul-dā'uL to leave for good leg'ul-ts!ē'n to have entered to stay

#### Tsimshian:

| lek!ul-kuda'xs to leave for good

132. lîg·'êx- partly, half.

lîg·'êx-ma'gal to put away half lîg·'êx-g'a't nobility (literally, halfway [chief] people)

133. leks- strange, different, by itself (Tsimshian: leks-).

leks-g'a't a strange person sa-txa-leks-g'a't to make quite different leks-d'a' island (literally, sitting by itself)

#### Tsimshian:

 $|\begin{array}{c} l_{Eks-t}/\bar{a}'^{o} \text{ island} \\ l_{Eks-q}\cdot iq\cdot a'd \text{ kinds ZE } 791^{205} \end{array}$ 

134. LEm- stopping a motion (Tsimshian: lEm-).

LEm-ba'x to stop by running
LEm-gô'c to offend
LEm-ë'tkuc to interfere (literally, to stop by calling)

In Tsimshian this prefix does not seem to be free.

| lem-g·ipā'îg to fly against the wind | lem-bā'asg head-wind

135. Lgō- little (Tsimshian: lgu-). This is commonly used as an attributive prefix, but for the singular only. The adverbial idea is expressed by k'ōpe- (Tsimshian: k!abe- [no. 113]), which, in an attributive sense, is used only for the plural.

 $Lg\bar{o}$ -a'lg- $\hat{i}xt$  he said with a low voice (perhaps better, the little one said) 54.12

The use of  $Lg\bar{o}$ - as attributive is very common:

k·sax-Lgō-ts'Epts'a'p only the little wren 126.5 (see no. 112) Lgo-ts'Evî'ng·it the little youngest one 185.14

Still more frequent is its use with adjectives:

Lgo-gwä' Em Lgo-tk.'ē'lku the little poor little boy 139.7 Lgo-q'ai-ts'ō'sg'im wi-t'ē's only a little large (q'ai- just; ts'ōsk' small; wī- great; t'ēs large) Lgo-dax-g'a't a little strong

#### Tsimshian:

lgu-xā'o little slave ZE 789<sup>177</sup> lgu-g'am-k!wa's a bad little broken one

## § 11. Nominal Particles

A number of particles, according to their meaning, can occur only in a nominal sense, modifying nouns and adjectives. A few of these might as well have been classed with the preceding group.

```
136. am- serving for (Tsimshian: am-). This prefix is not free. am-lō'x: alder-tree (serving for [the dyeing of] head rings of cedar-bark) am-mā'l cottonwood (serving for canoes) am-halai't head-dress (serving for shaman's dance) am-sg'inî'st pine-tree (serving for pitch) am-yu'kt used in potlatch 194.1
```

#### Tsimshian

```
| am-mē'olk mask (serving for dance)
| am-ga'n cedar (serving for wood)
```

This prefix is also used in some connections where the explanation here given does not seem satisfactory:

```
am-qa'n a kind of salmon-trap
am-xlā'l willow (xlāl fruit of willow)
am-hā'ts' stump 55.5
```

In other cases it appears as a verbal prefix, the meaning of which is not known:

```
am-qd'ôd to remember 209.13
am-sg'i to lie (on the beach?) 172.11
am'ā'leq to destroy in anger
```

137. ax- without (Tsimshian: wa-). This prefix is nominal, and serves as negation in subordinate clauses, which in Tsimshian are transformed into nominal form. Examples are here given of nominal forms and of subordinate clauses:

## (a) Nouns:

```
ax'-a'k's without water

ax-wunä'x' without food

ax-qaqâ'd foolish (literally, without minds) 123.10

ax-qâ'dem g'a't foolish person

an-ax-kō'e carelessness

ax-mô'ku unripe 50.5

ax-qam-da'xku disgraceful

ax-dē-si-halai't never giving a dance (an opprobrious epithet)

ax-na-mu'x without ear-ornaments (an opprobrious epithet)

ax-q'ē'ts without labret (a little girl)

ax-tqal-q'a'tku virgin (not against a man)
```

#### (b) Subordinate clauses:

k''ēt g'a'aL wunä'x' La ax-g'ē'bEtg'ê then he saw the food which he had not eaten 41.3,4 (k''ē then; -t he; g'a'a to see; -L connective [§ 23]; wunä'x' food; La past, nominal form; ax-not; g'ē'p to eat something; -t his; -g'ê absent [§ 20])

 $n\bar{a}$  t'an  $ax-hw\hat{\imath}l\bar{a}'g\hat{\imath}n$ ? who does not know thee  $(n\bar{a}$  who; t'an he who; ax- not;  $hw\hat{\imath}l\bar{a}'x$ · to know; -n thee)

nîg'în dem de gō'ut hwîl ax-kuta'yê I, on my part, shall not take it, not being hungry (nîg'î not; -n I; dem future; de on the other hand, on (my) part; gōu to take; -t it; hwîl being; axnot; kuta'i hungry; -ē I)

There is a second form, aqL, the relation of which to ax is difficult to understand. Apparently this form is aq with connective -L (see § 23). It does not occur in subordinate clauses, and may perhaps be considered as a verb meaning IT IS NOTHING.

nlk.'ē aql hwîlt then he did nothing 68.6 (then nothing was his doing)

nlk.'ē aql g'ē'ben then nothing is your food 157.11

nLk.'ē aqL-yô'xkus Ts'ak' then Ts'ak' was without (place to) go 126.7

nlk.'ē aql-hwî'lt then he was without doing anything 68.6

It is doubtful, however, whether this explanation is really satisfactory. Difficulties are presented particularly by forms like—

aq  $dep \cdot hwil\bar{a}'gut$  what can we do? 103.7 (dep we) aq n hwila  $dz\bar{a}'bet$  I do not know how to make it

Only a few Tsimshian forms may be given here:

 $wa-d\bar{\imath}-lgu-x\bar{a}'^a$  on their part without even a little foam  $(d\bar{\imath}$  on their part; lgu- little;  $x\bar{u}^a$  foam)

wa-dzaga-lā'ap!El without twinkling across

# 138. hwîn- innermost part (Tsimshian: wun-).

hwîn-gë's brain hwîn-hawu'l point of arrow hwîn-ts!ä'wul heart of tree 148.8

#### Tsimshian:

| wun-ga'us brain

139. dE- extreme, plural; see k's- singular (no. 143) (Tsimshian: ta-)

 $d\mathbf{E} \cdot lax^{\flat}\bar{o}^{\prime}t$  the highest ones  $d\mathbf{E} \cdot L\bar{a}^{\prime}wit$  the lowest ones  $d\mathbf{E} \cdot galgal\bar{a}^{\prime}nt$  the last ones

#### Tsimshian:

man-ta-gâ'ga the first ones to come up (see no. 3) ta-sī'olg ît the eldest ones

140. t!Em- a nominal prefix of very indefinite significance (Tsimshian: t!Em-). In several cases this is clearly a weakened form of the attributive form t!ām sitting, and probably this is the meaning of this particle everywhere. (See § 33.)

 $t/Em \cdot ba'x$  hip

t!Em-qē's head (qēs hair) 46.6

t!Em-Lā'm leg below knee

t!em-lā'nix' neck

 $t/em-g\bar{a}'x'$  fathom, shoulder; and some other terms for parts of the body

 $t!_{Fm}-l\bar{a}'n$  steersman

t!Em-tsä'iq man in bow of canoe

#### Tsimshian:

lax-t' em-ga'us crown of head t' em-la' n steersman  $(g\cdot ila'n$  stern) (See § 33)

141. **spE-** place where something belongs, where one lives (Tsimshian: **spE-**).

spe-a'p wasp-nest

spe-a'xt den of porcupine

spe-tk'ō'Lyan ant-hill

Spe-nexnô'q place of supernatural beings 32.11

Spā-wa'ıku place of taboos 32.12

spE-sō'ntk place where one lives in summer

spe-ksō'nt place where one lives in autumn

#### Tsimshian

| spe-sa'mi bear's den

142. sgan-tree, stick; evidently from gan tree (Tsimshian: sgan-).

sgan-mē'lîk·st crabapple-tree 17.11

sgan-qala'mst rose-bush

sgan-lâ'ts elderberry-bush

sgan-dā'pxL harpoon-shaft

sgan-halô' mast

## Tsimshian:

| sgan-k/ī'nt wooden quiver | sgan-t/ū'otsg spear-shaft

143. k-s- extreme, singular; see  $d_E$ -, plural (no. 139) (Tsimshian: ks-).

k's-qalā'n the last 140.8

 $d'ep-k's-q\hat{a}q$  down first 81.4

lō-k·s-q·ī/êkst in extreme outer side 219.1

#### Tsimshian:

 $\mid ks-q\hat{a}'ga \text{ first ZE } 791^{214}$ 

144. ksE-fluid (Tsimshian: ksE-). This is evidently an abbreviated form of aks water. (See § 33.)

kse-t/ō'tsku black fluid kse-mâ'dzîk's milk (literally, breast fluid)

### Tsimshian:

wadi-kse-lē'atx fluid-like slime (see no. 85)
kse-ā'mks clear water
kse-gwa'nuks spring
kse-sganē'ost water of mountain

145. k·cE- fresh (Tsimshian: ksE-).

 $k \cdot c_E \cdot c\bar{a}'k \cdot$  fresh olachen  $k \cdot c_E \cdot sma'x \cdot$  fresh meat

## Tsimshian:

| kse-meg'd'oxs fresh berries

146. k·sEm- woman (Tsimshian: ksEm-).

k'sem-nîsqa'a a Nass woman k'sem-qa'k'ı mouse woman 136.4 k'sem-sawa't Tongass woman k'sem-alō-g'ig'a't Indian woman 207.12

#### Tsimshian:

| ksem-wutsi'on mouse woman | ksem-q'asgd'os crane woman

147. g·ît- people, person (Tsimshian: g·ît-). (See also § 33.)

G·ît-wīk·/ē'na Awī'k·!ēnôxu, Rivers Inlet tribe

G·ît-gā'ns Tongass

g·ît-wī'ltku warriors 113.13

G·ît-lax-dā'mɛk's people of lake

148. **gwis-** blanket, garment (Tsimshian: **gus-**).

gwīs-halai't dancing blanket 71.5

gwîs-qā'aqt raven blanket 39.8

wī-gwīs-qana'ō large frog blanket 168.3

gwîs-ma'k'sku white blanket

#### Tsimshian:

gus-ya'ni mink blanket gus-bɛlhā'tk button blanket gus-sga'n mat coat (rain coat)

149. qa- seems to indicate location (Tsimshian: g·i-).
qa-sä'x place in front 61.4
qa-qalā'n place behind the houses 138.6
qa-g·ä'u place in front of house 138.13
qa-dâ' the other side 211.10

The same prefix appears in certain plurals. These will be discussed in § 43.

```
g·i-ts/d·ēg bow of canoe
g·i-lā'n stern of canoe
g·i-g·ā'ni up river
g·ilhau'li in the woods (with euphonic l [?])
```

150. qaldEm- receptacle (Tsimshian: galdEm-).

galdem-halda'u-g-ît box of a sorcerer 217.3

#### Tsimshian:

| galdem-a'ksk bucket (literally, drinking-receptacle)

151. lax- surface of, top; corresponding to the adverbial prefix le-(Tsimshian: lax-).

lax-lô'ôp surface of stone 109.4 lax-a'us surface of sand 122.4 lax'ō' top 55.4 lax-ha' sky (literally, upper side of air)

The names of some clans contain this element.

 $lax-sk\bar{\imath}'y\hat{e}k$  eagle clan (literally, on the eagle) 108.3  $lax-k\cdot eb\bar{\nu}'$  wolf clan (literally, on the wolf) 108.2

Names of islands and of the ocean are compounded with this prefix:

Lax-waqL Dundas island lax-sē'lda ocean 104.7

#### Tsimshian:

```
lax-t/Em-ga'us crown of head
lax-la'mgEm leplô'ob top of hot stones
lax-ha' sky ZE 78226
```

152. ts'Em- inside; corresponding to the verbal prefixes lō-, ts'Elem-, legem- (Tsimshian: ts'Em-).

ts'Em-hwî'lp inside of house 134.2 ts'Em-dz'ä'dz'îk's inside of ground 201.9 ts'Em-lô'ôp inside of stone 20.2

A considerable number of words require this prefix:

ts'em-ā'q inside of mouth 118.15 ts'em-qalâ's stomach 118.11 ts'em-an'ô'n palm (literally, inside) of hand 110.10 ts'em-t'ē'n valley 77.3

#### Tsimshian:

```
ts/em-lax-ha' in the sky ZE 78226
ts/em-xsâ'o inside of canoe
ts/em-a'ks inside of water
ts/em-va'lb inside of house
ts/em-ts/a'ns armpit
ts/em-ne-u'o oven
```

- 153. ts'a- inside. I found this prefix, which is evidently related to the last, only in ts'a-hwî'lp (Nass) and ts!a-wālb (Tsimshian) the inside of the house, so designated in contrast to the outside; while ts'em-hwîlp (ts!em-wālb) appears in conjunction with the locative adverbial prefixes lu-, ts'elem-, etc.
- 154. ano- direction toward (Tsimshian: nak- or na-).

anō-g-ī'zlka south anō-qal-ts'a'p direction of the town anō-t'zm-gē's head end anō-lax-mô'ôn direction of (on the) sea

#### Tsimshian:

nak-semiā'wunt or na-semiā'wunt left hand nak-stâ'o one side nak-txa-g'isi-hi-wā'as east (literally, direction along down river at the same time rain) ZE 785%

155. ts'îk's- surrounding (Tsimshian: t/Eks-).

ts'îk's-naa'qs bracelet (literally, surrounding jade) ts'îk's-daô' finger-ring

#### Tsimshian:

| t!Eks-nā'oxs bracelet

156. ham- nearness.

ham-ts/ēwî'n place near the top, 80.12

# § 12. Particles Transforming Verbs into Nouns

- 157. an-. This prefix is very difficult to translate. It is used to transform verbs into nouns, and expresses abstract terms, local terms, and even instruments. (Tsimshian: n-, nE-).
  - (a) Abstract nouns:

an-xpedzā'x fear an-lebā'lq hatred an-sē'ibensku love an-ud'msk honor

(b) Local terms:

an-la'ku fireplace
an-sg'îmlku womb (literally, lying-in place)
an-tg'ō-lē'lbîk'sku whirlpool (what around drifts) 104.12
an-sā'lep hole for steaming 55.4
an-lō'ulku nest (literally, place of young ones)
an-sg'ī't grave (literally, where he lies) 218.5
an-qalā'q play-ground
an-dâ' other side

| n-lak fireplace | ts!em-ne-uo oven (literally, in-baking-place) | n-g:îl-hau'li a place in the woods

(c) Result of an act, instrument, etc.

an-hē't what he said 118.1 an-lē'pelsku thread (for sewing) an-dōy'în garden

158. anda- receptacle, perhaps from an- no. 157 (Tsimshian: nta-).

anda-ha-sä'xs "rattle-box" 124.12 anda ta'îx box of crabapples 192.4 anda-hawî'l quiver (literally, arrow receptacle) 19.5 anda-t'ē'lx' box of grease 192.3

## Here belongs-

anda-xsa'n gambling-sticks 28.11

#### Tsimsbian:

| nta-ha-wulā'owad work-box | nta-hawā'l quiver

159.  $yu-k^u$  one who has (Tsimshian: yu-g).

yu-hwî'lpku one who has a house yu-negwô'ôtku one who has a father

#### Tsimshian:

k.'ut-yu-ha-a'ksg carrying a bucket about yu-sa'mig having meat yuhg a'tq having manhood ZE 78352

160. ha- instrument (Tsimshian: ha-).

ha-xda'ku bow (literally, shooting-instrument) 19.6 ha-a'kus cup (literally, drinking-instrument) ha-q'o'L knife for splitting 96.12 ha-la'ku powder (literally, fire-instrument) ha-sä'x rattle 213.9

### Tsimshian:

| ha-g·è'lg harpoon (literally, harpooning-instrument) | ha-na'kst marriage present (literally, means of marrying)

The compound prefix ha-le- is particularly frequent:

ha-lē-d'a' chair (literally, instrument to sit on)
ha-lē-dâ'lɛp pile of wood to roast on 131.12
ha-lē-dzô'qsē world (literally, means of camping on) 14.10

### Tsimshian:

|  $ha-l/\bar{\imath}-dz\hat{o}'g$  world (literally, means of camping on) ZE 782<sup>19</sup> |  $ha-l/\bar{\imath}-g\hat{a}'\circ d$  to think (literally, means of minding on)

The days of the week are nowadays designated by the same prefixes:

ha-lē-qanō'ôtku day of dressing up (Sunday) ha·lē-yē' eq day of paying out (Saturday)

161. gan-means of, cause of (Tsimshian: gan-).

gan-mâ'tku means of saving

gan-dede'ls cause of life

gan-Lê'ntx cause of anger

gan-lō-gō'ibax window (literally, cause of light inside)

gan-hwā'lîx carrying-strap, (literally, means of carrying)

#### Tsimshian:

gan-hā'axq difficulty

gan-p!a'lg'îxsg ballast (literally, means of being heavy)

This prefix is identical with the particle gan THEREFORE.

162. gwix-nomen actoris (Tsimshian: huk-).

 $gwîx \cdot -\bar{a}'d$  fisherman

wī-qwīx:-su-q:a't great murderer 23.5

 $gwîx - wô'\hat{o}$  hunter 108.4

quoîx:-iā'mq'asku cheater 52.12

### Tsimshian:

huk-ga'ts/E one who pours out, an auctioneer huk-yê'lsk one who drills

163. an- the one who —; preceding transitive verb (Tsimshian:

This prefix is used very frequently in phrases corresponding to our relative clauses. It is always preceded by the subjective pronoun of the third person.

 $n\bar{e}'$  En  $t'an-dEd\hat{o}'qL$   $l\bar{a}x$  you are the one who caught the trout 157.4

k''ē k'saxl lgo-g'î'mx'dit, demt an-ts'elem-wô'ôl nak'st then his little sister went out, she who was to call in his wife 204.6 (k·sax to go out;  $q \cdot \hat{i}' mx \cdot de$  sister; ts' e lem- into;  $w \hat{o}' \hat{o}$  to invite; nak s wife)

nlk''ē dā'ull k''âll g'at t'an-gō'ul lgo-tk''ē'lku then one man left, who took the child 205.6 ( $d\bar{a}'uL$  to leave;  $k''\hat{a}l$  one person;  $g \cdot at$  person;  $g \bar{o} u$  to take;  $\iota g o \cdot t k \cdot \dot{e}' \iota k^u$  child)

k·'ē hwîl sagait-hā'p'aar t'an-kurē-hîsya'tst then they rushed together who beat him all over 62.12 (sagait-together;  $h\bar{a}'p'a$ to rush; kulē- all over; yats to strike'

### Tsimshian:

nāºl demt în-na'ksga lqū'olges Gauô' who is it who will marry the daughter of Gauô?

t n!E'ryu demt în-na'ksqa lgū'olgent it is I who will marry your daughter

n!īnī's dep gwai t'în-se-t!ā'osga these are the ones who began ada n!īnī' t'în-lebā'olsetgat he was the one who paid it back

Digitized by Google

## § 13. Particles Transforming Nouns into Verbs

164. 8E- to make something (Tsimshian: 8E-).

se-hwa' to call (literally, to make name) 97.13

se-le't to make wedges 148.4

 $sE-h\hat{a}'n$  to catch salmon

 $sE-l\bar{e}'mx$  to make a song 77.9

lep-se-nexnô'x to make one's self supernatural 152.6

se-bela' to make abalone shell 45.14

#### Tsimshian:

l!ī-se-gu'lg to make fire on su-se-n-dzôg to make a new village se-ma'xs to cause to grow ZE 791<sup>209</sup>

165. x- to eat, consume (Tsimshian: x-).

x-ha'n to eat salmon 205.1

x-ama'lgwax eating scabs 41.14

ha-x-sma'x fork (literally, meat-eating instrument)

ha-x-miyä'n pipe (literally, smoke-eating instrument)

#### Tsimshian:

x-sts!â'la to eat beaver

x-gwa'tksenu I feel cold (literally, I consume cold)

lu-x-dzī'usg until morning (literally, in consume morning)

x-sganē'îs to kill mountain goats (literally, to eat mountain)

x-gô'ep!akem we enjoy the light ZE 786127

166. xs- to say, to appear like (Tsimshian: xs-).

xs-neguâ'tk to say father

 $xs-m\bar{e}'mExk$  to say HM

xs-ia'nsks it sounds like leaves

xs-ma'k'sku white (literally, it appears like snow)

xs-qusquû'ôskus light blue (literally, it appears like a bluejay)

#### Tsimshian:

wī-xs-nû'ôl it sounds loud like a drum wi-xs-suwa'nsg it sounds loud like curing disease g'ap-xs-ts/a'ps to be called a tribe ZE 78341

## § 14. Transitive Pronominal Subject

The transitive subjective pronouns are in both dialects:

 $egin{array}{lll} n & \mathbf{I} & m & sem & \mathbf{ye} \\ dep & \mathbf{we} & & & t & | \mathbf{he}, \\ m & \mathbf{thou} & & & | \mathbf{the} & | \end{array}$ 

These are placed before the verb and the particles treated in §§ 8-13. They will be discussed more fully in § 52.

§§ 13, 14

## § 15. Particles that may Precede the Transitive Subject

The particles enumerated in the present section differ from all those previously treated, in that their connection with the verb is not so close. In certain cases of the third person, to be discussed later, they precede the transitive pronominal subject. Since many of these particles have not been found with transitive verbs of this kind, it remains doubtful whether they are simply adverbial particles placed before the verb, or whether the first and second persons of the transitive verb, when used as subject, precede them. The particles enumerated under nos. 167-174 are more clearly connected with the verb than the later ones.

167. de- with, also, on (his) part (Tsimshian: dī-).

dē-t-gun-g·ē'îpt on her part, she ordered (her) to eat it 155.11
dē-uks-ba'xt he, on his part, ran out to the sea 104.13
dē-gulîk·s-d'ɛp-ma'qst he also threw himself down 42.13
dē-t-gōut he, on his part, took it 14.8
nîg·î-n dɛm dē-g·ipt not I shall, on my part, eat it
dē nîg·î di-deukut she, on her part, had no bag 206.9, 10 (dē-di
on her part; nîg·î not; dēuku bag)
nîg·î-n dē-g·a'at I have not seen him

#### Tsimshian:

44877-Bull. 40, pt 1-10-22

t!Em-dī-yä'a he went to the fire, on his part
dīt-lep-dô'get he, on his part, took it himself
ada g'ik dīt q'am-gâ'otye hanā'oxt and also he, on his part,
blessed (q'am-qâ'ot) the woman ZE 797

168. **sem-** very, exceedingly (Tsimshian: **sem-**). This particle is very free in its position. It is often used in nominal compounds in the sense of GENUINE.

sem-aba'g'askut he was much troubled 80.1
sem-hasba-sg'ē' to lay really upside down 214.11
sem-hō'm a'lg'îxnē I speak the truth
yagai-sem-k'ā-wi-hē'lt, however, exceedingly very many 158.11
sem-t-lō-qâ'ôdent she emptied it inside entirely 208.7
sem-ama sg'ē'det they laid it down well 214.10 (am good; sg'ī to lay)
sem-hux-dē-lgo-wî'lk'sîlku also, on his part, a very prince (hux also; dē on his part; lgo-little)
wī-sem-ga'n the great very tree (i. e., cedar) 147.9
sem-ts'ē'wîn the very top 80.4
sem-q'ai-tsetsō'osk" just very small 171.8
sem-q'am-k''â'l really only one 145.13

Digitized by Google

sem-lu-dza'ga gâ'ot very downcast (literally, very dead in heart) sem-lu- $x\bar{a}'xst$  to weep bitterly ada semt tgu-da'pt then he measured exactly around it ZE 78450 ne-sem-se'relg exactly the middle

# 169. hux also, again (Tsimshian: gik).

hux,  $\bar{a}'d'\hat{\imath}k\cdot sk^uL$  yu'ksa evening came again 142.8 ( $\bar{a}'d'\hat{\imath}k\cdot sk^u$  to come; yu'ksa evening)

hux  $d\bar{e}$ -t'  $\epsilon m$ -i $\ddot{a}$ 't he also, on his part, went down to the middle of the house 142.14

hux det gu'nat he also, on his part, demanded it 143.1

k ēt hux g inā'mt then he gave it again 139.6

hux k''â'lı g'at another man 108.1

#### Tsimshian:

lat g'ik t/a'le ne-mes-a'use lemkdī'odet a ts/a'ltgao when his sister again put on her paint on her face ZE 795280 (mes-a'us ochre; lemkdī'od sister; ts/al face)

adat g'ik wulā'ide g'a'd then the people knew it again ZE 795<sup>282</sup> ada g'ikt wulā'i dem hat!a'xge then they knew again that it would be bad ZE 796<sup>288</sup>

The following four particles serve to express future, present, past, and continuation. Their syntactic use will be discussed in § 59. Here I give only a few examples illustrating their use with the verb. 170. **dEm** future (Tsimshian: **dEm**).

dem iä'nēe at awa'an I go to thy proximity 196.12 dem g'a'an you will see 80.2

n dem swant I shall cure her 123.7

demt mu'kdēl txox they were going to catch halibut 43.6

# In the following examples $d_{EM}$ is nominal:

nîg'idi ā'd'îk'sk"L dem mesā'x' not had come the future daylight 11.10

dem lep-hwa'yîme dem nā'em we ourselves will find our future bait 56.6 (lep- self; hwa to find; nax bait)

#### Tsimshian:

 $demt \ dz\bar{a}'be \ txan/\bar{i}' \ g\hat{a}'$  he was about to make everything  $n \ dem \ k/a$ -txal- $w\bar{a}'n \ I$  shall overtake you soon  $ada \ demt \ se$ - $ma'xse \ g\hat{a}'$  then it will make things grow

## 171. hwîl present (Tsimshian: wul).

txanë'tkul hwîl sesö'sı k!öpe-ts'ö'ôts all the small birds 124.11 naxna's Ts'ak: hwîl dāl hana'q Ts'ak: heard (about) a woman being there 126.2 (naxna'x to hear; d'a to sit; hana'q woman) -t hwîl lō-ba'qt at his touching into it 203.6

at gd'o wul kse-gwa'ntge g'a'mget he went to where out comes (touches) the sun

-a wul wa-dī-aya'owult on account of his being without cleverness ZE 789.14 (wa- without; dī on his part; aya'owul clever)

## 172. La past (Tsimshian: la).

nlk: !ē la hux hē' luk it had been morning again 204.2 (hux again; hē' luk morning)

La dē'lpk" L dem mesā'x it was shortly going to be daylight 143.7 (dēlpk" short; mesā'x daylight)

La hux hwî'lt he had done this also 145.4

 $k\cdot !\bar{e}$  Lat  $hw\hat{\iota}l\bar{a}'x\cdot L$   $hw\hat{\iota}l$   $n\hat{o}'\hat{o}t$  he had known that he was dead 57.7  $(hw\hat{\iota}l\bar{a}'x\cdot to \text{ know}; n\hat{o}'\hat{o} \text{ dead})$ 

#### Tsimshian:

n/īnī' lat nī' estge ts'a'b that was when the people saw ada la al dī ts'.'ī'onsge wak't but then his brother had gone in (al but; dī on his part; ts'.'ī'on to enter; wak' brother)
nī wā'lde la ha'udet it happened, what he had said

## 173. Lā while (Tsimshian: Lā).

Lā wī-t'ē'sL Lgo-tk''ē'Lkug'ê al lō-d'ā't al ts'em-xpē'îst while the child was large, it was in the box 9.9 (wī-t'ē's large; Lgo-tk''ē'Lku child; lō-in; d'ā to sit; ts'em-inside; xpēîs box)

### Tsimshian:

 $| l\bar{a} n/\bar{\imath}n\bar{\imath}' nE-sEla-w\bar{a}'ldEt$  while that one did it with them  $| l\bar{a} q'a'ldEk-i\bar{a}'^{o}tga^{o}$  while he was walking about in the woods

174. iagai- already, however, rather (Tsimshian: y!agai-).

iagai-g·în-hē'th\*t however, he stood behind 141.1

iagai-nē't however, it was so 26.7, 157.9

iagai-sem-k·!a-wi-hē'lt however, exceedingly many 158.11

k·'ēt iagai-lē-ia'qt then, however, it hung on it 46.1

k·!ē iagait-g·ê'elt then, he had picked it up already 26.3

iagait-lo-dâ'yît he had put it on already 50.4

#### Tsimshian:

y!agai lā'-wula tgi-nī'otsget however, he looked always down adat y!agai-dzaga-gâ'odet then, however, he went across it n dem y!agai-na'ksen I shall marry thee y!agai-sem-bā's very much afraid, however

175. må'dzE- almost.

 $m\hat{a}'dz_{E-sg}$ it he almost lay 62.8  $q'am-m\hat{a}'dz_{E-n}\hat{o}'\hat{o}\bar{e}_{E}$  I am only almost dead 76.13  $m\hat{a}'dz_{E}t-\hat{o}x't$  he almost hit it 140.7

176. kwa'ts'îk's- close by.

kwa'ts!îk:s-tq'al-sg:în you lie close against 75.12

177. **sEm-g·it** strongly (derived from **sem-much** [no. 168], and **g·at** person) (Tsimshian: **sEm-g·it**).

dem sem-g'it dax-yu'kden you will hold fast strongly sem-g'it dē-yō'guL t'em-lā'nēîst hold on to my neck! 80.10

#### Tsimshian:

| ada sem-yit hë'tge hana'gat then the woman stood fast

178. **sEm-gal** very, much (from sem-) (Tsimshian: **sEm-gal**). **sem-gal** aba'g'ask\*t he was much troubled 36.4, 40.4 **sem-gal** gwä'et he was very poor 38.4

## Tsimshian:

| sem-gal xaº! arch-slave! ZE 790197 | t sem-gal lebā'lexst they hate them much ZE 793228

179. q'amts'En secretly.

q'amts'en hē't he said secretly 40.5 q'amts'en ts'ē'nt he entered secretly 25.6

180. nîyi not; used in indicative sentences (Tsimshian: a'lyE).

k''ē nîg'i daa'qıkudet then they did not succeed 123.6 nîg'î baxı ak's the water did not run 18.3 nîg'ît hux dzakut she did not kill him also 203.7 nîg'îdî hwāx's Lôgôbolā' Lôgôbolā' did not paddle 17.3 nîg'în dē g'a'at I have not seen it

The syllable  $d\hat{i}$ ,  $d\bar{e}$ , which is very often added to the negative, probably signifies on HIS PART, and is the particle no. 167.

#### Tsimshian:

a'lge āml demt wulā' idel g'at it is not good that the people know it (ām good; wulā' i to know; g'at people) ada a'lge ts!a'k'asga la'kgao then the fire was not out a'lge ndem k'!înā'mt al hanā'or I will not give it to the woman

# § 16. Alphabetical List of Particles

As a matter of convenience, I give here an alphabetical list of particles, the letters being arranged in the order vowels, semi-vowels, labials, dentals, palatals, laterals. In each series the order of sounds is sonant, surd stop; sonant, surd affricative. Each particle is given its § 16

number in the preceding lists. It will be remembered that there are slight differences in the rendering of the Nass (N) and Tsimshian (T) sounds, which are due to imperfections in the recording of the former dialect.

a T 63a awus T 63 awul T (wil N) 43 am N T 136 am, q!am T (q'am N) 118amgait T (q'amgait N) 119 an N (în T) 163 an N (n, nET) 157 anō N (na, nak T) 154 anda N (nta T) 158 anb'el N (p!el T) 64 ank's N (aks T) 65 asē N (asdi T) 14 asdi T (asē N) 14 agwi N T 66 aks T (ank's N) 65 ax N (wa T) 137 alō N (alu T) 67 aLax N (la T) 68 alda N 69 alge T (nîg:i N) 180 i N 70 iaga N T 2 iagai N (y!agai T) 174 yu- $k^u$  N (yu-g T) 159 în T (an N) 163 uks N T 6, 10 wa T (ax N) 137 wadi T 85 hwagait N (wagait T) 71 walen N 72 wī N T 73 wud'ax N (wut!a T) 73a wud'en NT 41 hwîn N (wun T) 138 wun T (hwîn N) 138 wusen NT 51 wuts'en T (wīts'en, huts'en N) 52hwîl N (wul T) 171

wil N (awul T) 43 wul T (hwîl N) 171 wul'am N T 22 ha N T 160 ham N 156 hadîx N (hat! Ek T) 48 hasba N T 74 hats'eks N 75 hagun N (gun T)·44 hagul N T 76 haldem N T 77 haz N (hał T) 50 hī N T 78 hîs N (sîs T) 79 hēla N 45 hūts'en, wīts'en N (wuts'en T) 52 huk T (gwîx: N) 162 hux N (gik T) 169 benem T (pelem N) 80 p!el T (anb'el N) 64 pelem N (benem T) 80 belxsem N (xbesem T) 81 bax N T 1 me T (ma N) 84 men N (man T) 3 mesem N 83 mela T 88 mel N (mela T) 87 ma N (mET) 84 man T (men N) 3*max* N 86 maxle T 60 mûdze N 175 dE,  $d\bar{e}$  N (dE T) 91 de N (ta T) 139  $d\bar{e} \ \mathrm{N} \ (d\bar{\imath} \ \mathrm{T}) \ 167$ d'ep N (tgiT) 4dem N T 170

t'Em N T 13 t'Em N T 140 ta T (de N) 139 dex, dîx · N (dax T) 90 t'Eks T (ts'îk's N) 155 t'uks N T 6, 10 dūla N 92 tq'al N (txal T) 35 tgi T (d'Ep N) 4 tgo N (tgu T) 31 txa N T 93 txas N T 47 n T (an N) 157 na N T 12 na, nak T  $(an\bar{o}$  N) 154 nā N T 94 na N T 95 nak, na T ( anō N) 154 nîg:i N (alge T) 180 nô'ôm N 96 nta T (anda N) 158 8E N T 164 sā N (sa T) 98 sa N T 39 sem N T 168 sem-g it N T 177 sem-gal N T 178 sen T 89 sagait N T 99 sag'ap N T 100 sîs T (hîs N) 79 sîx: N (sta T) 102 sel N T 97 sī N (su T) 101 su T (sī N) 101 *spe* N T 141 spagait N T 103 *spī* N 21 stex N 49 sta T (sîx: N) 102 sgan N T 142 sqa N (sqa T) 36 ts! Em N T 152 ts! Ens N T 104 ts!Enl T 105

ts!Ek:!al T 16 ts!a N T 153 tsaga N (dzaga T) 23 tsagam N (dzagam T) 9 ts/îk·s N (t/Eks T) 155 ts!elem N T 7 k.'ā N (k.'a T) 106 k''ax N (k!a T) 107k''aL N 58 g'i T (qa in part, N) 149 g'îme N (gami T) 25 g ît N T 147 g'îdi N T 19 ` k:!êdo N 57 g'în N (g'îna T) 108 g'îna N T 109 k:/îna T 110 g îs N 40 g îsi N (gisi T) 18 gik T (hux N) 169 g·ik·si N 61 g-îleks T (qulîk's N) 115 g-îlwul N T 37 g·îldep N 111 k.'îlq'al N 34 k's N (ks T) 143 kse T (k si N) 8kse N T 144 k·ce N (kse T) 145 k'sem N (ksem T) 146 ksa T (k·sax N) 112 k'si N (kse T) 8 *qa* N in part (*g*·*i* T) 149 q'ai N 122 g'ap N T 117 g'am N (q!am, am T) 118 gami T (g·ime N) 25 g'amts'en N 179 q'amgait N (amgait T) 119 gan N T 161 q!an T 28 qana T 59 ganē N 120 q'asba N 121 gal N 123

oal N T 124 l N T 128 q!ala T (gali N) 17 lep N T 129 lebelt N T 130 gali N (q!ala T) 17 galdem N (galdem T) 150 lebagait T (bagait N) 82 qaldîx N (qaldîk T) 11 legem N (lôgôm T) 5 qalk'si N (galkse T) 24 lîq'i N T 20 kwa'ts'îk's N 176 lîa.'êx N 132 qwis N (qus T) 148 leg'ul N (lek!ul T) 131 qwîx: N (huk T) 162 leks N T 133  $k'ab \mathbf{E} \mathbf{T} (k'\bar{o}p \mathbf{E} \mathbf{N})$  113 lagauk T 15 kutgo N 32 lagax T (lāx N) 38 gun T (hagun N) 44 lax N T 151 gun N T 114  $l\bar{a}x$  N (lagax T) 38 lē N (l!i T) 30 qus T (qwis N) 148 ququlx T (qulx N) 116 lē-gan N (l!ī-q!an T) 28 qulîk's N (g'îleks T) 115 lôgôm T (legem N) 5 lō N (lu T) 29 gulx N (qugulx T) 116 k'uL N (k/ul T) 33lūila N 62 ksE T (k'si N) 8 lōsa N 46  $k^{u}L\bar{e}$  N ( $k^{u}li$  T) 55  $l\bar{u}ks T 42$ x N T 165 lukl N (lukli T) 27 xbesem T (belxsem N) 81 lôgôl N 26 xpī N 125 LEM N (lem T) 134 la T (alax N) 68 xpî'lyîm N 126 xs N T 166 La N (la T) 172 xtsē N (xts/E T) 54 Lā N (lā T) 173 xlep T (xlîp N) 53 łukłi T (lukl N) 27 xlem N (xlem T) 56 Lgo N (lgu T) 135 xina N (xina T) 127

## Suffixes (§§ 17-32)

## § 17. Suffixes following the Stem

There are quite a number of suffixes in the Tsimshian dialects, almost all of which are firmly united with the stem. The significance of most of these is much more ill-defined than that of the prefixes, but those that immediately follow the stem appear to be primarily modal elements. Some of them indicate the passive, causative, elimination of the object, etc. Their use shows great irregularities. These suffixes are followed by pronominal suffixes, while demonstrative elements and the interrogative element are always found in terminal position.

1. -En causative (Tsimshian: -En). In both dialects this suffix generally modifies the terminal consonant of the stem.

 $m\bar{e}tk^u$  full  $yd'\hat{o}xk^u$  to eat, singular  $txd'\hat{o}xk^u$  to eat, plural  $b\bar{a}'s\hat{\imath}x$  to divide, v. n.  $h\bar{e}$ - $\iota\bar{a}'q$  it breaks

hētku to stand, singular

bax to run
maqsku to stand, plural

 $qolk^*sk^u$  covered  $l\bar{o}$ - $la'qsk^ut$  she washes in 197.10  $h\bar{o}ksk^u$  to be with 91.8  $guksk^u$  to awake 121.9  $l\bar{e}'lb\hat{o}k^*sk^u$  whirlpool 104.12

Tsimshian:

sa'îpk hard
mâlk to be uneasy
môsk to be aboard, singular
hāosk annoyed
lāk: bent
bāo to run
gaksk to wake up, singular
lī'daksk to wake up, plural
hôksk to be with

lō-tq'al-hē't'en to place a thing upright against something and inside of something 131.3 mē't'.'en to fill yd'ôg'an to feed one person txd'ôg'an to feed several persons bā'sig'an to separate (v. a.) hē-tā'gan to break (v. a.) ba'an to cause to run ma'qsaan to place several things upright 8.1 qō'lk'saan to cover (v. a.) la'qsaan to wash (v. a.) 198.8 hu'ksaan to place with 36.8

sa'îp!en to harden
mâ'lk!en to force
mô'g'an to put aboard one object
hā'g'an to annoy
lā'k:!în to bend (v. a.)
bō'han to cause to run
ga'ksen to awaken one person
lī'deksen to awaken several
hô'ksen to place with

gu'ksaan to awaken 121.8

lē'lb'en to roll

2.  $-sk^u$  expresses primarily the elimination of the object of the transitive verb (Tsimshian -sk).

t'a'a to clap (v. a.) 34.10 suwa'n to blow (v. a.) 123.1

mal to tell (v. a.)  $g \cdot a'a$  to see (v. a.)  $d\bar{a}'mgan$  to pull (v. a.)

 $g\bar{o}$  to take (v. a.)

t'a'asku to clap (no object) 203.3 suwa'ansku to blow (no object) 124.8

ma' Laasku to tell news 161.15
g'a'asku to look 137.6
dā'mgansku to be in the act of
pulling 51.8
gōsku to extend 126.7

amm wambal namaa

Verbs with this ending often form verbal nouns:

 $d\bar{a}'pxan$  to nail  $s\bar{a}'\partial p'xn$  to love  $ay\bar{o}'q$  to command  $l\bar{e}'lb'xn$  to roll

d'ā'pxansk nail sī'ĉp'ensk love ayō'g'ask commander lē'lbîk:sk" whirlpool 104.12

|  $lu-t/\bar{u}'^oyu \ xb\bar{\imath}'^os$  I sweep out a  $t/\bar{u}^osk$  to sweep box |  $sz-y\cdot z'tgu \ wa'i$  I polish a pad- sz-yiz'task to polish dle |  $s\bar{\imath}'^ot$  to spin something |  $s\bar{\imath}^otsk$  to spin | hb'ksen to place with some- gan-hb'ksensk fastening-implething | ment

Undoubtedly related to the preceding are the following two:

- 3. - $k^{\omega}$  used commonly after terminal p, t, s, ts, q, x, t, and sometimes after l (Tsimshian: -k); and
- 4. -tk used after vowels, l, m, and n (Tsimshian: -tk).

Both of these have the same meaning, and seem to be primarily medial or semi-reflexive, while in other cases no clear reason for their use can be given. These endings are found regularly in the possessive form of names of animals. (See § 55.)

## Examples of -k are:

 $\hbar \bar{e}t$ - upright $\hbar \bar{e}t k^u$  to stand $g \bar{o}ks$ - to awake $g \bar{o}ksk^u$  to wake up $L\bar{e}s$ - finished $L\bar{e}sk^u$  to be finishedbats- to lift $batsk^u$  to be lifted

## Tsimshian:

### Examples of $-tk^u$ are:

 $d^a a$  to sit $d^a atk^u$  to be placed 215.1, 131.1sE-hwa' to name $sE-hwa'tk^u$  namedwb'b to invite $wb'btk^u$  to be invited 128.5halda'u to be witch $halda'uy^2tk^u$  be witched $d^a a' pxan nail$  $d^a a' pxan tk^u$  nailed $b b l a' n tk^u$  belt $b b l a' n tk^u$  belted

#### Tsimshian:

 $s\bar{s}'^op/En$  to love $s\bar{s}'^op/Entk$  loved $k\cdot'/\hat{s}n\bar{a}'m$  to give $km\cdot'/\hat{s}n\bar{a}'tk$  given $sE\cdot w\bar{a}^o$  to name $sEw\bar{a}'^otk$  namedplan sea-otternE-pla' ntgu my sea-otter

## These endings occur in many intransitive verbs, and in nouns:

 $d\bar{e}lpk^u$  short $metk^u$  full $ts^ipk^u$  strong $o'l\hat{i}k^usk^u$  to drift $ayaw\bar{a}'tk^u$  to cry $b\bar{e}sk^u$  to expect $m\hat{s}tk^u$  to scatter $da'lb\hat{i}k^usk^u$  to bend

ba'ask\* wind a'd'îk'sku to come ä'êmsku to blame lîslē'sku to hang mô'ôsku gray ts' Elā'sku canyon g'âtsk\* to be tired  $u\partial x k^u$  to follow  $d\bar{e}' l_{E} m_{E} x k^{u}$  to answer maxku to go aboard a canoe t'êLxku to shout  $\bar{a}'dz \hat{i}x k^u$  enough

aqLku to attain ia'Lku slimy alku fuel walku taboo dāmqıku friend tk.'ēlku child melku to shine dēlku bag mao'lku rope malku to put into fire ama'lku scab

It is uncertain in many of the endings in -sku whether they are derived from stems ending in -s, or whether they belong to the suffix -sku. The same is true of forms in -tku, which may be derived from stems ending in -t or represent the suffix -tk\*. The following have probably the suffix -tku:

valtku to return dalthu to meet dē'entku to guide lalthu slow ptaltku to climb

The same conditions are found in Tsimshian, but it does not seem necessary to give additional examples.

5. -A In the Tsimshian dialect, words ending in p, t, s, ts, q, x, t, and sometimes in l (i. e., those corresponding to the group with the suffix -k [no. 3, p. 345]) have, instead of -k (no. 2, р. 344), -л. The terminal consonant is here modified, as before the suffix -En (no. 1, p. 344).

dab to measure something  $t/\ddot{a}^{o}p$  to drive piles

 $da'p!_A$  to measure

 $t/\ddot{a}'^{o}p/A$  to be engaged in piledriving

se-wulg a'd to dye something huk-se-wulg a'd' A a dyer gats to pour out

gan-g'a'p!A a spade

huk-ga'ts! A one who pours out huk-bū's a one who splits būs to split

6. -s is used in Nisqa' and in Tsimshian in place of -k and -tk (nos. 3) and 4, p. 345) after k, x, k, q, and x.

 $\hat{o}x$  to throw bēku to lie

 $hwîl\bar{a}'x'$  to know

mag to put  $w \hat{o} q$  to dig

 $\partial k$ 's to fall (literally, to be thrown) sa-bē'kus to make lies  $sE-hwîl\bar{a}'x$ 's to teach (literally, to make known)

ma'gas to be put 11.14 wôgs to be buried

dzak to kill dzaks killed

medī'ek grizzly bear ne-medī'oksu my grizzly bear

Here the -s suffix is also used after p, although not regularly:

ne wä'lpsu my house

7. -Es appears in Tsimshian a few times after terminal p in place

lalb to plane down something la'lp!Es to plane  $l\bar{u}'^o b$  to sew something  $l\bar{u}'^{o}p!Es$  to sew

8. - c seems to mean in Behalf of.

 $q\bar{e}'$  Ent to chew  $q\bar{e}'$  Endex to chew for 36.5  $h\bar{a}p$  cover 8.15  $l\bar{e}-h\bar{a}'baxt$  it is on as a cover for it

67.7

*lē'lg'it* a feast

le'lq'itx a feast for somebody 83.1

9. -n. This suffix designates the indicative, and appears only preceding the suffixes of the first person singular and plural, and the second person plural of the intransitive verb and the same objects of the transitive verb.

āt gill-net

 $\bar{a}'lg'al$  to examine 138.8

äêsku to call

witku to come from

 $d\bar{a}'uL$  to leave

 $\bar{a}'tn\bar{e}\mathbf{E}$  I fish

ā'lg'alnēz I look at something

äêskunēE I call

wî'tkunēE I come from

dem dā'ulnēr Lē'sems I shall leave

for Nass river iē'enēe I go

 $i\bar{e}'E$  to go Tsimshian:

 $t'\bar{u}^o sq$  to sweep

bāo to run lī'omi to sing

 $w\bar{a}^o$  to find

 $t/\bar{u}'^{o}sgenu$  I sweep  $b\bar{a}^{\prime o}nu$  I run

lī'ominu I sing

 $t w\bar{a}'yinu$  he finds me  $t w\bar{a}'yin\mathbf{E}m$  he finds us

10. -d. The corresponding suffix -d appears in the indicative of many transitive verbs, both in Nass and in Tsimshian.

id'ēr what I roast 121.9

haba'l to take care of 143.1

hats to bite 65.9, 127.8

lîgi agō'ı dem hē'nîst what- dep hē'idenom we say 42.11 ever you say 59.3

 $q\bar{a}q$  to open

sax to shake something

and'el to allow 122.1

 $i\hat{a}'det$  he roasts it 121.7, 154.3

bâ' eldēe I take care of it

ha'tsdēE I bite

 $q\bar{a}'qd\bar{e}E$  I open something

sa'xdēE I shake it anâ' Eldē EI lend

 $egin{array}{lll} dzak \ dead & dza'kdu \ I \ kill \ bar u'\circ dut \ I \ wait \ for \ him \ gar a'\circ du \ I \ take \ \end{array}$ 

11. -ma may be, perhaps (Tsimshian: -ma).

 $lig'\hat{\imath}-gula'eldema\ L\hat{\imath}oqs$  may be three months 170.13  $n\delta'^{\circ}t$ -mae maybe he is dead 182.8  $s\bar{\imath}'eguman\bar{\imath}e$  maybe I am sick.

#### Tsimshian:

| n!inī' gwai k!unī,'omatgao this is what they may ask

## § 18. Pronominal Suffixes

The group of suffixes treated in the preceding section are followed by the pronominal suffixes, which will be described fully in §§ 50-51, and § 53. For the sake of completeness I give here a list of the suffixed pronouns:

First person singular					N8.88. - <i>ĒE</i>	Taimanian. $-\bar{u}, -\bar{i}$
First person plural .						- <b>m</b>
Second person singular		•			-n	- <b>n</b>
Second person plural			:		-8EM	-8EM
Third person					-t	-t
Third person plural.					-det	<i></i>

# § 19. Modal Suffixes following the Pronominal Suffixes

12. -g·ê might (Tsimshian: -g·î°n, -gun). The position of this suffix seems to vary.

nexna'yîtg'ê they might hear it 91.10 sī'êpkug'inēe I might be sick gwa'tstg'ê it might be dung 207.7

#### Tsimshian:

naha'ung ton maybe it is true
naha'unguna n!axno'yu it may be that it is true what I have
heard
n t!ū'useng ton (take care!) I might hit you!

13. -sEon evidently (Tsimshian).

| n/ini'et-seon evidently it is he | ne te qwa'tqeseon evidently there has been a fire

14. -sEn indeed! (Tsimshian).

| n!inī'et-sen indeed! it is he naha'unsen indeed! it is true

§§ 18, 19

## 15. -gat it is said (Tsimshian: -gat).

sg'ī'-gal ama xpē'îs there was a good box, it is said 19.4 (sg'ī to lie; ām good; -a connective; xpēîs box)

k''ax- $\bar{a}'m$ -gal t'Em- $q\bar{e}'st$  his head was good before, it is said 32.8 (k''ax- before;  $\bar{a}m$  good; t'Em- $q\bar{e}'s$  head)

tgōn-gal dem hwî'lem dem alâ'tku-gat nōm this, we are told, we shall do, we are told we shall swim in a shoal 70.6 (tgōn this; dem future; hwîl to do; -em we; alâ'tku to swim in a shoal; nōm we)

dem suwa'nt-gal lgō'ulkut he says he will cure his child 123.10 (suwa'n to cure; lgō'ulku child)

nē-gat-g·i di gwîx·-g·ēîpt he says he does not like to eat it 40.6 (nē-g·i not; di on his part; gwîx·- expert; g·ēîp to eat something)

## Tsimshian:

 $\mid s\bar{\imath}' EpgE-gat$  I hear he is sick

## § 20. Demonstrative Suffixes

There are two suffixes which are generally attached to the last word of a clause, and which indicate distance and presence in space and time. They are quite distinct from the demonstrative pronouns, and determine the demonstrative character of the whole sentence. These elements are much simpler in the Nass dialect than in Tsimshian, and their general discussion in the latter dialect will be given in §§ 24-31. In Nass we find:

## -g·ê absence and distance:

nlk''ē a'lg'îxtg'ê then he said 53.1 (referring to one who is absent and to an event of the past)

nık·'ē lō-ya'ltkuı g·a'tg·ê then the man returned 113.3

yu'kdēr ga'ng'ê ra dza'pdet they took the sticks they had made 114.7 (yuk to take; gan stick; dzap to make)

haô'ng ê nakut da yu'ksa before long it was evening 152.14 (haô'n it is soon: naku long; yu'ksa evening)

## -st presence and nearness:

dem q'aiyî'm ō'k'sdē hawî'leist my arrow will drop near by 19.15 (dem future; q'ai near; -em connective [see § 22]; ōk's to drop; hawî'l arrow)

tgönz göuîst this I guess 28.2

sem-hō'daast it is true 29.13

txë'ldesemest ye will burn 215.10

ndārda dem ā'd'îk'sdest when will be come?

In some cases a terminal -t is found which indicates presence and nearness and corresponds to the analogous form in Tsimshian.

na-gan-hwîlā'gut therefore I did so 113.6

This element is, however, quite rare in our texts.

# Connectives (§§ 21-31) § 21. GENERAL REMARKS

The connective suffixes form a class by themselves. They are always terminal in the word and connect two words that are syntactically related. Therefore they never stand at the end of a clause. We must distinguish between attributive and adverbial connectives, and predicative and possessive connectives.

### § 22. ATTRIBUTIVE AND ADVERBIAL CONNECTIVES

- -Em. The connective -Em is used to express attributive and adverbial relations. Thus it occurs as—
  - (1) Connective between adjective and noun.
  - (2) Connective between two nouns, one of which has the function of an attribute.
  - (3) Connective between an adverb or adverbial phrase and a verb. The following examples illustrate the use of -Em:
  - 1. Between adjective and noun. In this case the adjective always precedes the noun, and the connective is firmly attached to it. The analogy with the second group suggests that the adjective expresses the class of things referred to, while the following noun qualifies the particular kind; as që'squm gan, A SMALL TREE (namely, a slender thing which is a tree, or which belongs to the class "tree").

sīsō'sɛm gan little sticks 27.15
wī-hē'ldɛm g at many people 28.12
Lgo-guä'ɛm Lgo-tk''ē' Lk'' little poor little boy 155.15
mā'k sgum lô'ôp white stone 139.8
wô'ôm wan the invited deer 83.3

#### Tsimshian:

sī'lg'idem lgū'olg the eldest child ZE 78346 lgū'olgem hanā'x little woman ZE 797.32 gwa'deksem yē'on cool fog ZE 797315 lū'nksem sëipg dry bone

Numerals do not take this connective, but take -*L* instead (see § 23) (Tsinishian, -*A* pp. 351, 353).

\$\$ 21, 22



2. Between nouns. The first noun takes the ending -em, and designates the kind of thing referred to, while the second noun specifies the class.

g'a'dem gan a wooden man 89.12 (a man belonging to the class "wood")

 $daw\bar{\imath}'sem~l\hat{o}'\hat{o}p$  a stone ax 147.14 (an ax belonging to the class "stone")

huxdā'g'intgum q'auq'ā'ō crow-grandchildren 19.15 (grandchildren of the class "crow")

a'lg'igam Ts'Emsa'n Tsimshian language 20.9 (speech of the class "Tsimshian")

amg'ä'g'îm Lē'sems sawbill ducks of Nass river 114.5 (sawbill ducks of the kind [belonging to] Nass river)

huwa'm had'a'xku bad names 41.12 (names of the kind "bad")

## Tsimshian:

gô'ip!em ts!al light-face g'a'mgem dzī'us day-sun ZE 7813 ts!a'bem yê'ts!esg the animal tribe 78340 mâ'sem an'ô'n thumb of hand 792227 yê'ts!esgem gilhau'li the animals of the woods

#### 3. Adverbial.

hadā'gam a'lg'îxs Txä'msem Txä'msen spoke badly 38.11
sem-hō'm nô'ôt he was truly dead 9.6
wī-t'ē'sem yô'ôxkut he ate much 36.10 (yô'ôxku is an intransitive verb)

ts'ō'sg'îm mast he grew a little 175.8

k'uL-wī-yē'tgum xdax't he was hungry (going) about 39.9

#### Tsimshian:

dza'gem xst'ôx to be dead asleep ks-qâ'gôm a'lg îx to speak first ks-qâ'gôm man-a'xlg he reaches up first

-a. The connective -a is used in a number of cases in place of -Em. It would seem that its use is determined largely by the particular qualifying term. Some of these seem to take -a regularly in place of -Em. In Tsimshian this connective is -A; it appears regularly after numerals.

ama hwîlp a good house 48.3
wī-ama g'at very good man 203.7
ama a'lg'îxt he spoke well 45.6
wī-ama hwa'ndēt they sat down very well 83.4
gwa'lgwa txō'x' dry halibut 161.10
hē'ya ēlx fat of seal 161.12
t'ē'la ēlx oil of seal 47.2

leksg·ig·a'de biā'lstet various stars

ama y!ā'o't a good man

wī-lē'okse lu-am'ā'm ga-gâ'odemt we are exceedingly glad

k!e'relde g·a'mget one moon

k!â'lde g·ad one person

hē'lde ts!ap many people

### § 23. PREDICATIVE AND POSSESSIVE CONNECTIVES

The development of these connectives is quite different in Nass and in Tsimshian, and the two dialects must be treated quite independently. In the present section I give the Nass forms. In all cases where the connection between words is not attributive or adverbial, -z or -s are used as connectives, -s being applied in all cases where the following noun is a proper name designating a person, a personal pronoun, a demonstrative pronoun designating a person, or a term of relationship. In all other cases -L is used. With terms of relationship -s is not always used, but -L may be substituted.

The particular cases in which -L and -s are used are the following:

- 1. In sentences with intransitive verb, connecting predicate and nominal subject.
  - (a) -L.

    lē-ia'qL oq a copper hung on it 138.3

    g·ô'ôL māl there lay a canoe 138.13

    hwîlL ts'Emē'lîx' the beaver did so 81.4

    ts'ēnL ts'Emē'lix' the beaver entered 77.4

    a'lg'îxL wē-g'a't the great man said 195.15
  - (b) -s. gali-iä's Ts'ak: Ts'ak: went up the river 117.6 hwîls dep-bē'ebē my uncles did so 157.9 xdax:s Txä'msem Txämsem was hungry 21.2
- 2. In sentences with transitive verb, connecting predicate and nominal subject.
  - (a) ·L.

    nlk·'ēt lēlk·l guslî'skut then watched his nephews 9.5

    wô'ôl ts'emē'lix· axt the beaver invited the porcupine 73.2

    lô-d'ep-lô'ôdel sîg-idemna'q an'ô'nt inside down put the chieftainess her hand 183.8
  - (b) -s.

    k'ul-yu'kdets Ts'ak· lô'ôp Ts'ak· carried a stone about 118.9

    nlk'ēt ôx's Ts'ak· lgo-qa'mt Ts'ak· struck a little fire 118.12

    t hwas Txä'msem hwîlp Txä'msem found a house 43.3

(a) -L.

- 3. In sentences with transitive verb, connecting predicate and nominal object.
  - (a) -L.

    dem lō-ma'qdēel ts'ē'sgun I shall put thy louse in 43.10

    nlk:'ēt g'a'al t'ē'sem g'at then he saw a large man 95.10

    ā'mlē wô'ôl na'k'sîn (good you) invite your wife! 205.10
  - (b) -s.

    nlk''ēt sa-gō'udēts Ts'ak' they took Ts'ak' off 120.15
- 4. In sentences with transitive verb, the object may sometimes precede the verb, and is then connected with the predicate by -L or -s.

txanē'tk'u 1 qal-ts'îp-ts'a'pı g·ē'daxdēt they asked all the towns 87.3

naxı g'a'at he saw bait 50.15

- 5. To express the possessive relation between nouns.
  - qa-qalā'nı hvolpı sem'â'g'ît the rear of the house of the chief
    137.8
    anē'sı gan the branch of a tree 137.9
    magâ'nı K'san' the mouth of Skeena river 15.3

qa-wē'nı k'ebō' the teeth of the wolves 84.4 q'dɛldd'lı ıg'îı hana'qg'ê six were the children of the woman 97.8

- (b) -s.

  qal-ts'a'ps dep neguâ'ôt the town of their fathers 107.13

  ndzē'ets Ts'ak' the grandmother of Ts'ak' 119.8

  xpē'îsîs Lôgôbolā' the box of Lôgôbolā' 19.4
- 6. Between definite and indefinite numerals and nouns, the connective is -L.

k''āll sem'ā'g'īt one chief 137.1
k''ēll sa one day 137.2
k''ä'gul hân one salmon 169.8
q'ai-t'epxā'l qāq even two ravens 155.4
bagadē'll lg'ît two children 159.5
bagadē'll nak'st two wives 194.6
wi-hē'll lāx many trout 157.6
txanē'tk"l q'aima'qsit many youths 141.10
g'ul-ganē'l ha-xdak"se'mest all your arrows 144.10

A few indefinite numerals may also take the attributive connective -Em.

wi-hē'ldem q'aima'qsit many youths 144.3 44877—Bull. 40, pt 1—10——23



- 7. Connecting the preposition a (see § 67) with the following noun.
  - (a) -L.

    k''atsk''t al qal-ts'a'p they landed at the town 107.13

    lē-hwî'lt al lax-lô'ôp it is on the stone 109.4

    a'lg'îxl qal-ts'a'p al dem sem'â'g'it the people said he should be chief 163.10 (a'lg'îx to say; dem future; sem'â'g'ît chief)

    mālt al nak'st he told his wife 165.11
  - (b) -s.

    a'lg'îxt as ne'tg'ê he said to him 157.1

    a'lg'îxt as Ts'ak' he said to Ts'ak' 120.6

    k'ēt sg'it as Txä'msem he laid it before Txä'msem 48.10
- 8. Connecting the conjunction gan with the following noun.
  - (a) -L.

    hē'ya ēlx qunL hē'ya dzīx fat of seal and fat of porpoise 161.12

    lāx qanL sesō'sem hân trout and little salmon 157.4
  - (c) -s.  $n\bar{e}'$  En qans  $n\bar{e}'$  E qans  $ts'\bar{e}'$  Edz $\bar{e}$  you and I and my grandmother

    157.10

## PREDICATIVE AND POSSESSIVE CONNECTIVES OF THE TSIM-SHIAN DIALECT (§§ 24-31)

### § 24. General Characteristics of the Connectives

While the connectives -s and -t seem to be regularly used in the Nass dialect, they are absent in Tsimshian in many cases, and a much more complicated series takes their place. We have to distinguish between the connectives in indicative and subjunctive sentences; those belonging to the subject of the intransitive and object of the transitive verb; and those belonging to the subject of the transitive verb. Furthermore, those belonging to common nouns must be distinguished from those belonging to proper nouns; and in each form, indefinite location, presence, and absence, are treated differently. Some of these endings are very rare; others, the existence of which may be expected by analogy, have so far not been found. The series of forms in which a proper name appears as subject of the transitive verb is, for instance, hardly found at all, because sentences of this form are almost invariably rendered by a periphrastic form: "It was (John) who" . . . It will be noticed in the following discussion that the prepositional and possessive forms agree with the predicative forms. The peculiar agreement of the indicative connectives of the subject of the transitive verb and of the subjunctive connectives of the subject of the intransitive verb corresponds to a similar phenomenon that may be observed in the pronominal forms. These will be discussed in § § 49-50. The series of connectives may be represented as follows:

	A. Indicative.		B. Subjunctive.				
	(a) Indefi- nite.	(b) Present.	(c) Ab- sent.	(a) Indefi- nite.	(b) Present.	(c) Ab- sent.	
1. Subject of intransitive verb, and object of transitive verb. 2. Subject of transitive verb 1. Subject of intransitive	-B -B	-dz -sdz(?)	-9E -89E	-E -(E)	-sdz -dz	-8g E -lg E	I. Common nouns
verb, and object of transitive verb	- <b>z</b> t ?	-d <b>e</b> t ?	-g <b>z</b> t -s	-8 -d#t	-des -det	-8 -lg≣t	II. Proper names.

§ 25. Predicative Connectives

In the present section I shall give examples of these various classes of connectives, such as occur between verbs and nouns.

#### A I 1. Intransitive verbs, indicative, common nouns:

(a) Indefinite connective -E

da uks-hë'otge a'uta a ne-'gôdza a'kset then the porcupine stood at the edge of the water (da then; uks- toward water; hëotg to stand; a'ut porcupine; a at; ne- possessive; dzôg edge; aks water)

hô'ltge ba'ntgega a'ksga° his belly was full of water (hôltg full; ban belly; gega development of preposition a |see § 28]; aks water)

 $s_{Em}$ - $b\bar{a}'^{o}s_{E}$   $sts.'\hat{a}'lga^{o}$  the beaver was much afraid ( $s_{Em}$ -very;  $b\bar{a}^{o}s$  afraid;  $sts.'\hat{a}l$  beaver)

(b) Present connective -dE

na-st $\bar{u}'$ olde  $lg\bar{u}'$ olgem  $g'.\bar{u}'$ otgao the boy went along (na- past; st $\bar{u}$ ol to go in company;  $lg\bar{u}$ olg child; -em attributive connective [§ 22];  $g'.\bar{u}$ ot man)

da al ts!elem-ha'pde n!ā'oxlet but then the killerwhales rushed in (da then; al but; ts!elem- into from the side; hap to rush [plural]; n!āoxl killerwhales)

(c) Absent connective -qE

da  $na-b\bar{a}'^{o}g \in \hat{o}' lg a^{o}$  then the white bear ran out of the woods (na- out of woods;  $b\bar{a}^{o}$  to run;  $\hat{o}l$  bear)

da gik kse-nā'olg eg a sts!â'lgao then the beaver breathed again (gik again; kse- out; nāolg breath; sts!âl beaver)

1

- A I 1. Transitive verbs, indicative, common nouns. It is difficult to find the connectives of transitive verbs before the object, because the order of words in the sentence requires ordinarily that the subject shall follow the predicate. The cases here given, except the first one, contain the pronominal subject of the third person.
  - (a) Indefinite connective -E

    k!wa'tgE nE-ha-xba'gA lyū'olgut my child has lost
    his knife (k!watg to lose; nE- possessive; ha-xba'g

    knife; lgūolg child; -u my)

    wā'idE hā'osEt he has found the dog

    dEm dza'kdEdA hāos he will kill the dog
  - (b) Present connective -de

    ne la ma'ldede wula dza'hedes Gunaxnēsemg'a'd he
    had told what did Gunaxnēsemg'ad (la past; mal to
    tell; wul verbal noun; dzab to do)
  - (c) Absent connective -gE

    wā'itgE hā'osgao he has found the dog

    dEm dza'kdetgA hā'osgao he will kill the dog

#### A I 2. Transitive verbs, indicative, common nouns:

- (a) Indefinite connective -E
  wa'i hana'xyE ha'osgE the woman found the dog
  agwi-ba'tsgEnE-qā''dumy lance stands outside ES 94.20
- (c) Absent connective -sgE

  gū'îsgE huksulī' EnsgEtgE ô'lgaº the hunter hit the bear

  (gū to hit; huksulī' Ensg hunter; ôl bear)

  dem dza'kdesga g·ibā'uga hā'osgao the wolf will kill the

  dog (dzak to kill; -d- [see § 17.10]; g·iba'u wolf;
  - da dī-l!ī-wa'îsge wī-mes-ô'lga qal-ts!a'pgao the great bear found the town (dī on his part; l!ī-on; wa to arrive, to find; wī- great; mes- white; ôl bear; qalempty; ts!ap tribe)

# A II 1. Intransitive verb, indicative, proper names:

 $h\bar{a}^{o}s \log$ 

- (a) Indefinite connective -et
  ama wā'lt Tom Tom is rich
  da hā'ut Sadzapanī'l then Sadzapanī'l said
  dū'olzget Asdi-wālt Asdi-wā'l can not move ES 90.15
- (b) Present connective -det

  l!ī-q!an-dā'uldet Astiwā'lgao Astiwā'l has gone
  across (l!ī- on; q!an- over; dā'ul to leave)
- (c) Absent connective -get  $b\bar{a}'^{o}get Dz\hat{o}'nga^{o}$  John is running

# A II 2. Transitive verb, indicative, proper names:

(c) Absent connective -8

da nī'edzes Astiwā'l wul hô'ltye . . . then Astiwā'l saw that it was full (nī to see; hôlty full)

#### B I 1. Intransitive verbs, subjunctive, common nouns:

(a) Indefinite connective -E

adat nī' wul gatgô'it!Eksa t!Epxadū'olda y!ū'ota then they saw two men coming (ada then; t- he [subj.]; gô'it!Eks [plural gatgô'it!Eks] to come; t!Epxadū'ol two persons; y!ū'ot man)

a wul hasā' qa sts.'âl because the beaver desired (hasā' q to desire; sts.'âl beaver)

#### (b) Present connective -dE

dze ha'usde sem'â'g it a k!â'i if the chief says to me
 (dze conditional; ha'u to say; sem'â'g it chief; a to;
 k!â'i me)

asī dā'ulsde t'în-gā'osda na'ksen he who took your wife has just left (asī just; da'ul to leave; t he; în-who; gāo to take; naks wife; -en thy)

(c) Absent connective -sgE

adu wul  $txal-i\bar{a}'^osgE\ b\bar{a}'^osgEga^o$  then his fear increased  $(txal-i\bar{a}'^o$  to increase;  $b\bar{a}^osg$  fear)

wul lu-la'psge a'ksgao where the water is deep (lu- in; lap deep; aks water)

 $n!\bar{\imath}n\bar{\imath}'gan\ ha'usgE\ sts!\hat{a}'lga^o$  therefore the beaver said  $(n!\bar{\imath}n\bar{\imath}'$  it is that; gan reason)

# B I 1. Transitive verbs, subjunctive, common nouns:

(a) Indefinite connective -E

ada n dem sa-l/ī-t/ū'ºsa ne-galdem-u'ksgu I shall suddenly push over on it my bucket (n I; dem future sa-suddenly; l/ī-on; t/ū's to push; ne- possessive; galdem- receptacle; aks water; -u my)

adat lu-xba-q'asgô'dze ne-ga-ts'elts'a'lsge hā'oxgao then he cut (in) across the faces of the geese (t he; lu- in; xba- across; gôdz, with plu. obj. q'as'gôdz to cut; ne- possessive; ga- plural; ts'al, distributive plural ts'elts'a'l face; hāox goose)

(b) Present connective -8dE

...  $t\hat{i}n g\bar{a}'^{o}sde na'ksen$  he who took thy wife

(c) Absent connective -sqE

adat ge'redexsye hanā'oxgao then he asked the woman (t he; ge'redeg to ask; hanā'og woman)

dat wul sū'osgē maā' wulkgao then he shook the rope (sū to shake; maā' wulk rope)

#### B I 2. Transitive verb, subjunctive, common nouns:

(a) Indefinite connective -E

adat ts! Elem-ks-gâ' ge xē' get first foam came in (t it,

subj.; ts! Elem- into, from the side; ks- extreme;

 $g\hat{a}g$  first;  $x\bar{e}^{o}g$  foam) (b) Present connective -dE

adat g'ap-yā'okede txan!ī' ga-wula-dza'bet then all the hunters really pursued it (g'ap-really; yā'ok to pursue; txan!ī' all; ga-plural; wula-dza'b hunter)

(c) Absent connective -tqE

ada wult kse-hashë'otstye sem'â'g'itge hanā'naxtgao then the chief sent out the women (kse- out; hëts plural obj.; hashë'ts to send; sem'-â'g'it chief; hanā'g [plural hanā'nag] woman)

adat  $n\bar{e}'^{o}dz$  et  $y_{A}$  sts!  $\hat{a}'ly_{E}$   $n\bar{i}'^{o}tya^{o}$  then the beaver saw him  $(n\bar{i}^{o}dz)$  to see; sts!  $\hat{a}l$  beaver;  $n!\bar{i}^{o}t$  he)

# B II 1. Intransitive verb, subjunctive, proper names:

(a) Indefinite connective -s
la dem bā°s Dzôn John was running
ada wul sī'epges Tôm Tom was siek

(b) Present connective -des

wula dza'bedes Gunaxnēsemg'a'd what Gunaxnē
semg'a'd was doing

(c) Absent connective -s

hi-ts/ī'ens Gunaxnēsemg'a'tga Gunaxnēsemg'a'd

ada wul sem-bā'os Gunaxnēsemg'u'tgao then Gunaxnēsemg'a'd ran fast

# B II 2. Transitive verb, subjunctive, proper names:

(b) Present connective -det

ada wult ye'redaxdet Ksem-q!asgâ'osgao then Crane-Woman asked him (ge'redag to ask; ksem- female; q!asqâ'os crane)

adat dôxdet Gunaxnesemg'a'tge lūdem me-sī'onsgao then Gunaxnēsemg'a'd took the copper wedge (dôx to take; lūd wedge; -em attributive connective; mesīons copper)

(c) Absent connective -tget

adat ge'reda.rtget negwā'otge klge'rem y!ū'odatgao then the father asked his sons (ge'redag to ask; negwāot father; klger children; -em attributive connective; y!ū'od man)

ada al wult lī'o'sxdet Astiwā'lgao then Astiwā'l counted it (līotsx to count)

#### § 26. Connectives between Subject and Object

In sentences with transitive verb as predicate, the subject generally follows the predicate and precedes the object. The connectives between subject and object are in all sentences, and for both common nouns and proper names, -E, -dE, -gE, which generally agree with the predicate connective.

#### A I 2. Indicative, common nouns:

- (a) (with -E)  $wa'i hana'gA h\bar{a}'^osEt$  the woman found the dog
- (c) (with -gE) dEm dza'kdEsga g`ibā'ugA hā'osgao the wolf will kill the dog

### B I 2. Subjunctive, common nouns:

- (a) (with -E) ada wult gā'odet Gunaxnēsemg'a'de hakdū'ostga then Gunaxnēsemg'a'd took his knife
  - ada dit wagait-lu-yā'oketget Asdi-wā'lde ts!emga'inaga'o then Asdi-wā'l also followed in the path (di on his part; -t he; wagait entirely; lu-in; yā'ok to follow; ts!em- in; ga'ina path)
  - demt bax-gâ'ode la'msu ma'ti my son-in-law will go after mountain-goats (see § 29)
- (a) (with -de) ada al sa-nī'odze ne-ts'a'bem ya'ts!esgede wul kse-gwa'ntge wī-gô'ep!a, but then suddenly saw the animal tribe the great light rising
- (b) (with -gA) ada la hiā'ogut sex-dâ'ode lguwā'lksetgA nese-meg'â'xstgao then the princess began to gather her berries (hiā'ogu to begin; sex-dâ'o to gather, to hold fast; lguwā'lkset princess; ne- possessive; seto make, to gather; meg'â'xst berries)
- (c) da dī l/ī-wā'îsgē wī-mēs-ô'lgē qal-ts.'a'pga° then the great white bear, on his part, found the town (dī-on his part; l/ī-on; wā to find; wī-great; mes-white; ôl bear; gal-empty; ts.'ap tribe)
- (c) da voulut y!aga-ks-dū'oltge hanā'naxge su-p!a'sem y!ū'otagas then the women accompanied the young man down (Tsimshian Texts, New Series, Publications of the American Ethnological Society, Vol. III, 78.29; y!aga- down; ks- extreme; dūol to accompany; -t he; hanā'nax, plural, women; sunewly; p!as to grow; -em adjectival connective; y!ūota man)
- (c) adat wul k'!ina'mdet Asdiwā'lge gô'kge . . . then Asdiwā'l gave the basket . . . (Ibid., 98.17; k'!ina'm to give; -det connective B II 2b; gôk basket)

So far I have not been able to find examples in which proper names appear as objects.

Digitized by Google

#### § 27. Possessive Connectives

The possessive connectives differ in indicative and subjunctive sentences, and it seems that the complete series must be as follows:

	I. Common nouns.			
	(a) Indefinite.	(b) Present.		II. Proper names.
A. Indicative	-B (-B)	-d R -8d R	-g B -8g B	}-8

I have not been able to get examples of the whole series.

- A I. (a) Indefinite connective -E  $n!\bar{\imath}n\bar{\imath}' nE-w\bar{a}'lbE sEm'\bar{a}'g'\bar{\imath}t$  this is the house of the chief
  - (b) Present connective -dE

    nE-mele-l/ī-q/d'olsxan nE-ga-ts/uwā'lde hā'oset the fingers

    of the dog were six on each (paw) (nE- past; mele- each;

    l/ī- on; q/âlt six; -sxan long; nE- possessive; ga- plural;

    ts/uwā'l finger; hā's dog)
  - (c) Absent connective -yE

    g\bar{u}'gA \, dz\hat{o}'gat \, gesgE \, qal-ts!a'pgE \, nE-w\bar{u}'lptga^\circ\ who lived in

    the houses of the town (g\bar{u} \, who; \, dz\hat{o}g \, to \, camp; \, gesgE

    from a in [see \\$ 28]; \, qal-ts!a'b \, town; \, w\bar{a}lb \, house)
- B I. (b) Present connective -sdE  $ada\ nE\ wul\ n\bar{\imath}^o\ nE-w\bar{a}'lbsdE\ y'.\bar{u}'^ota$  then I saw the house of the man  $(nE\ I;\ n\bar{\imath}^o\ to\ see;\ w\bar{a}lb\ house;\ y'.\bar{u}'^ot\ man)$ 
  - (c) Absent connective -sgE

    ada wul gwa'lsgsgE nE-wā'lbsgE y'.\(\bar{u}'^{\circ}ta\) then the house of
    the man was burnt
- B II.  $n\bar{a}^{o}l$  demt în-na'ksga  $lg\bar{u}'^{o}lges$  Gau'o? who will marry Gauo's daughter?  $(n\bar{a}^{o}$  who; dem future; t'în- he who; naksg to marry;  $lg\bar{u}^{o}lg$  child)

txa-n'\bar{i}' ne-ligi-w\bar{a}'ls negw\bar{a}'odengao all the wealth of thy father (txa-n'\bar{i}' all; ne- possessive; ligi-w\bar{a}'l wealth; ne- gw\bar{a}'od father; -n thy)

#### § 28. Prepositional Connectives

The general preposition a, which has been described in the Nass dialect (§ 23.7), occurs apparently alone in Tsimshian; but it seems more likely that the a without connective must be considered as a special form for aE (see § 29). With connectives we find both the indicative and subjunctive forms.

§§ 27, 28

	I. Common nouns.		II.	Proper nam	es.	
	(a) Indefinite.	(b) Present.	(c) Absent.	(a) Indefinite.	(b) Present.	(c) Absent.
A. Indicative B. Subjunctive	a a	da asda	gA asya	as	dEs	gEs

Furthermore, several of these forms occur contracted with demonstrative d and q; as—

deda gega desda gesga

#### I A. (a) Indefinite a

 $k/a-\bar{a}'m$  a  $txa-n/\bar{\imath}'$   $y\hat{a}'^o$  it is better than all things (k/a exceedingly;  $\bar{a}m$  good;  $txa-n/\bar{\imath}'$  all;  $y\hat{a}^o$  something)

da uks-hë otge a'uta a ne-dzôga a'kset then the porcupine stood at the edge of the water (da then; uks-toward water; hë otg to stand; a'uta porcupine; ne-possessive; dzôg edge; aks water)

(b) Present da

lep-lgusge'resge sts!d'lda lax-a'kset the beaver himself was happy in the water (lep-self; lgusge'resg happy; sts!dl beaver; lax- surface; aks water)

(c) Absent ga

hô'ltge ba'ntgega a'ksgao his belly was full of water (hôltg full; ban belly; -t his; gega from ga; aks water)

#### I B. (a) Indefinite a

la bax-a'xlget a ne-miyā'n wī-sa'menga' he came up to the foot of the great spruce tree (la past; bax- up; axlg arrive; ne- possessive; miyā'n foot of tree; wī- great; sa'men spruce)

(b) Present asda

ada al l/ī-q!an-dā'uldao a'sde ne-ts!uwā'n sganē'ostgao but he has gone over the top of the mountain (al but; l/īon; q!an- over; dā'ul to leave; ne- possessive; ts!uwā'n top; sganē'ost mountain)

(c) Absent asga ada hā'usga a'uta asga sts!â'lgao then said the porcupine to the beaver

# II. (a) Indefinite as

ada ha'ut na'kst as nē'ot then his wife said to him

(b) Present des

da-ya't  $Astiw\bar{a}'l\ des\ negw\bar{a}'^otgu^o$  said  $Astiw\bar{a}'l$  to his father

(c) Absent ges
da'wula ha'usga a'uta ges nī'otgao then the porcupine said
to him

Examples of the forms  $desd_A$  and gesga are the following:

ne n kse'ranu desda da'uldaº I went out (at) some time ago da wī-am-ha'usga a'uta gesga sts!â'lgaº then the porcupine shouted to the beaver

The forms in  $ded_A$  and  $geg_A$  occur in the translations of the Gospels with great frequency; but I have not been able to find any examples except the one given before under A I (c).

#### § 29. Phonetic Modification of the Connectives

1. All forms in  $\varepsilon$  described in the preceding paragraphs have no ending after the vowels l, m, n, and r.

ada al sger a'uta . . . then the porcupine lay . . . adat k: !înā'm ne-wundâ'otgao then he gave him tobacco da wul wā'l ne-lū'du because of what happened to my wedge ada demt q!â'pegan leksâ'gat then it will obstruct the doorway (q!âpegan to obstruct; leksâ'g doorway)

stū'op!el wul t!āo na'ksen your wife is in the rear of the house (stū'op!el rear of house; t!āo to sit [singular]; nuks wife; -en thy)

 $a \, lat \, n\bar{\imath} \, g\hat{o}'ep!at$  when he saw the light

2. The endings beginning with s lose this sound after words with terminal s; for instance,

ada sem- $b\bar{a}'^{o}sg_{A}$  sts! $\hat{a}'lga^{o}$  then the beaver was much afraid  $(b\bar{a}^{o}s$  afraid;  $b\bar{a}'^{o}sg_{A}$  instead of  $b\bar{a}'^{o}s$ - $sg_{A}$ )

#### § 30. Connectives of the Conjunction AND

The conjunction AND, when expressed by di or gan, takes the connectives s and l, as in the Nass dialect—the former before proper names, some terms of relationship, and pronouns designating persons; the latter before common nouns.

n!e'ren dis n!e'riu thou and I
gwaº dis gwvo that one and this one
Dzôn dis Tôm
Dzôn gans Tôm
John and Tom

#### On the other hand:

 $gwa^o \ dil \ gw\bar{\imath}^o$  that thing and this thing  $y!\bar{u}'^o ta \ dil \ han\bar{a}'^o g \ y!\bar{u}'^o ta \ ganl \ han\bar{a}'^o g \$  the man and the woman

#### § 31. The Connective -ł

Besides its use with the conjunctions di and gan, the connective -l is used in negative, conditional, and interrogative sentences, be-§§ 29-31 tween the intransitive verb and its subject, and between the transitive verb and its object.

awa'lgE dzakl wan the deer is not dead yet (awa'lgE not yet; dzak dead; wan deer)

a'lge dī hē'tgel wālb asge gwa'sgagao there was no house there (alge not; dī on its part; hētg to stand; wālb house; asge at [see § 28]; gwa'sga that; -gao [see § 20])

a'lget dza'gul wan he did not kill the deer (dza'g to kill)

a'lge āml demt wula'idel g'at it is not good that the people should know it (ām good; dem future, nominal particle; wulā'i to know; g'ad people)

#### In interrogative sentences:

du nāºt dem dedū'o'lsedel txā'lpxade wul k'.'îpk'.'a'pl sa al mela-k'.'e'reldel g'omk a txas-k'.'â'o'let? who will live (with) forty days each month throughout the year? (du demonstrative; nāº who; dem future; dedū'o'ls to live; txālpx four; wul being; k'.'ap ten round ones, k'.'îpk'.'a'p distributive; sa day; a at; mela- each; k'.'e'rel one round one; g'amk sun, moon; a at; txas- along, throughout; k'.'â'l, year)

#### § 32. Suffixes of Numerals

In the Nass river dialect, only three classes of numerals have distinctive suffixes. These are:

- -âl human beings
- -kus canoes
- $-al^{\circ}\hat{o}n$  fathoms (derived from the stem  $\hat{o}n$  hand)

In the Tsimshian dialect the corresponding suffixes occur also, and, besides, another one used to designate long objects. These are:

- -âl human beings
- -sk canoes
- $-El^2\hat{o}'n$  fathoms
- -sxan long objects

The numerals will be treated more fully in § 57.

#### § 33. Contraction.

The Tsimshian dialects have a marked tendency to form compound words by contraction which is apparently based partly on weakening of vowels, partly on the omission of syllables. In some cases it can be shown that omitted syllables do not belong to the stem of the word that enters into composition; while in other cases this is doubtful. Since my material in the Tsimshian dialect is better, I will give the Tsimshian examples first.

§§ 32, 33



Contraction by weakening of vowels:

t'Em- $l\bar{a}'n$  steersman; for t'! $\bar{a}^o$ m g-i- $l\bar{a}'n$  sitting-stern (t'! $\bar{a}^o$  to sit; g-i- $l\bar{a}'n$  stern of canoe)

negutshā'os smart, frisky; for negwā'ots hāos father of dog ste'mâ'n humpback salmon; for stâm hân on one side salmon lebe ts'āog kidney-fat; for lâobe ts'āog fat of stone (i. e., of kidney)

 $lebe-\hat{o}'n$  biceps; for  $l\hat{a}'^obe\ an'\hat{o}'n$  arm-stone

ts! \(\bar{u}nE\) l!\(\bar{i}\)-h\(\bar{e}^{o}tg\) he stands on the end of it; for ts!\(uw\bar{a}'n\)

Here belongs also the particle kse-fluid; for aks water:

ksE-gwa'nuks spring of water.

Following are examples of contraction by omission of prefixes:

t!Em- $l\bar{a}'n$  steersman, for  $t!\bar{a}^{o}m$   $g!i-l\bar{a}'n$ 

t!Em-ts!âēg harpooneer, for t!āom g·i-ts!â'ēg sitting bow

 $n_E$ -kslunī'osk looking-glass, for  $n_E$ -g'ileks-lu-nī'osk where backward in one looks. It seems probable that g'il- is a separable part of g'ileks-

t/Em-g·ā'ni the one up river, for t/ā°m g·ig·ä'ni, is not used, but is understood; also t/Em-hau'li the one in the woods; for t/ā°m g·ilhau'li.

Contraction with omission of syllables that are not known as prefixes seems to occur in—

sig·idemna'x chieftainess; for sig·idem hana'g chief woman ha-l!ī-ta t!ī'oben when sea-lions lie on; for ha-l!ī-da t!īoben contains also a material change of the stem-form.

The name of the tribe itself is interpreted in a similar manner: ts.' Em-sia'n, for ts.' Em-ksia'n in the Skeena river. The latter word may possibly contain the element ks-fluid.

In the Nass river dialect the same kinds of contraction occur, but examples are not numerous:

anik·su-lō'galtk looking-glass; for an-gulik·s-lō-lā'galtk where back in one examines.

sig·idemna'q chieftainess; for sig·adem hā'naq chief woman sem'â'g'ît chief, seems to contain sem-very; g'at person.

Masemts'ē'tsk'' (a name); for  $m\bar{a}'semst~y\bar{o}-n-ts'\bar{e}'\bar{e}tsk''$  growing up having a grandmother ( $m\bar{a}s$  to grow; -m connective; -st [?];  $y\bar{o}-k''$  to have;  $n-ts'\bar{e}'\bar{e}ts$  grandmother)

Xpī'yelek (a name); for xpī-hagulâ'q partly sea-monster.

In connection with this phenomenon may be mentioned the use of some elements as verbs and nouns in fragmentary form,—or without affixes, as particles. An instance is:

hasa'ga to desire; saga dem  $y\bar{a}'^{o}gu$  I desire to go.

Digitized by Google

#### § 34. Incorporation

In expressions designating an habitual activity directed toward an object, the verbal stem and its object form a compound word, which is treated like a single verb, so that the object appears in an incorporated form. Examples of this form are the following:

#### Tsimshian:

```
gô'lts! Exgan to be a stick-carrier (gô'lts! Eg to carry; gan stick) gô'lts! Exlô'ob to be a stone-carrier (lôob stone) waliga'n to be a stick-carrier (wali to carry on back) g'Æ'r'la to be out harpooning seals (g'êlg to harpoon; E'rla seal) bū'sgan to split wood (būs to split) bū'slag to split fire-wood (lag fire) g'Àxbī'osnu I am a box-carver (g'êlg to carve; xbīos box) sE-yêl-wa'yînu I am a paddle-polisher (sE- to make; yêlg smooth; wa'i paddle)
```

#### Reduplication (§§ 35-38)

#### § 35. General Remarks

There are two types of reduplication in Tsimshian—one in which the beginning of the word, including the first consonant following the first vowel, is repeated; the other in which the initial sounds, including the first vowel, are repeated. The functions of these two methods of reduplication are quite distinct. The former is generally used to form plurals, and with a number of proclitic particles that imply more or less clearly the meaning of repetition or plurality. The second forms generally a progressive form, or, perhaps better, a present participle of the verb.

# § 36. Initial Reduplication, including the First Consonant following the First Vowel

This part of the word is repeated before the stem-syllable with weakened vowel. The accent of the word is not changed, and the reduplicated syllable remains separated from the word by a hiatus. This is particularly evident in words beginning with a vowel.

Singular	Plural	
$\partial x$ .	$ix'\hat{o}'x'$	to throw
$\bar{a}m$	${m E}m$ ' $ar{a}'m$	$\mathbf{g}$ ood
a'lg:îx	$oldsymbol{r} Ua' oldsymbol{l} oldsymbol{q} \cdot oldsymbol{\hat{\imath}} oldsymbol{x}$	to speak
ēt <b>kus</b>	$at$ ' $ar{e}'tar{k}^{m{u}}s$	to name

**§§** 34-36



This method of reduplication may be considered as duplication modified by phonetic laws. Monosyllabic words terminating with a consonantic cluster retain only the first sound of the cluster, thus avoiding a great accumulation of consonants in the middle of the word. The same causes probably affect polysyllabic words in such manner that the whole end of the word is dropped. This seems the more likely, as the repeated syllable has its vowel weakened. This process would easily reduce the terminal parts of polysyllabic words, when repeated, to consonantic clusters.

The weakened vowels have a tendency to change to  $\varepsilon$  or  $\varepsilon$ . The great variability of the vowels makes it difficult to establish a general rule.

(a) Monosyllabic words, beginning and terminating either with a vowel or with a single consonant:

Singular	Plural	
$\hat{o}x$ .	$\hat{u}x.\hat{o}'x.$	to throw
ô8	Es'0'8	$\mathbf{dog}$
$ar{a}m$	${f E}m'ar{m a}'m m$	$\mathbf{good}$
ôl	$al^{c}\hat{o}^{\prime}l$	bear
$dax^{\centerdot}$	$d \hat{\imath} x \cdot d a' x \cdot$	hill
d'ec	d'î $cd$ 'e' $c$	to push
Lap	$_{LEPLa'p}$	deep
baL	$b_{EL}ba'_{L}$	to spread out
hap	hapha'p	to shut
gan	gangu'n	tree
t'aq	$\begin{cases} t'aqt'a'q\\ \text{(but also } t'et'a'q) \end{cases}$	lake
$dz$ $\hat{o}q$	dzî $qdz$ ô $'q$	to camp
$t'ar{e}$	$t'$ E $ar{t'}ar{e}'$	valley
$mar{e}$ L	$m \hat{\imath}_{L} m ar{e}'_{L}$	to burn
$m\hat{e}$ L	$m$ î ${f L} m$ ê ${f '}$ ${f L}$	to tell
$goldsymbol{ar{\imath}} c$	$g \cdot \hat{\imath} c g \cdot \bar{\imath}' c$	wrong
lâ'ôp	leplâ'ôp	stone
tsap	$\it tseptsa'p$	to make
$ts$ $\bar{a}l$	$ts'\hat{\imath}lts'a'l$	face
$ts'ar{e}'\hat{\imath}p$	$ts$ ' $epts$ ' $ar{e}$ ' $\hat{i}p$	to tie
$q\hat{o}s$	qîsqo's	to jump
$\overline{dz}$	dzE $qdz$ ô $'q$	to camp
$n$ - $d\bar{z}a'm$	n- $dz$ e $mdz$ a' $m$	kettle

The vowel is apparently strengthened in

 $n\hat{o}'$   $n\bar{o}n\hat{o}'$  hole § 36



#### Tsimshian:

Singular	Plural	
ôy	$ay$ ' $\partial' y$	$\mathbf{to} \ \mathbf{throw}$
$\bar{a}m$	$am'ar{a}'m$	$\mathbf{good}$
hā°s	$hashar{a}'^os$	$\mathbf{dog}$
d <b>â</b>	$dad\hat{a}'$	to place
dam	demda'm	to hold
dal	$d\hat{\imath}lda'l$	to fight
$d\bar{u}^{o}p$	$d arepsilon p d ar{u}'^{m{o}} p$	foot of mountain
hô <sup>e</sup> n	hanhô'on	to fill
$bar{u}^o$	$b_E b ar u'$ o	to wait
bêł	$b\hat{\imath}lb\hat{e}'l$	to spread
k::/ak	k: $l$ î $k$ $k$ : $l$ a' $k$	to choke
ts!êl	$ts.'{\it Elts.'}\hat{e}'l$	to slice fish
mal	$m$ $m{e}m{l}ma'm{l}$	to tell
dz <b>â%</b>	$dz$ e $ldz\hat{a}'$ $^{o}l$	to slide
ts!ap	$ts!_{E}pts!a'p$	$\mathbf{tribe}$
$l\hat{a}^{o}b$	leplâ'ob	stone
$d\bar{a}'u$	$ar{du}ar{da'}u$	ice
$lar{u}$ - $sar{a}'$ o $x$	$lar{u}$ -8Ex $sar{a}'$ 0 $x$	$\mathbf{red} ext{-hot}$
$\dot{q}$ ! $aar{\imath}$	q!ai <b>g</b> ai'	to bite

(b) Monosyllabic words beginning with a vowel or a single consonant, and terminating with a cluster of consonants, reduplicate the beginning of the word, including the first consonant following the first vowel:

Singular	Plural	
$sar{\imath}'\hat{e} ho k^{m{u}}$	$s\hat{\imath} p s ar{\imath}' \hat{e} p k^{m{u}}$	$\mathbf{sick}$
ts'ēpku	$ts$ 'î $pts$ ' $ar{e}'pk^{m{u}}$	hard
îsk:u	îs'î'sku	stench
$g\hat{\imath}ck^{oldsymbol{u}}$	$g\hat{\imath}_{c}g\hat{\imath}'ck^{u}$	lean
gêck <sup>u</sup>	gasqê'ck <sup>u</sup>	narrow
$d\bar{e}lpk^u$	$d\hat{\epsilon}ld\bar{\epsilon}'lpk^u$	short
$lar{o}$ - $dar{a}'ltk^{m{u}}$	$lar{o}$ - $d$ e $ldar{a}'lpk^{m{u}}$	to meet
$Lantk^u$	$\textit{LenLa'ntk}^{oldsymbol{u}}$	to move
$m \hat{\imath} t k^{m{u}}$	$m \hat{\imath} t m \hat{\imath}' t k^u$	full
$g \cdot \hat{\imath} t k^{\cdot u}$	$g \cdot \hat{\imath} t g \cdot \hat{\imath}' t k^u$	to swell
g· $a$ $L$ $k$ $u$	g:îLg:a'Lk•u	to pierce
hanx'	hanha'nx.	thin
Lîntx•	$L \hat{i} n L \hat{i}' n t x'$	to be angry
$g \cdot \hat{e} p k c$	$g \cdot \hat{\imath} p g \cdot \hat{e}' p k c$	high
$ar{e}tqc$	$at$ ' $ar{e}'tqc$	to end
$ar{e}tar{k}^{oldsymbol{u}}s$	$at$ ' $ar{e}'tk^{oldsymbol{u}}s$	to name
$ma \hat{o}'xk^{ullet}$	$maxma \pmb{\hat{o}}'x \pmb{k}^{m{\cdot}}$	$\mathbf{meek}$
$lar{o}$ -ya' $ltk^u$	$lar{o} ext{-}y\hat{\imath}lya'ltk^{m{u}}$	to return

# Tsimshian:

Singular	Plural	
$*i^{o}pk$	$s_E p_S ar{v}^o p k$	sick
$ar{a}lx$	$aar{l}^{ar{a}^{\prime}}lx$	brave
wālh	$(w\hat{\imath}lw\bar{a}'lb)$	house
hā°xk	$haxhar{a}'^oxk$	annoyed
hôksk	hakhô'ksk	to be with
$g \cdot \bar{\imath}^{o} s k$	$gm{\cdot}\hat{\imath}sgar{\imath}'^{o}sk$	to go past
yaltk	yî $lya'ltk$	to return
g·êlks	$g \cdot \hat{\imath} l g \cdot \hat{e}' l ks$	to feel
axlg	ax'a'xlg	to attain
$qar{a}^o p k$	gapqā'opk kutkwā'otk	to scratch, to rake
$kw\bar{a}^otk$	$\dot{k}utkwar{a}'$ o $tk$	to disappear

(c) Polysyllabic words, beginning with a vowel or a single consonant, reduplicate the beginning of the word, including the first consonant following the first vowel:

Singular	Plural	
$sar{\imath}' {\it E}b$ ${\it E}n$	sî psī' eb' en	to love
had a'xk*	hadhad'a'xku	bad
$hw \hat{\imath} l \bar{a}' x^*$	$hw \hat{\imath} l hw \hat{\imath} l \bar{a}' x'$	to know
$bar{a}'sixk^{oldsymbol{u}}$	$besbar{a}'sixk^u$	to separate
$hwar{a}'l\hat{\imath}x^{\centerdot}$	$hw \hat{\imath} l  hw \hat{a}' l \hat{\imath} x^*$	to carry on back
ā'd¹îk∙sk <b>u</b>	$a_i l^i \bar{a}^i d^i \hat{i} k^i s k^u$	to come
$g \cdot \hat{\imath}' d \epsilon x$	$g \cdot \hat{\imath} dg \cdot \hat{\imath}' dEx$	to ask
$as\bar{a}'x^*$	$as'asar{a}'x$	$\mathbf{foot}$
$dar{e}'l\hat{\imath}x$	$d\hat{\imath}ldar{e}'l\hat{\imath}x$	tongue
lō'laq	$l_{\it E} l l ar o' l a q$	ghost
$(qan)m\bar{a}'la$	$(qan)mar{e}lmar{a}'la$	button
$a'lg \cdot \hat{\imath} x$	$al'a'lg\cdot \hat{\imath}x$	to speak
ma'lgêk sku	melma'lgêk sku	heavy
$haxda'k^{oldsymbol{u}}$	hîx : haxda' ku	bow
$har{o}'mts!ar{\imath}m{x}$	$hamhar{o}'mts.'ar{\imath}x$	to kiss
ha'xg'at	haxha'xg``at	sweet-smelling
N 1.1		

#### Tsimshian:

Singular	Plural	
k:!înā'm	$k$ ' $l$ în $k$ ' $l$ în $ar{a}'m$	to give
lê'p!gan	$lepl\hat{e}'p!gan$	to shuffle about
la'ok !ultk	$l\it{E}k'la'k''!ultk$	to wrap up
g·a'ogeltk	$g extbf{:}\hat{k}g extbf{:}a' extbf{o}g extbf{\it E}ltk$	to roll
$p'.\overline{i}'^{ol}En$	$p!_{Elp}!_{ar{\imath}'}^{o}l_{En}$	to nudge
k!wā'oda:	k!utk!wā'•das	to miss
$ts.'a'k\cdot a$	ts!ek:ts!a'k:a	fire is out
da'kkcen	de $k$ d $a'k$ l $x$ e $n$	to drown
§ 36		

Singular	Plural	
$\mid g$ ʻ $ilar{a}'$ o $l$	$g extcolor{bla}{i}lar{a}'$ o $l$	to look after
da'msax	$oldsymbol{dem} oldsymbol{dem} oldsymbol{da'} msax$	downcast
p!a'lg îxsk	$p!$ e $lp!a'lg:\hat{\imath}xsk$	heavy
างาเปร <sup>ั</sup> งใ	$wul_{\it Ewul\bar{i}'ol}$	to rub
su wulī'onsk	$su ext{-}wulwular{\imath}'^{o}nsk$	hunter
gô'it!Eks	gatgû'it!Eks	to come

- (d) A number of euphonic changes occur in this type of reduplication. They differ in character in the two dialects. In the Nass dialect, when the reduplicated syllable ends in k, g, and k, these are aspirated, and become x; g and q are aspirated and become x; y becomes x; ts becomes s; dz becomes z.
  - (a) k, g, k following the first vowel are changed into x:

Singular	Plural	
t' $ak$ '	$t'\hat{\imath}x't'a'k'$	to forget
hak's	hax· $ha'k$ · $s$	to abuse
$\bar{o}k$ $\cdot s$	$ax``ar{o}'k`s$	to drop
iâ'ôk*8	$oldsymbol{\hat{\imath}} x$ $oldsymbol{\hat{\imath}} i oldsymbol{\hat{a}}' \hat{o} k$ $oldsymbol{\hat{s}}$	to wash
$\hat{a}k$ 's	$\hat{e}x$ ·' $\hat{a}'k$ ' $s$	broad
dak·L	$d \hat{\imath} x \cdot d a' k \cdot {\it L}$	to tie
sak ·sku	$s \hat{\imath} x \cdot s a' k \cdot s k \cdot u$	clean
$Lar{e}$ - $g$ * $a't$	$oldsymbol{L}ar{ar{\imath}}x^*oldsymbol{L}ar{ar{e}}\!\cdot\!g^*a't$	weak, sickly
$mar{o}k^{oldsymbol{u}}$	$m$ ใ $x$ • $mar{o}'k^{oldsymbol{u}}$	to catch fish
g·u $ks$	$g \cdot \hat{\imath} x \cdot g \cdot u' k s$	fish jumps
hokcku	hax ho'kcku	to be with others

 $(\beta)$  y following the first vowel changes to x:

Singular	Plural	
hō'yîx	hîx hō' vîx	like

 $(\gamma)$  g and q following the first vowel change to x:

Singular	Plural	
magā'nsku	mîxmagā'nsk <b>"</b>	explanation
gä'iqcku	gexgä'iqcku	to sit
80'uq8k**	sexsō'uqsku	to dive
q'äqL	$q$ ' $Exq$ ' $\ddot{a}$ ' $q$ $L$	to drag
aqk.uL	$ax'a'qk^{u}L$	to succeed

( $\delta$ ) ts and s following the first vowel change to s and z:

Singular	Plural	
yats	yîs'ia't <b>s</b>	to chop
g'ôts	$q$ 'E8 $q$ ' $\theta$ ' $t$ 8	to chop a tree
$ar{h}ar{e}'\hat{\imath}ts$	hîshē'îts	to send
$har{e}'tsumoldsymbol{e}oldsymbol{x}$	$hashar{e}'tsum_{m{E}m{x}}$	to command.
ā'dzîks	$m{az'}ar{a'}dm{z}m{\hat{\imath}}m{ks}$	proud

44877—Bull. 40, pt 1—10——24

§ 36



( $\epsilon$ ) Sometimes a x is introduced at the end of the reduplicated syllable:

Singular	Plural	
$d{\it E}dar{a}'l{\it E}q$	$d \hat{\imath} x \cdot d {\it E} d ar{a}' l {\it E} q$	to talk to
$amar{o}'s$	$ax$ ' $amar{o}'s$	corner
$t^{\circ}ar{o}tsk^{oldsymbol{u}}$	t'îx·t'ō′tsk•	iron
$y \hat{\imath} n ar{a}' t s \hat{\imath} x$	$y$ î $x$ · $inar{a}'t$ sî $x$	whip
$an$ - $dar{o}'y$ E $n$	$ax$ ·' $an$ - $dar{o}'y$ E $n$	garden
$an ext{-}sg ext{-}ar{\imath}'st$	$ax\cdot 'an ext{-}sg\cdot ar{\imath}st$	grave
$s\bar{a}'aLk^u$	$s \hat{\imath} x \cdot s \bar{a}' a \iota k^u$	weak
$ha$ L $ar{a}'alst$	$hax \cdot \hat{e}$ L $ar{a}'alst$	to work
$ha$ -LE $b\hat{\imath}'sk^{m{u}}$	$hax \cdot \hat{e}$ -LE $b\hat{\imath}'sk^{m{u}}$	knife
$sanlai'd\hat{\imath}k$ 's	$s \hat{\imath} x \cdot s anla i' d \hat{\imath} k \cdot s$	sign
$ar{e}'_{E8}k^u$	$ax^{oldsymbol{\cdot}ar{e}'}$ Es $k^{oldsymbol{u}}$	debt
$ax$ - $y\hat{a}'\hat{o}k$ - $sk^u$	ax-îx:yû'ôk:sku	to trust
$tq$ 'al- $hwar{e}'l_{EML}k^{u}$	$tq$ 'al-hwî $x$ 'hw $ar{e}$ ' $l$ E $m$ L $k$ ''	servant

#### Here may also belong-

Singular	Plural	
$y\bar{o}'_{L}m_{E}x$	$h \hat{\imath} x \cdot i ar{o}'$ L $m$ E $x$	to advise

It seems possible that these forms of reduplication should be considered as belonging to the class to be discussed in § 37.

The phonetic changes in the Tsimshian dialect do not agree with those found in the Nass dialect.

 $(\alpha \beta \gamma)$  The aspiration of g, k, g, and k does not seem to occur; only g and q are aspirated:

Singular	Plural	
$dz\hat{o}g$	$dz$ e $xdz$ $\hat{o}'$ $g$	to camp
$y$ ! $\dot{aq}$	$y! \hat{\imath} x y! a' q$	to hang

( $\delta$ ) The changes from dz and ts to z and s are also not regular: •

Singular	Plural	
$g\hat{o}dz$	${\it gadzg\^o'dz}$	to tear
hë⁰ts	hashë′•ts	to send
ya'dz	yîsya'dz	to chop
$t/\bar{u}'tsk$	$t.'$ Es $t.'ar{u}'$ 0/8 $k$	black

( $\epsilon$ ) In many cases a k, corresponding to Nass x', appears inserted:

Singular	Plural	
sa'o $lk!$ E $nsk$	seksa'o $lk!ensk$	dismayed
$l\hat{a}$ o $l$	$l$ e $k$ $l$ $l$ ' $^{o}l$	to shove
$lar{u}^o n tar{\imath}$	$l$ E $k$ l $ar{u}$ 'o $n$ t $ar{\imath}$	angry
<i>lâ</i> ⁰	łekłâ′o	fast
wâm <b>xk</b>	wukwa'mxk	to suffer
$nar{\imath}^{oldsymbol{o}}$	$m{n}$ E $knar{i}'^{m{o}}$	to see
$n\bar{\imath}^o ts$	$n$ E $knar{\imath}'^ots$	to look

§ 36

Singular	Plural	
lâîk	$l_E k l \hat{a}' \hat{\imath} k$ (better: $l_E - l \hat{a}' \hat{\imath} k$ )	to move
$star{u}^olt$	$st$ $ekst$ $\bar{u}'$ $olt$	companion
gaba'xs	${\it gakgaba'xs}$	to splash
$y\bar{a}'ul_{E}mx$	yîkyā'ulemx	to advise
gal'û'd	$gakgal^{\circ}\hat{a}'d$	to let go

(3) Some words insert a t after the first vowel. Since a d or t occurs in some of these cases after the first vowel of the stem, the occurrence of the t may sometimes be due to an irregular treatment of the reduplication:

Singular	Plural	
$gw\bar{a}ntk$	gutgwa'ntk	to touch
ge'redax	getge'redax	to ask
$war{a}^{o}$	wutwā'o	to find

# § 37. Initial Reduplication, including the First Vowel

(a) In most cases the stem-vowel is weakened in the reduplicated syllable:

$g\cdot ibar a'yuk$		$g \cdot \hat{\imath} g \cdot ib \bar{a}' y u k$	one who is speaking one who is flying
xmiyä'n	I smoke	igexmiyä'ēe	I smoke walking
ha'dîk's	to swim		swimming while car- rying
geba'ksk	to splash	igegeba′ksk™	splashing while being carried
$lar{e}'p$ ! E8	to sew	l l ar e' p ! E $s$	one who is sewing
$tx\hat{a}xk^u$	to eat [plural]	$ttx\hat{a}'xk^u$	those eating
g $ip$	to eat something	$ang \cdot ig \cdot i'pt$	one who is eating it
ts'ēn	to enter	alō-ts' ets'ē'n	one who enters publicly
t' $ax$	lake	t' $E$ $t$ ' $a$ ' $x$	lakes
$mar{a}l$	canoe	$m$ ' $mar{a}l$	canoes
bax ·	to run	bbax	one who runs
Here belon	gs also		
$w \hat{o} q$ to sl	eep	$m{h}uw\hat{o}'q$	one who sleeps

Similar forms occur in the Tsimshian dialect:

_		ormo ocour in ono roma		
	$a'lg \cdot \hat{\imath}g$	to speak	$aa'lg \cdot \hat{\imath}g$	the one who is speaking
	hëotgʻ	to stand	h <sub>A</sub> hë'tg	the one standing
	$t.'ar{a}^o$	to sit	$t$ e $t$ ! $ar{a}$ o	the one sitting
	$bar{a}^{o}$	to run	$b$ E $bar{a}'$ o	the one running
	$lar{\imath}'^{o}d_{E}g$	to be silent	$ll\bar{\imath}' EdEg$	silent
	$s ar{\imath}^o p$	bone	$ses\bar{\imath}'^{o}p$	bones
	g·ad	person	$g \cdot ig \cdot a'd$	people



(b) In a number of cases the vowel of the reduplicated syllable is long and the accent is thrown back upon it, while the vowel of the stem is weakened:

Singular	Plural	
$l {\it E} q s$	$lar{a}'l$ E $q$ 8	to wash body
$oldsymbol{v\hat{o}q}$	$war{a}'w\hat{o}q$	to sleep
sak.	$sar e'is \hat ikar \cdot$	to haul out
Lak.	$oldsymbol{\iota}ar{e}'oldsymbol{\iota}ar{\imath} k^{oldsymbol{\cdot}}$	to bend
$t!\partial q$	t! a't! Eq	to scratch
Tsimshian:		
Singular	Plural	
<i>la</i> •	<i>lâ'∘la</i>	to swim (fish)
la°xt	$m{l}ar{a}'m{l}m{a}^{m{o}}m{x}t$	to hold with teeth
$lar{a}k^{\cdot}$	$ar{l}ar{\imath}'ar{l}ar{\imath}ar{k}$	to bend
waoq	wa'wuq	to bury
$t!\hat{og}$	$t!\partial' deg$	to step on
se*n-wô'q	8E <sup>E</sup> n-wd'wôy	to rebuke

(c) Words beginning in hw (w Tsimshian) have a form of reducation which is evidently of the same origin as the forms here discussed:

Singular	Plural	
$hwar{a}$	$huwar{a}'$	name
$hw \widehat{\imath} l p$	$huw \hat{\imath}' lp$	house
Tsimshian:		
Singular	Plural	
wa	$huwar{a}'^{o}$	name
$war{a}lb$	$huwar{a}'lb$	house
wai	$\mathit{huroa'i}$	paddle

(d) Words beginning with a consonantic cluster reduplicate in the Nass dialect by a repetition of the first consonant; at the same time initial x is transformed into g. In Tsimshian the consonantic cluster is treated like a syllable, and is repeated with insertion of a weak vowel:

8ingular	Plu <b>ral</b>	
ptô	$ppt \hat{o}$	$\mathbf{door}$
$x L q \partial$	$q$ e $x$ L $q$ ô $^{\prime}$	to pray
$x$ ı $kar{o}'lnx$	$q$ e $x$ ı $k$ $ar{o}'lux$	to scold
$xtsa'ar{e}$	$\overline{q}$ $extsa'ar{e}$	thick
Tsimshian:		
Singular	Plural	
syag	sexsqa'g t!awtxā'°	to refuse
$  egin{array}{c} sqaq \ txar{a}^o \end{array}  $	t!axtxā'⁰	flat
§ 37		

(e) A number of cases of irregular reduplication occur. Examples in the Nass dialect are—

Singular	Plural	
alî′sk■	$all \hat{\imath}' s k^{m{u}}$	weak ( $a$ may be a prefix)
anē's	$annar{e}'s$	branch
Tsimshian:		
Singular	Plural	
$  la'g \cdot axsk$	$laxla'g \cdot axsk$	to climb
hanā' g	hanā'nag	woman (for hanhā'nag?)
nak	$n$ E $knar{o}'$ o $nk$	long
naxnô'x	naxnô'onx	supernatural
luºrou'l	$wul^owa'l$	drop

# § 38. Reduplication of Words containing Proclitic Particles

As a rule, compound words containing proclitic elements reduplicate the stem only.

Singular	Plural	
$lar{o}$ - $ar{a}'m$	$m{l}ar{o} ext{-}m{a}m{m}ar{a}'m$	to be good inside

A few examples of compounds of the type which reduplicate the initial syllables have been given in § 36, d,  $\epsilon$ .

# § 39. Modification of Stem Vowel

In a few cases modifications of length and accent of stem syllables occur. I am inclined to think that all of these have originated by secondary modification of reduplicated forms. The following cases have come under my observation. All of them belong to the Nass River dialect.

Singular	Plural	
$anar{a}'s$	$anar{a}'$ E $s$	skin
$g$ ·î $nar{a}'m$	$g \cdot \bar{e}' nam$	to give
$k$ · $\hat{\imath}ba'$	$k \cdot \bar{\imath} b a'$	to wait
groula'	$guar{\imath}la'$	eloak
halai't	$har{a}'lait$	ceremonial dance
$hanar{a}'q$	hā'naq	woman

# Formation of Plural (§§ 40-47)

# § 40. Methods of forming the Plural

The plural is generally sharply set off from the singular, both in the noun and in the verb, and only a limited number of words have the same form in singular and plural. Including these words and those which apply different stems in singular and plural, the following methods of expressing the plural may be distinguished.

§§ 38-40



- (1) Singular and plural have the same form.
- (2) The plural is formed by reduplication.
- (3) The plural is formed by diæresis or by lengthening of vowels.
- (4) The plural is formed by the prefix qa.
- (5) The plural is formed by the prefix qa- and the suffix  $-(t)k^{u}$ .
- (6) The plural is formed by the prefix l- with variable vowel.
- (7) The plural and singular are formed from the same stem, but in an irregular manner, or they are derived from different stems.

#### § 41. First Group. Singular and Plural the same

In this group are combined the words, singular and plural of which have the same form. Here belong the names of all animals except  $\cos \delta s$  and BEAR  $\delta l$ , trees, and many words that can not be classified.

#### Parts of the body (see also § 43):

qēc hair nîsq upper lip  $\bar{o}px$  for ehead  $pLn\bar{a}x$  body (plural also qadz'aq nose  $pLn\bar{a}'x$ ) wan tooth mmås thumb  $i\bar{e}'mq$  beard Lätsx tail of fish Lags finger-nail näiq fin ban belly  $q'\bar{a}x'$  feather ptal rib la'ē wing mâ'dz'îk's breast  $t'Em-l\bar{a}'n\hat{\imath}x'$  neck  $m\hat{\imath}sx\cdot k'\bar{a}'x$  down of bird  $t'_{Em-q\bar{a}'x'}$  fathom

#### Miscellaneous:

se dav axku night  $k'\bar{o}L$  year laku fire ak's water pelî'st star ia'ns leaf dawi's axe hawî'l arrow bela' haliotis ia'k' to thunder  $d\bar{e}' l_{E} m x k^{u}$  to reply mē'leku to dance  $l\bar{e}'m\hat{\imath}.c$  to sing  $g \cdot a'a$  to see hasa'q to want

lē'p'est marmot blanket
d'ā'ist bed-quilt
yā'tsesk" animal
wîc root
bela' haliotis-shell
mī'uks sweet-smelling
xLqaō'm payment
Lmâ'em to help
hätk"t to rush
g'î'dex to ask
bak" to feel
li-ya'q to hang
anâ'q to agree

 $\bar{a}t$  net

ts'ak' dish

§ 41

A number of stems with prefixes also retain the same form in singular and plural:

gwîs-ma'k'sk" white blankethwîl-dig'a't warriorgwîs-halai't dancing-blanket $l\bar{o}$ -sanā' $Lk^u$  to be surprisedlax-ama'k's prairiesE-anuwô'q to rebuke

The same class occurs in Tsimshian. Here also all names of animals have the same forms in singular and plural except those of the dog  $(\hbar \bar{a}^o s)$  and the bear  $(\hat{o}l)$ . Names of parts of the body appear also in the same form in singular and plural, although more often they have the prefix qa.

# Examples are— nê'tseks fish-tail sa day

sa day latsx smoked split salmontail

mag'â'sx berry hasa'x to desire

ū to fish with line
 ma'k⁻'lil to drop down
 lɛhē'lil to forbid
 p'ɛlô' to break law
 ū°lks servant

# § 42. Second and Third Groups. Plurals formed by Reduplication and Vowel Change

In these groups are comprised the words the plurals of which are formed by reduplication or diæreses. By far the majority of words belong to this class.

The plurals of the second group, which are formed by reduplication, may be subdivided into the following groups:

- (a) The plural is formed generally by reduplication of the beginning of the word, including the first consonant following the first vowel, which method has been fully described in § 36.
- (b) Only in exceptional cases is the plural formed by the reduplication of the beginning of the word, including the first vowel. The following instances of this type of reduplication used for forming the plural have been observed.

Singular	Plural	
$g$ : $\hat{\imath}n$	$g \cdot \hat{\imath} g \cdot \hat{\imath}' n$	to give food
$g \cdot i k^u$	$g \cdot \hat{\imath} g \cdot \bar{\imath}' k^{m{u}}$	to buy
ts'ak	ts' ets'a'k.	$\operatorname{dish}$
t'ax	t'et'a'x, $t'axt'a'x$	lake
ts'ēp	$ts'$ $Ets'$ $ar{e}'$ $p$	bone
$g \cdot \bar{a}t$	$g \cdot ig \cdot a't$	<b>p</b> eopl <b>e</b>
$m\bar{a}l$	mmāl	canoe

Tsimshian:

Singular $s\bar{\imath}^o p$	Plural 8E8ī' <sup>o</sup> P	bone
lao	\ \lala'\do'\\ \land \la	fast
lā⁰ld	$l_{\it E} l ar{a}' {}^{o} \! / d$	to move
la'îk	∫ lelâ' } leklâ'îk ∫	to move

A special form of this reduplication is found in words beginning with hw, which take  $h\bar{u}w$  in the plural, probably originating from hwhw (see p. 372).

Singular	Plural	
hwa	hūroa'	name
$hw \hat{\imath} l p$	$har{u}wm{\hat{\imath}}'lp$	house
hwât	$har{u}wa'ar{t}$	to sell
hwîl	$har{u}war{\imath}' l$	to do
$hw\hat{o}$	$har{u}war{o}'$	to call
$hwar{a}x^*$	$har{u}war{a}'x^{*}$	to paddle

Related to this are the two plurals described in § 37 e (p. 373).

- (c) The few cases in which the syllable reduplicated according to this method is long and has the accent, while the vowel of the stem is weakened, have been described in § 37 b (p. 372).
- (d) In some cases the singular is formed from a certain stem by the second type of reduplication, while the plural is formed by the first type of reduplication.

Stem	Singular	Plural	
dēls	$d\it{E}d\bar{\it{e}}'ls$	$d\it Eldar e'ls$	alive
$q\bar{e}t$	$q_{E}qar{e}'tk^{oldsymbol{u}}$	qetqë'tku	difficult

The word  $mak^*sk^u$ , plural  $n.esma'k^*sk^u$ , white, may be mentioned here, since its stem seems to be mas.

Tsimshian:

Singular	Plural	
$d {\it E} d ar u'^o l s$	$d{\it E}ldar{u}'$ o $ls$	alive

In Tsimshian a number of cases occur in which irregular reduplications are used, or phonetic increments of the stem.

Singular	Plural	
xswâxs	$s$ E $xs$ $v$ $\hat{a}'xs$	to dive
ts!â	$ts.'\hat{a}'ts.'$ ex $t$	to split
$q!\hat{a}x$	$q.'\hat{a}^o l x$	to pull
txa-a'q	$ar{t}xa$ - $ar{a}'lq$	place near the door
lâo	$l\hat{a}'^{o}ltk$	fish swims
lag	$m{l}ar{a}'^{m{o}}m{l}m{q}$	to bite
§ 42		

In the third group are combined a few words the plural of which is formed by change of the vowel of the stem and by change of accent. Examples of this kind have been given in § 39.

# § 43. Fourth Group. Plurals formed by the Prefix qu-

In words of this class the plural is formed by the prefix qa. It includes many names of parts of the body; adjectives expressing states of the body, such as BLIND, DEAF; words of location; and a miscellaneous group of words.

# (a) Parts of the body:

$tsuvve'$ Ent $qa$ - $tsuvve'$ Entfingers $an'o'n$ $qa$ - $an'o'n$ hand $pLn\bar{a}x$ $qa$ - $pLn\bar{a}x$ and $pLn\bar{a}x$ body $q'\bar{e}Lq$ $qa$ - $q'\bar{e}'Lq$ chest $gat$ $qa$ - $ga't$ heart $tgam\bar{a}'q$ $qa$ - $tgam\bar{a}'q$ lip $q'\bar{e}'sEE$ $qa$ - $q'\bar{e}'sEE$ knee $Laqst$ $qa$ - $Laqst$ and $Laqst$ nail, claw	Singular	Plural	
$ts' \in m - \bar{a}'q$ $qa - ts' \in m - \bar{a}'q$ mouth $t' \in m - q\bar{a}'x'$ $qa - t' \in m - q\bar{a}'x'$ arm $t' \in m - L\bar{a}'m$ $qa - t' \in m - L\bar{a}'m$ leg below kne $tsuv\bar{e}' \in nt$ $qa - tsuv\bar{e}' \in nt$ fingers $an'\delta'n$ $qa - an'\delta'n$ hand $pLn\bar{a}x$ $qa - pLn\bar{a}x$ and $pLn\bar{a}x$ body $q'\bar{e}Lq$ $qa - q'\bar{e}'Lq$ chest $g\hat{a}t$ $qa - q\hat{a}'t$ heart $tgam\bar{a}'q$ $qa - tgam\bar{a}'q$ lip $q'\bar{e}'s \in E$ $qa - q'\bar{e}'s \in E$ knee $Laqst$ $qa - Laqst$ and $Laqst$ nail, claw	$t$ ' $em$ - $qar{e}'c$	qa-t'Em-q'ē'c	head
$t' \in m - q\bar{a'x'}$ $qa - t' \in m - q\bar{a'x'}$ arm $t' \in m - L\bar{a}'m$ $qa - t' \in m - L\bar{a}'m$ leg below kne $t \in uv\bar{e}' \in nt$ $qa - t \in uv\bar{e}' \in nt$ fingers $an'\delta'n$ $qa - an'\delta'n$ hand $p = Ln\bar{a}x$ $qa - p = Ln\bar{a}x$ and $p = Ln\bar{a}x$ $qa - q'\bar{e}' = Lq$ $qa - q'\bar{e}' = Lq$ chest $qat$ $qa - q'\bar{e}' = Lq$ chest $tqam\bar{a}'q$ $qa - tqam\bar{a}'q$ lip $q'\bar{e}' \in SEE$ $qa - q'\bar{e}' \in SEE$ knee $Laqst$ $qa - Laqst$ and $Laqst$ nail, claw	ts'Em-mu'x	$\it qa$ - $\it ts$ ' $\it Em$ - $\it mu$ ' $\it x$	ear
$t' = m \cdot L\bar{a}'m$ $qa - t' = m \cdot L\bar{a}'m$ leg below knee $t = suve \bar{e}' = nt$ $qa - t = suve \bar{e}' = nt$ fingers $an' \delta' n$ $qa - an' \delta' n$ hand $p = Ln \bar{a}x$ $qa - p = Ln \bar{a}x$ body $q' \bar{e} = Lq$ $qa - q' \bar{e}' = Lq$ chest $qat$ $qa - q' \bar{e}' = Lq$ cheart $tqam \bar{a}'q$ $qa - tqam \bar{a}'q$ lip $q' \bar{e}' = Lq$ $qa - q' \bar{e}' = Lq$ knee $Laqst$ $qa - Laqst$ nail, claw	$ts'$ E $m$ - $ar{a}'q$	$qa$ - $ts$ ' $\epsilon m$ - $ar{a}'q$	mouth
$tsuvve'$ Ent $qa$ - $tsuvve'$ Entfingers $an'o'n$ $qa$ - $an'o'n$ hand $pLn\bar{a}x$ $qa$ - $pLn\bar{a}x$ and $pLn\bar{a}x$ body $q'\bar{e}Lq$ $qa$ - $q'\bar{e}'Lq$ chest $gat$ $qa$ - $ga't$ heart $tgam\bar{a}'q$ $qa$ - $tgam\bar{a}'q$ lip $q'\bar{e}'sEE$ $qa$ - $q'\bar{e}'sEE$ knee $Laqst$ $qa$ - $Laqst$ and $Laqst$ nail, claw	$t^{\prime}$ E $m$ - $qar{a}^{\prime}x^{\prime}$	$qa$ - $t$ ' $Em$ - $qar{a}'x$ '	arm
$an'ô'n$ $qa-an'ô'n$ hand $pln\bar{a}x$ $qa-pln\bar{a}x$ and $pln\bar{a}x$ body $q'\bar{e}lq$ $qa-q'\bar{e}'lq$ chest $g\hat{a}t$ $qa-g\hat{a}'t$ heart $tgam\bar{a}'q$ $qa-tgam\bar{a}'q$ lip $q'\bar{e}'see$ $qa-q'\bar{e}'see$ knee $laqst$ $laqst$ nail, claw	$t'$ E $m \cdot Lar{a}'m$	$qa$ - $t$ ' $Em$ - $Lar{a}'m$	leg below knee
$p L n \bar{a} x$ $q a - p L n \bar{a} x$ and $p L n \bar{a} x$ body $q' \bar{e} L q$ $q a - q' \bar{e}' L q$ chest $g \hat{a} t$ $q a - g \hat{a}' t$ heart $t g a m \bar{a}' q$ $q a - t g a m \bar{a}' q$ lip $q' \bar{e}' s E E$ $q a - q' \bar{e}' s E E$ knee $L a g s t$ $q a - L a g s t$ nail, claw	$m{t}$ su $var{e}'$ $m{E}$ $nm{t}$	qa-tsuwē' Ent	fingers
$q'\bar{e}Lq$ $qa-q'\bar{e}'Lq$ chest $gat$ $qa-ga't$ heart $tgam\bar{a}'q$ $qa-tgam\bar{a}'q$ lip $q'\bar{e}'sEE$ $qa-q'\bar{e}'sEE$ knee $Laqst$ $qa-Laqst$ and $Laqst$ nail, claw	$an'\hat{o}'n$	$qa$ - $an$ ' $\hat{o}'n$	hand
$qa \cdot qd't$ heart $tqam\bar{a}'q$ $qa \cdot tqam\bar{a}'q$ lip $q'\bar{e}'sEE$ $qa \cdot q'\bar{e}'sEE$ knee $taqst$ $qa \cdot taqst$ and $taqst$ nail, claw	$p_L n ar{a} x$	qa-pınāx and pınāx	body
$egin{array}{lll} tgamar a'q & qa-tgamar a'q &  ext{lip} \ q'ar e'see & qa-q'ar e'see &  ext{knee} \ taqst & qa-taqst  ext{ and } taqst &  ext{nail, }  ext{claw} \ \end{array}$	q'ēLq	$qa$ - $q$ ' $\bar{e}'$ L $q$	chest
$egin{array}{lll} tgamar a'q & qa-tgamar a'q &  ext{lip} \ q'ar e'see & qa-q'ar e'see &  ext{knee} \ taqst & qa-taqst  ext{ and } taqst &  ext{nail, }  ext{claw} \ \end{array}$	$g\hat{a}t$	qa- $ga$ ' $t$	heart
Laqst qa-Laqst and Laqst nail, claw	$tgamar{a}'q$		lip
	$q^{'}\bar{e}'see^{-}$	$qa$ - $q$ , $\bar{e}'see$	knee
an and	Laqst	qa-Laqst and Laqst	nail, claw
smax qu-smax mest	smax.	qa-smax·	meat

#### Tsimshian:

Singular	Plural	
$b_{E^n}$	$ga$ - $b$ $\epsilon'n$	belly
$dar{u}'la$	$\dot{ ilde{g}a}$ - $dar{u}'la$	tongue
ts! Em ts!ā'us	ga-ts!Em-ts!a us	armpit
$g\hat{a}^{o}d$	$\overset{\cdot}{g}a$ - $g\hat{a}'$ o $d$	heart
an'ô'n	$ga$ - $an$ ' $\partial' n$	hand

# (b) Adjectives expressing states of the body:

Singular	Plural	
$k \cdot \hat{\imath} b a' {\scriptscriptstyle E}$	qa-k∙îba′ E	lame
ะ 8î ก.	$\stackrel{-}{qa}$ - $s\hat{\imath}'ns$	blind
ts'äq	$qa$ - $ts$ ' $\ddot{a}'q$	$\mathbf{deaf}$
me-wa'tsx	qa- $m$ E- $wa'$ $t$ s $x$	(crazy (literally, like land-otter)
$x\hat{a}'\hat{o}sk^{u}$	$qa ext{-}x\hat{a}'\hat{o}sk^{u}$	wise
$ax$ -g $a'\delta t$	ax-ya- <b>gâ</b> 'ôt	foolish (literally, with- out mind)

§ 43

#### Here may belong also:

Singular	Plural	
gwä' E	qa-gwä' E	poor
hux-iō'nst	hux-qa-iō'nst	liberal
ama hwîl	ama qa-hwî'l	frich (literally, well-to-
simshian.		,

#### Tsimshian:

Singular	Plural	
$ama \ war{a}'l$	$ama~ga ext{-}war{a}'l$	rich
sagau-sā'ot	$saga\dot{u}$ - $ga$ - $sar{a}'$ o $t$	good luck
lgusge'r	$ga$ - $lgusg$ e $^{\prime}r$	$\mathbf{happy}$

# (c) Locations:

Singular	Plural	
$d\bar{a}x^{ullet}$	$qa extbf{-}dar{a}'x^*$	outside
$lax'ar{o}'$	qa-lax'ō'	top
stô'ôk•s	$qa$ -s $t\hat{o}'\hat{o}k$ ·s	$ar{ ext{side}}$
g·ä $'u$	$qa$ - $g$ - $\ddot{a}'u$	beach

# (d) Unclassified words:

Singular	Plural	
$s e m ar{o}' t k s$	qa-semō'tks	to believe
$nar{o}'d$ 'E $n$	qa-nō'd'En	to adorn
yîs-gu'sg`itk <del>u</del> s	yîs-qa-gu'sg`itk <b>u</b> s	to rejoice
$l\bar{e}'luks$	$qa$ - $lar{e}'luks$	to steal
gwîx:-silē'ênsku	$gwîx\cdot qa ext{-}silar{e}'\hat{e}nsk^{oldsymbol{u}}$	hunter
$w \hat{\imath} s$	qa- $w$ î's and $w$ îs	root
qā'it	$qa$ - $qar{a}'it$	hat
mēn	$qa$ - $mar{e}'n$	butt of tree

#### Tsimshian:

Singular	Plural	
$y'.\bar{u}'^o$	$ga ext{-}y.'ar{u}'^{o}$	berrying-basket
gôk būo	$ga$ - $g\hat{o}'k$	basket
bū° .	$\dot{m{g}}a$ - $\dot{ar{b}}ar{u}'^o$	to scatter
rsâº	$\dot{g}a$ - $xs\hat{a}'^o$	canoe
lāºk8	$oldsymbol{ga-la'^oks}$	torch
xā'îk	$ga$ - $xar{a}'\hat{\imath}k$	to upset
nā•l	ga-nā <b>'0</b> {	to fast
$k$ * $E$ - $nar{a}'$ $^{o}lk$	$\overset{\cdot}{g}a$ - $k$ × $e$ - $nar{a}'$ $^{o}lk$	to breathe
m <b>â'm ega</b>	<b>g</b> a-mâ'm <b>e</b> ga	to smile
$xstar{a}^o$ .	ga-mâ'm ega ga-xstā'°	to vanquish

On the whole, this prefix conveys strongly the impression of being a distributive, not a plural; but in many cases its use seems to have become formal and fixed. It would seem that particularly terms for parts of the body that have no reduplicated plural may take the prefix qa. The distributive character appears very clearly in one case where ga-ts/a'p means the one town of each one, while the plural would be ts/epts/a'p, and also in  $k'\bar{o}pe$ -ga- $tept\bar{e}'tk''$  all small pieces (of salmon) 56.1

# § 44. Fifth Group. Plurals formed by the Prefix quant the Suffix -(t)k\*\*

Plurals formed by the prefix qa- and the suffix  $-(t)k^u$  are confined to terms of relationship. The prefix is probably the same as that used in the preceding class, while the suffix seems to be related to the verbal and possessive suffix  $-k^u$ .

Singular	Plural	
niä'	qa-niä' Etku	grandfather
$ntvar{e}'\hat{e}ts$	ga-ntsē'êtsku	grandmother
$n$ egu $\hat{a}'\hat{o}t$	$qa$ - $n$ E $gu$ a $'$ $\hat{o}tk$ $^{oldsymbol{u}}$	father
$n E b \bar{e}' p$	$qa$ - $n$ E $bar{e}'pk^u$	uncle
wak.	qa- $wa'k$ · $k$ <sup><math>u</math></sup>	younger brother
Here belongs also	<del></del>	
mē' en	$qa$ - $mar{e}'$ E $ntk^{oldsymbol{u}}$	master
Tsimshian:		
Singular	Plural	
$n$ $e$ $b$ $\bar{\imath}'^o p$ $m$ $i$ $\bar{a}' n$	$ga$ - $n$ E $bar{v}^{o}pg$	uncle
$miar{a}'n$	ga-nebī' <sup>o</sup> pg ga-miā'ntg	master

The following words have  $qa-k^u$  combined with reduplication, the reduplicated syllable being lengthened and the stem-vowel weakened:

Singular	Plural	
nak: $s$	qa-nē'nîk•sk•	wife
$n oldsymbol{\hat{o}} x$	$qa$ - $n\hat{a}'n$ E $xk$ u	mother
Without the prefix	qa- are found—	
Singular	Plural	
wak.	$wak \cdot k^u$	younger brother
$g: \hat{\imath}'mx'dar{e}$	$g$ :î' $m$ . $\epsilon$ ' $dar{e}tm{k}$	elder brother
Tsimshian:		
Singular	Plural	
naks	$nar{e}nksg$	wife
Irregular is—		
Singular	Plural	
$huxdar{a}'ek$ .'En	Luxdā'ek:'`Entk <b>u</b>	grandson

Undoubtedly the terminal  $-tk^u$ ,  $-k^u$ , in these forms, is the same as the suffix discussed in § 17.

(a)

# § 45. Sixth Group. Plurals formed by the Prefix l-

Plurals formed by the prefix l- are pre-eminently verbal plurals, as is illustrated by the following examples taken from the Tsimshian:

Nominal Plural Singular Verbal Plural ak's water, to drink ak'a'k's waters la-a'k's to drink wa'i paddle, to paddle huwa'i paddles lu-wa'i to paddle

The vowel connected with this prefix is variable, and many irregularities are found in this class.

Phural

Singular ak'8 la-a'k's to drink yôxku lē-yô'xku to follow le-qō'ksku to be awake qōk**s**ku  $l_{E}$ - $d\ddot{a}'q$ to devour ďäq Tsimshian: Singular Plural wa'ilu-wa'i to paddle qa-lē'bexsk to shake one's self ga-ba'xsk  $l\bar{\imath}$ - $\gamma_E'r$ to hide YET (b) Reduplication or lengthening of vowel is found with l-: Plural Singular lu-xdē'dîx: xdax. hungry xbets'a'x la-xbē'ts'ex to be afraid Here may be mentioned Tsimshian: Singular Plural kutī0 lu-ktī'od hungry (c) Initial q, k, and q drop out after l: Plural Singular a bird swims lâk's a·âk·s gʻibā'yuk libā'yuk to fly (tree) falls  $l\bar{e}'nex$  $q\bar{e}'nEx$ Here belong also the reduplicated plurals: Plural Singular lemla'mk's to warm one's self g·amk·slemla'mg'il  $g \cdot a' m g \cdot i L$ to warm something Tsimshian: Singular Plural  $l\bar{u}nks$ ge'renks to dry (meat) lë'ona to fall over  $g\ddot{e}^{o}na$  $l\bar{a}^oks$ absent a·āoks  $g \cdot \hat{a}^o ks$ laoks to float

llû°ks

 $l\bar{\imath}'^{o}mq$ 

lamks

lipa'yuk

g·ig·â′ºks

 $q \cdot \bar{\imath}^{o} m q$ 

g amg g'ipa'yuk

§ 45

floating

to wipe

hot

to fly

xst!ôg

# (d) Irregular, but related to this class, are:

Singular	Plural	
ya <b>x</b>	lī'lē <b>x</b>	to hide
yîxya'q	lîslî′sk™	to hang [v. n.]
xdak*	lidux	to shoot
$g \cdot \hat{\imath} n - h \bar{e}' t k^*$	li'nedemkust	to arise
kustaqs	$lukstsar{a}'d$ e $qs$	to leave
Tsimshian:		
Singular	Plural	
gaksk	lī'd∧ksk	to wake up
g·a'ksEn	$lar{\imath}'d{\hspace{1em}\scriptstyle\blacktriangle} ksen$	to awaken
$sEs-ar{a}'^oxs$	$l$ es- $a ilde{a}'xs$	to laugh

laxst!ô'ega

§ 46. Seventh Group. Irregular Plurals

to sleep

This last group is quite irregular. The following plurals are formed from the same or related stems, but in an irregular manner:

Singular	Plural	
sem' $d'g$ ' $it$	$semg \cdot ig \cdot a't$	chief
$sig \cdot id $ emna' $oldsymbol{x}$	$oldsymbol{sig:idem} ar{ha'} nax$	chieftainess
$wuy \hat{\imath}' t k^u$	siya'tk''	to weep
ayawa'tku	a lay u wa' t	to shout
$war{\imath}amhar{e}'$	wud'ax al'amhē'	to shout
$lar{o} ext{-}mar{a}^{\prime}k ext{-}sa$	$lar{o} ext{-}lar{e}'d\hat{\imath}k ext{-}sa$	to wash cloths
$war{n}$ - $na'k^u$	$nnar{e}'n{\it E}k^{u}$	long
$war{\imath}$ - $d$ ' $\hat{o}'ar{x}$	d'exd'ô'x	stout
q' $ai$ - $ma's$	q'ai-ma'qsît	youth
am'a- $ma's$	$ar{a}$ m' $a$ -m $ar{a}'q$ sî $t$	pretty
Tsimshian:		
Singular	Plural	
sem'â'g'id	$semg \cdot ig \cdot a'd$	chief
sig·idemna'g	$sig \cdot idemhar{a}'nag$	chieftainess
$k.'\hat{\imath}n\bar{\imath}'^{o}tk$	$nanar{\imath}'^otk$	to arise

Although the use of different stems for singular and plural belongs rather to the classification of nouns and verbs according to form of objects and actors, this feature is so prominent in the dialects of the Tsimshian that it deserves mention here.

Singular	Plural	
g·'äxku	$har{o}'ut$	to escape
$iar{e}'$	LÔ	to go
id'ôxku	$tx\hat{o}'\hat{o}xk^{oldsymbol{u}}$	to eat
$d^{n}a$	wan	to sit
dzak**	yêts	to kill $(plural = to)$
	•	chop)

§ 46

Singular	Plural.	
hētk <b>u</b>	$mak \cdot sk^{u}$	to stand
hwîtk <b>u</b>	$bak^u$	to come from
$gar{o}$	$d\hat{o}q$	to take
$sg \cdot \hat{\imath} t k^{m{u}}$	$d\hat{o}xk^u$	to lie
$k$ $\cdot sax$	$k$ • $si$ - $L\hat{o}'$	to go out
maqt	$hw \hat{\imath} lqt$	to carry
sqats' $a'x$	$alisgar{\cdot}ar{\imath}'da$	ugly
$dar{a}'u$ L	sak sku	to leave
$malk^u$	$tx\ddot{a}'ld$ E $t$	to put into fire
$mar{a}xk^{m{u}}t$	$car{e}ntk^{m{u}}$	to go aboard
bax	$g\hat{o}l$	to run
ma'gat	't'aL	to put
$g$ - $\bar{e}$ L	$lar{a}$ ' $_{L}$	to lie down
$ts'ar{e}n$	$la'mdz \hat{\imath} m{x}$	to enter
nô'ô	dax	to die
xa'E, male slave		
wa't!aku, female	${\it LLar{e}ng}$ . ${\it \hat{i}t}$	slaves
slave		
ga $t$	$ar{e}'uxt$	man
$ts.'ar{o}sk$ ·	$ses'\bar{o}'s$	small
Lgo-	$k'ob_{E}$ -	small
wī-	wud'ax-	large
k*s-	dE-	extreme

# Tsimshian:

Singular	Plural	
$k \cdot ! \bar{e}^o x k$	$har{u}^o t$	to escape
$iar{a}^o$	$w\bar{a}lxs$	to go
$g\hat{a}^o$	hab	to go to a place
$i\hat{a}^o.xk$	$tx\hat{a}^oxk$	to eat
$t' ar{a}^o$	wan	to sit
dzag	yadz	to kill
hëtg, batsg	maxsk	to stand
$w\bar{a}^o t g$	$amiar{a}'t$	to come from
$gar{a}$ o "	$d\hat{o}g$	to take
hayā'oks	maksk	to put
$m\hat{o}xk$	$sar{a}$ o $ntk$	to go aboard
mô'g'an	$sar{a}^{m{o}}n$	to put aboard
$ba^{o^{*}}$	g'ôl	to run
nâ•k	$oldsymbol{\check{l}}ar{a}$ o $oldsymbol{l}k$	to lie down
$ts.'ar{v}^o n$	la'mdze $x$	to enter
dzag	der	to die
xa°	$l \hat{\imath} l \bar{u}' n g \cdot \hat{\imath} t$	male slave
$lgar{u}$ o $lg$	klger	child
$\hat{o}l$	sa'mi (i. e., meat)	bear
	` ' '	

§ 46

Singular	Plural	_
$gar{a}'^{o}wa$	$tx\hat{a}^{\mathbf{o}}$	to take canoe down to the water
ha'utk	bak	to cry
laxla'x	$tgi extit{-}klar{e}'l$	to drop down
p!as	maxs	to grow
p!as su-p!a's lgu- wī-	su- $ma'xs$	youth
lgu-	k.'abE-	small
wī-	wut!a-	large
ks-	ta-	extreme

#### § 47. Plurals of Compounds

In by far the majority of cases the plural of compounds is formed, in cases of reduplication, by leaving all prefixes unmodified, and by forming the reduplicated plural of the principal theme.

Singular	Plural	
qal- $ts$ ' $a$ ' $p$	qal- $ts$ ' $epts$ ' $a$ ' $p$	town
dax- $g$ - $a$ ' $t$	$\overline{dax}$ - $g$ · $ig$ · $a$ ' $t$	strong
$an$ - $sar{e}'b$ En $sk^{oldsymbol{u}}$	$an ext{-}sepsar{e}'bensk^{oldsymbol{u}}$	friend

#### Tsimshian:

Singular	Plural			
sa-dzagam-lu-ya'ltg	sa-dzagam-lu-	suddenly	to	return
, J	yîlya'ltg	across		
$lar{u}$ - $ar{a}m$ $g\hat{a}'$ o $d$	$lar{u}$ -am' $ar{a}'m$ $g\hat{a}'$ o $d$	to be of [ir	ı] goo	od he <b>art</b>

There are, however, cases in which the whole word is reduplicated. Examples of these have been given in § 36, d (p. 370). The principal suffixes so treated are an- and ha-.

The position of the prefix ga- seems to depend upon the firmness of the compound. Generally it precedes the stem; as in

Singular	Plural	
$gwîx$ '- $silar{e}'\hat{e}nsk^{m{u}}$	gwîx`-qa-silē'ênsk¤	hunter (Nass dialect)

k!A-k!ul-ga-lgusge'redet they are for a while here and there happy (Tsimshian dialect)

On the other hand, we find in the Tsimshian dialect:

'Singular '	, Plural	
$ts'$ E $m$ - $m\bar{u}'$	$ga exts'{Em} extrm{-}mar{u}'$	ear

#### Personal Pronouns (§§ 48-54)

#### § 48. Subjective and Objective Pronouns

The personal pronouns have two distinctive forms, which, according to their probable original significance, may be designated as transitive and intransitive, or, better, subjective and objective. The former

§§ 47, 48

express, at least partly, the subject of the transitive verb; the latter, its object, and at the same time the subject of the intransitive verb. Their use is, therefore, to a certain extent analogous to that of the subjective and objective pronouns in languages like the Siouan, Iroquois, Haida, Tlingit, and others. The use of these forms in Tsimshian, however, is peculiarly irregular. The forms in the two dialects are—

	٠						Subjective.	Obje	ective.
							Nass and Tsimshian.	Nass.	Tsimshian
First person singular			•				n-	-čB	-ū,-i
First person plural .							d <b>z</b> p-	-m, -ōm	- <i>Em</i>
Second person singul	ar						m-	-11	-n
Second person plural							m sem-	-8Em	-8 <b>E</b> m .
Third person							t-	-t	-t

### § 49. Use of the Subjective

(a) The subjective pronouns are used most regularly in the subjunctive mood, where they appear as prefixes of the verb. It will be sufficient to demonstrate their use in one dialect only, since the rules are the same in both, and I choose the Tsimshian dialect for this purpose.

	me.	us.	thee.	you.	him, them.
I		_	n-n	n-8Em	n-t
we	_	'	dEp—n	dEp-sEm	d <b>zp</b> —t
thou	m-11	m-m	-	_	n-t
уе	m $s$ $z$ $m$ $-u$	m szmm	-	_	m sem—t
he	t—u	t-m	!—n	!8Em	t—t

#### Examples:

ada wul me  $w\bar{a}'yu$  then you (singular) found me a wul m sem  $w\bar{a}'yu$  because ye (plural) found me

ada wult wā'yu hā'oset then the dog found me

 $ha^{\epsilon}w\bar{\imath}'^{o}n\bar{\imath}$ , n dem  $k!A-txal-w\bar{a}'n$  wait until I shall for a while meet you  $(ha^{\epsilon}w\bar{\imath}'^{o}n\bar{\imath}$ , wait until; n I; dem future; k!A- for a while; txal- against;  $w\bar{a}$  to find; -n thee)

a  $d_{Emt} \bar{u}'^{o}tu$  that he will bake me

ada me dem sem wul man-sā'k'.'ut then ye will pull it up (ada then; me thou; dem future; sem ye; wul being; man- up; sa'k'.'u to pull; -t it)

a wul dep  $d\bar{\imath}$ -se-wā'ot because we, on our part, give them names (a at; wul being;  $d\epsilon p$  we;  $d\bar{\imath}$ - on our part; se- to make;  $w\bar{a}^o$  name; -t it)

- $d_{Em-t}$   $ligi-la-n\bar{\imath}'^o dz e t g a^o$  he would see somewhere bad luck ( $d_{Em-}$  future; t- he; ligi- somewhere; la- bad luck;  $n\bar{\imath}'^o dz$  to see; -t it;  $-ga^o$  absence [see § 20])
- lat g'ik da'mkstgao when he squeezed it again (la when; t he; g'ik again; damks to squeeze; -t it; -gao absence)
- (b) In the indicative, the subjective pronouns are used when the object of the verb is a first or second person. The objective pronouns are used to express the subject of the transitive verb, in the indicative, when the object is a third person. The verb takes the suffix -d or -n described in § 17.

INDICATIVI
------------

	me.	us.	thee.	you.
I	_	_	$n = \begin{cases} n \\ dEn \end{cases}$ $dEp = \begin{cases} n \\ dEn \end{cases}$	$n-\begin{cases} nsEm \\ sEm \end{cases}$
we	<del>-</del>	_	$dEp = \begin{cases} n \\ dEn \end{cases}$	dEp-\nsEm
thou	$m = \begin{cases} nu \\ du \end{cases}$	$m = \begin{cases} nEm \\ dEm \end{cases}$	-	_
уе	$m s_E m - \begin{cases} n u \\ du \end{cases}$	m sem—{nem dem	<del>-</del> .	_
he	$t = \begin{cases} nu \\ du \end{cases}$	$t = \begin{cases} nEm \\ dEm \end{cases}$	$t = \begin{cases} n \\ clEn \end{cases}$	$t = \begin{cases} n \epsilon E m \\ \epsilon E m \end{cases}$

# Examples:

 $m\ w\bar{a}'yinu\$ you (singular) found me  $m\ dem\ dza'kdu\$ you will kill me (dzak to kill)  $t\ w\bar{a}'yinu\ h\bar{a}'^oset$  the dog found me  $n\ dza'kden\$ I have killed thee  $n\ w\bar{a}'^on\$ you have found me  $mE\ ay'\hat{o}'y\hat{n}nEm\$ you (singular) have hit us  $dep\ \hat{o}'y\hat{n}n$  we hit thee

(c) The subjective pronouns are used with transitive and intransitive forms that take the objective pronouns for the purpose of emphasis.

44877—Bull. 40, pt 1—10——25

§ 49

(d) The verb da-ya to say so takes these elements always:

da-n-ya'onu I say so
da-dep-ya'onem we say so
da-m-ya'n you (singular) say so
da-m-sem-ya'onsem ye say so
da-yat he says, they say

Adverbs like g ik again are placed here following the subjective pronoun, including m-sem.

da-m-sem g'ik ya'onsem ye say so again

#### § 50. Use of the Objective

(a) The objective is used to express the subject of the intransitive verb.

sī'opgenu I am sick

dem al tgi-ks-qâ'ganu but I shall (go) down first (dem future; al but; tgi-down; ks-extreme; qâga first)

ada dem l!ī-ô'ksen then you will drop on (it) (ada then; l!ī-on; ôks to drop)

sa-ô'kst suddenly he dropped

da wul  $dz\hat{o}'xsemt$  when you camped (da at [see § 28]; wul) being;  $dz\hat{o}g$  to camp)

me'la hasa'gau tell that I wish

ts! Elem-ks-txalā'nu I am the last one behind

- (b) The objective is used to express the object of the transitive verb. Examples have been given in § 49, b.
- (c) The objective is used in the indicative of the transitive verb when the object is a third person or a noun. When the object is a third person pronoun, the objective t is added to the objective pronoun.

ô'yut I hit it ô'yînt you (singular) hit him ô'yîmt we hit it ne la dza'kdemt gu'i we have killed this one dem dza'kdut I will kill him ô'yu hā's I hit the dog

(d) The objective is used in a periphrastic conjugation of the transitive verb, in which the objective pronoun is repeated in the form of the independent pronoun.

 $n\bar{\imath}'^o dzut \; n'. E'rEn \; I$  see thee (literally: I see it, thee)  $dEm \; dza'gdEn \; n! E'ryu \; you \; (singular) \; will kill me$ 

(e) The objective pronoun is used to express the possessive relation.

miā'nu my master

ne-wā'lben thy house

ne-sī'op!ensget his friend

ga-gâ'odem our minds

ne-wā'nsem what you have (wān for wāl, l assimilated by preceding n)

# § 51. The First Person Singular, Objective Pronoun

The first person singular of the objective form has a second form in  $-\bar{\iota}$ , which occurs also in the possessive pronoun (see § 55). It is used in all cases in which the event is conceived as unreal.

(a) In negative sentences.

a'lge dī ha-dza'gi I do not die from it a'lge hasa'gail dem dza'gen I do not want thee to die

- (b) In sentences expressing potentiality, but with reference to the unreality of the event.
  - ada a'lyɛt  $n\bar{a}^{o}l$  dem t'în-l/ $\bar{i}$ -q'an-a'xly $\bar{i}$  then there is no one who could get across me (a'lyɛ not;  $n\bar{a}^{o}$  who; -l [see § 31]; dem future; -t he [trans. subj.]; în- nomen actoris (see p. 335); l' $\bar{i}$ -q'an- over; axly to attain)
  - semgal  $b\bar{a}'$ senut  $\hat{o}p$  dze dza'gi I am much afraid lest I may die (semgal much;  $b\bar{a}$ s afraid; -n indicative; -u I;  $\hat{o}p$  lest; dze conditional; dzag to die)
  - $mE \partial' yig \hat{i}n$  you might hit me! (m thou;  $\partial y$  to hit; -i me;  $-g \hat{i}n$  perhaps)
  - ada demt hë odzīge na-xā'igesge demt gun-a'ksgigao; wī-qô'ge dem gra'bu, dzeda la ts!ī'onī, da . . . then my master may send me, he may order me to get water; I shall take a large basket, when I come in, then . . . (hëodz to send; ge [see § 24]; na- possessive prefix [see § 55]; xāo slave; na-xā'i my master; gesge preposition [see § 28]; gun- to order, to cause; aksg to get water; gao absence [§ 20]; wī- great; gôg basket; gab to dip up; dzeda if; ts!īon to enter; da then)
  - (c) In conditional clauses.

ada dze la lu-ya'ltgi then, if I return —

(d) The possessive suffix of the first person has the form  $-\bar{\imath}$  in address.

tgū'otgi my child! nä'i my mother! (said by girl) negwā'odī my father! (e) The possessive suffix of the first person has the form  $-\bar{\imath}$  in subjunctive and negative sentences, in which it designates potentiality of existence.

ēä'p!exdī a n dze le txal-wā'sde lgū'olgīdao I might remember when I met my child (ēä'p!ex to remember; a at; n I; dze conditional; la past: txal- against; wāo to meet; lgūolg child) a'lge dī wā'lbi I have no house (a'lge not; di on my part; wālb house)

# . § 52. Remarks on the Subjective Pronouns

- (a) The prefixed personal pronouns n-, m-, and t- may be considered true pronominal forms. The first person plural dep is, however, by origin, a plural of much wider application. It is used frequently to express the plural of demonstrative pronouns; for instance,  $dep \ gwa'i$  those. It seems, therefore, that its use as a first person plural may be secondary.
- (b) The second person plural contains the objective element -sem, which remains separable from the transitive second person m-. Particularly the temporal elements wil, dem, la are placed between m- and -sem.
  - ada me dem sem wulā'i la gwā'ntgut then you will know that I have touched it (ada then; me- 2d pers. subj.; dem future; -sem 2d pers. plural; wulā'i to know [singular obj.]; la past; gwantg to touch; -u I; -t it)
- (c) The third person is placed following the temporal particles, while all the other persons precede them, except the -sem of the second person plural (see under b).

First person singular:  $n dem s\bar{u} me\bar{a}'ulget I$  shall shake the rope (n I; dem future;  $s\bar{u}$  to swing;  $me\bar{a}'ulg$  rope)

First person singular: n-dem na'ksgen I shall marry thee

First person plural:  $dep \ dem \ awul-ma'gan$  we will stand by you  $(dep \ we; \ dem \ future; \ awul-$  by the side of; mag to place; -n thee)

Second person:  $ada \ me \ dem \ kse-de-b\bar{a}'^o tga^o$  then you will run out with her (kse- out; de- with;  $b\bar{a}^o$  to run; -t her; - $ga^o$  absence)

Third person: ada demt q!â'pegan leksâ'gat then he will close the doorway (q!â'pegan to close, fill up; leksâ'g doorway)

First person:  $a'lge n' la d\bar{\imath}-k'.'ln\bar{a}'m' del han\bar{a}'^og$  I have not given it to the woman (a'lge not; n I; la past;  $d\bar{\imath}$  on my part;  $k'.'ln\bar{a}'m$  to give; del [see §§ 28, 31];  $han\bar{a}'^og$  woman)

First person: ada nE wul  $n\bar{v}^o$  nE- $w\bar{u}^\prime l psgE$   $y.'\bar{u}'^o ta$  then I saw the house of the man (ada then; nE I; wul being;  $n\bar{v}^o$  to see; nE- possessive prefix [see § 55];  $w\bar{u}lb$  house; -sgE [see § 24];  $y.'\bar{u}^o t$  man)

Third person: ada wult ô'yîtgao adat wul ôyîtgao and then he hit him

(d) A comparison between the use of the connectives [see § 24] and the personal pronouns shows a strict correspondence between these forms. We have seen that in the indicative, in forms with the third person object, the subjective forms are not used, but that the objective forms are used instead. This corresponds to the peculiar identity of the objective forms of the subjunctive connective (B 1, § 24) and of the indicative of the subjective connective of the transitive verb (A 2, § 24). It seems justifiable, therefore, to state that, in transitive sentences with nominal subject and object, the indicative takes the objective forms in the same way as in sentences of the same kind, in which pronominal subjects and objects only occur.

#### § 53. The Personal Pronoun in the Nass Dialect

As stated before, the usage in the two dialects is very nearly the same, and a number of examples may be given here to illustrate the forms of the Nass dialect.

Use of the subjective (see § 49, a):

(a) Subjunctive forms.

 $\bar{a}m \ mE \ dEm \ w\hat{o}'\hat{o}L \ qal-ts'a'p \ good (if) you call the people 206.13$  $<math>(\bar{a}m \ good; w\hat{o}'\hat{o} \ to \ call; \ qal-ts'a'p \ town)$ 

La ām me na'k'sguēe good (if) you marry me 158.2

ām dep d'îsd'ē'st qa-dz'a'gam good (if) we strike our noses 103.8 (ām good; d'ēs to strike; qu- plural; dz'ag nose; -em our)

at gwa'lkudet for their drying them 169.7 (a preposition; t- 3d per. subj.; gwalku to dry)

nîg'în hwîlā'x't I did not know it (nîg'i not [takes the subjunctive])

- (b) I have not found any examples of indicative and emphatic forms
- (c)  $| (\sec § 49, b, c).$
- (d) The verb  $d\bar{e}$ -ya to say so (see § 49, d) has the following forms:

nē-ya'enē I say so dep hē'idenōm we say so

mē-ya'an you (singular) said so 171.5

mesem hē'idē you say so

de-ya he says so 65.5



Use of the objective:

Most of the objective pronouns of the Nass dialect are identical with those of Tsimshian. The only exceptions are the first person singular, which in the Nass dialect is always -ēx, and the third person plural, which is -det.

Examples of the third person plural are the following:

sem-a-baxba'g'askudetg'ê they were much troubled 195.14 alayūwā'tdet they made noise 173.14

tqal-la'k'det at dept wi-sgane'st they reached (against at) the foot of the mountain 126.6

hux hē-yukt ôx det they began to throw again 139.15 hwî'lpdet their house 102.3

The objective pronoun is used in the same way as in the Tsimshian dialect.

(a) Subject of the intransitive verb (see § 50, a).

nî'g·ide halai'dēz I am not a shaman 128.9 (nîg·i not; de on my part; halai't shaman)

dem lë'tsxan you will count 129.9 (dem future; letsx to count) hagun-ië'êt he went in the direction (toward it) 129.14

dem de-ba'gam we, on our part, shall try 114.16 (bag to try) men-lô'ônōm we go up 42.8

g·îlô dze hux hwî'lsem do not do so also 98.4 (g·ilô' do not; dze conditional; hux also, again; hwîl to do; -sem ye)

La sem-dex-g·îg·a'tdet they had become very strong 98.13 (La past; sem very; dex- strong; g·at person; -det they)

- (b) Object of the transitive verb (see p. 389).
- (c) Subject of transitive verb, indicative with third person object.

  dem lep-hwa'yîml dem nā'em we ourselves will find our bait 56.6
- (d) Periphrastic conjugation.

dem na'kskuē nē'en I shall marry thee 203.9

La lîksg'a't'enen nēe thou hast taken notice of me 158.1

sak\*sta'qsdēt nē'en qans nē'e they have deserted thee and me 157.10

dem hwā'lēe nē'en I shall carry thee 74.1

(e) Possessive pronoun.

an-qalā'gaēe my playground 79.1

ts/ā'bē my people 192.2

negwâ'ôden thy father 133.2

Lgō'uLgun thy child 205.5

nak'st his wife 133.1

La dem g·ē'ibem what was to have

La dem g·ē'ibem what was to have been our food 122.9 qa-ts'em-ā'qsem your mouths 84.10

qa-ts'ɛm-a'qdet their mouths 84.13 
§ 53

# § 54. Independent Personal Pronoun

The independent personal pronoun, which in its subjective form has also predicative character, is formed from the following stems:

Nass dialect: Subjective nē-; objective la-.

Tsimshian dialect: Subjective n/Er-; objective k/a-.

	Nass dialect.	Tsimshian dialect.		Nass dialect.	Tsimshian dialect.
I	nez	n!Z'rlu	me	M'E	a k!d'i
we	nôBm	n!E'rEm	us	ld'Em	a k!Am
thou	nê'En	n!E'rEn	thee	ld'En	a k!wan
уе	nč'szm	n!E'rEsEm	you	ld'szm	a k!wasEm
he	net		him	<i>ાત</i> 'ઠા	<b>)</b>
ther	(nê'det	niot	them .	la'odzt	a niot
iney	∫nē'det d <b>z</b> p nē'det	]]			

### Examples:

nē' E t'an mukt I am the one who caught it 44.8

në'en t'an dedô'qt thou art the one who took it 157.4

nlk: /ē lep-nē'l xa'eq'ê then he himself the slave 40.8

 $k''/ax-n\bar{e}'sem$  only ye 83.6

txanē'tk"sī dem hwîls negwâ'ôden lâ'ôe all that thy father will do to me 133.2(txanē'th" all; dem future; hwîl to do; -s connective; negwâ'ot father; -n thy)

dem d'ep-k·s-qûq nēē'st lûn I shall (go) down first to you 81.4 (dem future; d'ep- down; k·s- extreme; qûq first; nēe I; -st emphatic [see § 20]; lûen to thee)

lō-mē'otku g'at lû'ôt inside it was full of people in it 120.3 (lō- in; mētku full; -L connective; g'at people)

gop dē-lá'sɛm go ahead, to you also! 83.10

dem na'kskuē nēen I shall marry thee 203.9

In place of the oblique form, the subjective with the preposition as (containing the connective -s [see § 23.7]) is also found, particularly for the third person.

hwîl hwî'ls dep-bē'ebē as nē'en qans nē'e thus did my uncles to thee and to me 157.9 (hwîl being; hwîl to do; -s connective; dep plural [see § 52, a]; bēep uncle; -ē my; qan and; -s connective) a'lg'îxt . . . as nē'tg'ê she spoke to him 157.1

### Tsimshian:

n!eriu demt în-na'ksga lgū'dgent I am the one who will marry thy child (dem future; t- he; în- nomen actoris; naksg to marry; lgū'lg child; -en thy)

n!E'rent în-ô'yît thou art the one who hit him

y!agai-nī'odesen g'ap-k!a-wī-na:nō'gan da k!â'i however, he (i. e., you) indeed, you are really more greatly supernatural than I (y!agai-however; nīod he [here with the meaning you]; -sen indeed; g'ap-really; k!a-exceedingly, more; wī-greatly; na:nô'g supernatural; -n thou; da preposition [see § 28]; k!â'i me) lîg'i-gâ'o dem k!unâ'yîn da k!â'i, dem k"!înā'mu da k!wan whatever you will ask of me, (that) I shall give you (lîgi-any [see § 8, no. 20]; gâo something; dem future; k!unō' to request; -n thou; da preposition; k!înā'm to give; -u I)

da-ya'get negwā'ot ges nī'ot thus said his father to him

### § 55. Possession

In the Tsimshian dialect three forms of possession may be distinguished, while the Nass dialect has only two. In the former dialect, separable possession is always introduced by the prefix  $n_A$ , which is absent in the Nass dialect. Both dialects distinguish possession of inanimate and of animate objects.

#### 1. Nass dialect:

(a) All possession of inanimate objects is expressed by the suffix expressing the possessive pronoun (see § 53, e), or, when the possessive is expressed by a noun, by the addition of the connective (see § 23).

hwî'lbēz my house hawî'ls Lôgôbola' the arrow of Lôgôbola' 20.3 a'k'sēz my water 18.7 ts'ēlē'mu mā'lg'ê food of the canoe 107.6

(b) All possession of animate objects is expressed by the same suffixes, but the noun is given the passive suffixes -k, -tk, -s (discussed in § 17). Exceptions to this rule are terms of relationship in the singular, which take simply the possessive suffixes, like nouns expressing inanimate objects. The occurrence of the endings -k and -tk in the plurals of terms of relationship (see § 44) may be due to the treatment of these like other nouns designating animate objects.

 $g \cdot ib\bar{o}'tk^{u}t$  his wolf ( $g \cdot ib\bar{o}'$  wolf; -tk passive suffix; -t his)  $huxd\bar{a}'g \cdot intk^{u}t$  his grandchildren 19.10

### 2. Tsimshian dialect:

- (a) All inseparable possession, including nouns designating parts of the body, locations referring to self, and terms of relationship, are expressed by possessive suffixes, and, when the possessive is expressed by a noun, by the connectives (see § 27).
  - (a) Inseparable possession relating to parts of the body:

ban belly ts!ag nose

ba'nu my belly ts!a'gen thy nose

(\$\beta\$) Inseparable possession relating to space relations:

 $aw\bar{a}'^{o}$  proximity  $aw\bar{a}'^{o}t$  near him (his proximity)  $lax'\delta'$  the place over  $lax'\delta'yu$  the place over me  $txal\bar{a}'n$  the place behind  $txal\bar{a}'nt$  the place behind him

(γ) Inseparable possession, expressing terms of relationship, in singular:

 $negw\bar{a}'^od$  father  $negw\bar{a}'^odu$  my father  $lemkd\bar{i}'$  sister  $lemkd\bar{i}'yu$  my sister

To this group belong also—

miā'n master miā'nu my master nesī'op!ensg friend nesī'op!ensgen thy friend

(b) Separable possession of inanimate objects is expressed by the prefix nE and the possessive suffix (viz., the connective suffix).

 $w\bar{a}lb$  house $nE-w\bar{a}'lbu$  my house $l\hat{a}^ob$  stone $nE-l\hat{a}'obu$  my stone

(c) Separable possession of animate objects is expressed by the prefix  $n_{E}$ , the passive suffix, and the possessive (viz., connective) suffix.

E'rla seal ne-e'rlagu my seal ne-hā'osqu my dog hā% dog  $\hat{o}l$  bear ne-ô'ltgu my bear hân salmon ne-hâ'ntgen thy salmon ske herring ne-ske'tgu my herring an bee nE-a'psu my bee  $m_E l_i^{\tau \prime o} k$  steelhead salmon ne-melī'oksu mv steelhead salmon ts.'ap tribe n-ts.'a'psu people of my village (but n-ts.'a'bu my village) wālb house  $nE-w\bar{a}'lpsu$  people of my house

### § 56. Demonstrative Pronouns

I have not succeeded in analyzing satisfactorily the forms of the demonstrative pronoun. It has been stated before (§ 20) that presence and absence are expressed by the suffixes -st (-t) and  $-g \cdot \hat{e}$  (Tsimshian -t and -ga). Besides these, we find independent demonstrative pronouns and peculiar demonstrative suffixes. In the Nass dialect there are two independent demonstratives:  $g\bar{o}n$  This,  $g\bar{o}s$  That.

(but nE- $w\bar{a}'lbu$  my house)

### gōn:

lep-në'e qane-hwîla gōn I am always doing this myself 52.3 (lep-self; nēe I; qane-hwîla always)
nlk''ē tgōnl sa-gû'ôtk"t then she resolved this 7.5
ge-g'îpg'a'psl hwîl daxdô'at gōn high piles these 42.10
tgōnl hēt: this he said 99.12
gōs:

sem-lîk's-g'a'dem qa-gâ't dep gō'stg'ê very different were the minds of those 114.12 (sem- very; lîk's- separate; -g'at person; -em attributive connective; qa- plural; gât mind; dep- plural [§ 52, a]) sem-gō'usk'' L qē'nex as gō'stg'ê really he reached a trail there 126.7 (sem- very; gux to hit; -sk'' intransitive [17.2]; qē'nex trail) mēnl ts'enlî'k' gō'stg'ê that was the master of the squirrels 212.5 (mēn master; -l possessive connective; ts'enlîk' squirrel) wī-sem-k'.'ā-ama māl tgō'stg'ê that was a large exceedingly good canoe 107.5 (wî- large; sem- very; k'.'ā- exceedingly; am, good; -a connective [§ 22]; māl canoe)

In Tsimshian the demonstratives seem to be more numerous. There are two independent forms:  $qw\bar{t}$  This,  $qwa^{o}$  That.

### $gw\bar{\imath}$ :

dû du gwī they are here adat pliā'redet Waxayā' q dep gwī 't then Waxayā' q told them lgu-sga-na'k da gwī a little after this (sga-across; nak long) gwa:

nin!ī' ksdemâ's gal-ts!epts!a'be gwao those are the nine towns (nin!ī' this; ksdemâ's nine; gal-ts!a'p town)
G-îlksats!ā'ontk wāo xāo gwao this slave's name was G.
k!a-sgô'ksem gwao we will stop here for a while adat anâ'xde dep gwa'o then these agreed

Derived from gwao is gwa'sgao, which always refers to absent objects:

ada al sger lgu-dza'gum a'uta gesga gwa'sga° but then the little dead porcupine lay there (ada then; al but; lgu-little; dzag dead; a'uta porcupine; gesga at [see § 28]) a'lge hë'otgel wā'lbesge gwa'sgaga° no house stood there

It would seem that  $gwa^{o}$  refers to locations near by, since it is never used with the ending -ga; while gwa'sga designates the distance, and is always used with the corresponding connectives.

Derived from gwa is also gwai, which seems to point to the part of the sentence that follows immediately; while  $gwa^{o}$  is almost always in terminal position.

§ 56

nin!ī' wîlwā'lb gwai na-tgi-dā'ul those were the houses that had come down

negwā'ode lguâ'mlge gwa'it Ha'ts!ena'set the father of the boy was that Ha'ts!ena'set

Possibly these two demonstratives are related to gu, which appears often with the function of a relative pronoun, but seems to be a demonstrative of another class. These appear to be made up of the demonstratives d and g, which have been treated in § 20, and the two vowels  $-\bar{\imath}$  and  $-\bar{u}$ . I have not succeeded, however, in gaining a clear understanding of these forms. I have found the series

of which I shall give examples:

### -ī:

 $tt\bar{u}'^{o}s_{E}n\bar{\imath}$  this one hit thee

 $n\bar{\imath}n'.\bar{\imath}'$   $bi\bar{a}'lste$   $gvoa^o$  se-voa'temi  $y\bar{e}'^olda^o$  this is the star that we call  $y\bar{e}'^ol$ 

 $k^{u}d\bar{u}'^{o}n_{E}m\bar{\imath}$  those around us

gal-ts!a'be t'i'obenī la gu gwao this is the town of the sea-lions ada  $h\bar{e}'$ lde  $w\bar{a}'$ ldi a gwao much did this one here

wī-sganē'oste hē'otgedī a st!ū'op!elt a large mountain stands here behind the house

### -ū

 $n_E - b\bar{a}'^o du \ han\bar{a}'^o g$  this woman has been running  $n_E - b\bar{a}'^o du \ aw\bar{a}'n$  the one near thee has been running

#### -du

 $nin!\bar{i}'$  gal-ts! epts! a'be du gwa° those are the towns du  $n\bar{a}^{o}l$  dem ded $\bar{u}'$ ° lsedel... who will live then? ZE 792° 30° du gan  $l\bar{u}'$ ° ntin you were angry for something of the kind.

### -gu

 $g\bar{u}$  na-di-g-ig-i'nexgA ne-ga- $ni\bar{a}'$ otgem those were the ones prayed to by our grandfathers

da'-yaga sem'â'g'itgao guge g'a'mgem dzī'usdægao thus said the chief, that sun

tne'riut în-k:'îlk:'înā'm ya'ts!esge da k!wan, gu lā'owula wutwa'yîn I am the one who gave you the animals that you always found (t he; ne'riu I; în nomen actoris; k:'înā'm to give; ya'ts!esg animals; da to; k!wan you [dative]; lā'wula always; wā to find)

Among the demonstratives may also be enumerated the element n-, which, in the Nass dialect, forms the common conjunction n - k' $\bar{e}$ , and

which also may be contained in the stem  $n\bar{e}$ - (Tsimshian n!er-) of the independent pronouns. In Tsimshian it is found in the very frequent demonstrative  $nin!\bar{i}'$  That one.

## Numerals (§§ 57, 58)

### § 57. Cardinal Numbers

The Tsimshian dialects use various sets of numerals for various classes of objects. In Tsimshian one of these classes is used for simple counting. The others designate flat, round, long objects; human beings; canoes; measures. In the Nass dialect round and long objects are counted by the same set of numerals.

These sets of numerals in the two dialects are as follows:

	I. Abstra	II. Flat objects.		III. Round objects.		
İ	Nass.	Tsimshian.	Nass.	Tsimshian.	Nass.	Tsimshian
1	k·'äku	k·!a•k	= I	= I	k·'ê'el	k!E'rEl
$2_{1}^{\prime}$	t'Epxā't	t!Epxā'd	= I	= I	k·'ē'lbrl	gū′op!El
3	golā'nt	gwant	- I	- I	gul'ā'l	k!ulē'
4	txálpx	txálpx	- I	- I	= I	= I
5	kusténc	kustõns	- I	- I	= I	<b>–</b> I
6	q'â'Elt	q!aolt	= I	= I	= I	- I
7	t'Epxâ'Elt	t!Epxå'elt	= 1	= I	= I	- I
8	qandâ'Elt	q!andâ'elt	yuxdā'Elt	yukda'lt	= II -	- II
9	kustemå'e	kstemá's	= I	:= I	= I	- I
0	k·'ap	k·!ap	= I	⇒ I	x·pē'el	kpřel
1	k 'ap di k 'äk	k:!ap di g:ā∘k	-= I	ss I	x·pē'el di k·'ē'el	
2	k 'ap di t' Epxā't	k-'ap di t!Epxā'd	rm I	-= I	x·pē'el di k·'ē'lbel	
0	k·'ē'lbEl wul k·'ap	k·edē′•l	k:!iyē'tk		= I	
0	gula wul k·'ap		= I		= I	ł

	IV. Long objects.		V. Human beings,		VI. Canoes.	
	Nass.	Tsimshian,	Nass.	Tsimshian.	Nass.	Tsimshian.
-	=111	q!a'wutsxan	ky'âl	k!āl	qamä'et	q!amā'ot
2	I <b>L</b> I	qå/opsxan	bagadê'l	t!Epxadô'l	galbä'Eltkus	galbā'oltk
3	-111	ga'ltsgan	gulâ'n	gul&'n	gulá'altkus	galtsga'ntk
4	= III	txâ'opsxan	txalpxdå'l	txalpxdâ'l	txālpxku-	txalpxsk
5	=111	ktū'onsxan	kust Enså'l	kstenså'l	kustěnskus	kstō'ensk
6	=111	q!â'ltsxan	q'Adeldâ'l	q!ald&'l	q!åEltkus	q!Altk
7	== 111	t!Epxâ'ltsxan	t!EpxadEd&'l	t!Epxaldâ'l	t!Epxå/Eltkus	t!Epx&'ltk
8	111	yukłaotsxa'n	yuxdaeld4/1	yukłead&'l	yuxdA'Eltkus	yukdå'ltk
9	=111	kstemå'tsxan	kustemasa'l	kstens&'l   kstemas&'l	kestemå'skes	kstem <b>å</b> ′sk
0	-111	kpē′otsxan	x·pål	kpål	k-'apkus	k-'apsk
1	=111		x-pål di k-'ål		k 'apkus di qa- mä'et	-
12	= 11I		x påldi bagadê'l	l I	k 'apkus di galbä'- Eltkus	
20	<b>-III</b>		=I	k·edâ′ol	k·'iyê'tk¤s	
30	III		= I	gulå'l Eg·itk	-	

		VIII. Bundles of ten skins.	
	Nass.	Tsimshian.	Nass.
1	(k·'ilgā'x·)=III	k!el'ô'n	gusk 'ewa'
2	(k''ībElga'x')=III	gū'op!El'ô'n	g·ilpwa'
3	gulalao'n	k!ul'ô'n	
4	txalpxalô'n	txalpxl'ô'n	
5	kustěnselô'n	kstönsel'ô'n, ksten'ô'n	
6	q'&eldelô'n	q!åldEl'ô'n	
7	t'EpxåEldElô'n	t!Epx&oldEl'ô'n	
8	yuxdaaldelo'n	yukdåoldel'ô'n, yukdeldel'ô'n	
9	kustemåselô'n	kstemåsel'ô'n	
10	x·paō'ndē	kpel'ô'n	

This system will appear clearer when the numerals are arranged according to their stems.

Tsimshian

Nass

One:	$k$ ·' $\ddot{a}(k^u)$	$k\cdot .'ar{a}$ o $k$
	$k \cdot ! \bar{e}_{E} l$	$k.'_{E'}r_{E}l$
	qamä(Et)	q!amā, which may be the stem also for q!a'wutsvan
Two:	$t' \epsilon p x \bar{a}'(t)$	$t.'_{E}pxar{a}'(^{o}d)$
	$k \cdot l \cdot \bar{e}' l b E l$	$gar{u}'^{m{o}}p'_{m{E}}ar{l}$
		$q\hat{a}^{o}p$ , which seems to be the stem for $galb\bar{a}'oltk$
	bagad(êl)	
Three:	$gol(\bar{a}'nt)$	gul- in gwant, gulâ'n
		$k!ul\bar{e}'$ It seems doubtful if
		this is different from the preceding one
		galt
Four:	$txar{a}lpx$	$\dot{t}xar{a}lpx$
Five:	k <sup>u</sup> stēn <b>s</b>	$k^{u}star{o}ns$
Six:	q.'âEl	$g.'\hat{a}^ol$
Seven:	t'Epxa	t! $epxa$ the same as two
Eight:	qan	q!an
	yux	$\overset{-}{y}uk$
Nine:	$k^{u}stem d'c$	kstemâ's (containing mâs thumb?)
Ten:	k-'a $p$	k·! $ap$
	$x^*p^{\overline{i}ol}$	$kpar{v}ar{l}$ probably related to the preceding one

It will be seen that a multiplicity of stems belong to the first three numerals, eight, ten, and probably twenty. Not all these distinct stems are entirely independent, but evidently in part modifications of

the same remote root. It would seem that the numerals one, two, three, ten, for the class of round objects, had a suffix -l, which has brought about modifications of the stems to which it has been attached. It seems plausible, therefore, that  $k \cdot l \bar{a}^o k$  and  $k \cdot l \cdot r \cdot r \cdot l$ , gwant and  $k \cdot l \cdot l \cdot r \cdot l$  and  $k \cdot l \cdot r \cdot r \cdot l$ , are derived each pair from one root.

In some of the other classes the suffixes are obvious, although their meaning is not always clear. The suffix -sxan, in the class for long objects in Tsimshian, may well be a contraction of the numeral with sgan stick. The class designating human beings contains the endings -dl, -dal, which in the numeral three (guld'n) has been changed to -dn by dissimilation. The class expressing measures contains the element  $-\partial n$  HAND.

In the numerals the process of contraction may be observed with great clearness. Examples are the weakened forms  $kstens\hat{a}'l$  five persons, and that for nine persons, which is probably derived from the same stem,  $kstemas\hat{a}'l$ . Here belong also the forms  $yuklead\hat{a}'l$ , which stands for  $yukdeld\hat{a}'l$ ;  $k!el'\hat{o}'n$ , for  $k!e'rel'\hat{o}n$ ;  $k''ilg\bar{a}'x'$ , for  $k''\bar{e}el\ g\bar{a}x'$  One fathom.

# § 58. Ordinal Numbers, Numeral Adverbs, and Distributive Numbers

Ordinal numbers are not found, except the words  $ks-q\hat{a}'^ox$  and  $ks-dz\hat{o}'x$  THE FIRST, and  $ani\bar{a}'$  THE NEXT, which are not, strictly speaking, numerals.

Numeral adverbs agree in form with the numerals used for counting round objects.

nLk"ēt  $l\bar{o}$ - $la'qsk^ut$  La  $gul\bar{a}'alt$  then she washed him in it three times 197.11 (-t she;  $l\bar{o}$ - in;  $laqsk^u$  to wash; -t him)

#### Tsimshian:

| txā'lpxa haha'k!uxt four times it clapped together

Distributive numbers are formed with the prefix mela- (Tsimshian mela-), which has been recorded in § 10, no. 87. Besides this, reduplicated forms are found.

#### Tsimshian:

txā'lpxade wul k:'ipk:'a'pl sa al mela-k!e'reldel g:amk forty days to each month ZE 792.21 (sa day; g:amk month)

§ 58



### Syntactic Use of the Verb (§§ 59-65)

# § 59. Use of Subjunctive after Temporal Particles

The method of forming the modes has been discussed before, but it remains to add some remarks on their use. By far the most common form is the subjunctive. All historical prose, every sentence that does not express the speaker's own immediate experience, is expressed in this mode. For this reason almost all introductory conjunctions are followed by the subjunctive mode. Possibly this mode can best be compared with our participles in so far as it often has a somewhat nominal character. This is true particularly of the verb when introduced by the temporal particles hwil, La,  $L\bar{a}$ , dem (Tsimshian: wul, la,  $l\bar{a}^o$ , dem). The following examples illustrate their use:

1. hwîl seems to indicate primarily an action or state, then the place where an action takes place. It occurs commonly after verbs like to know, to hear, to see, to feel, to come, to go, and other verbs of motion, to find, to tell, and after many adjectives when treated as verbs. After the preposition a (see § 67) it generally expresses causal relations.

### After $hw\hat{\imath}l\bar{a}'x$ to know:

hwîlā'yît hwîla'nuksem ēlxt he knew the condition of being cooked of his seal 183.13 (a'nuks done; -em attributive connective; ēlx seal)

at hwîlā'x L hwîl had'a'xkuL hwî'ltg'ê he knew the being bad his doing 37.6 (had'a'xku bad; hwîl to do)

(Compare with this nîg·it hwîlā'x·s Ts'ak· hē'tg·ê Ts'ak· did not know what he said 127.7)

# After baq to feel:

baqı hwîl sqa-d'āı dâ'sgum ēlx 183.10 she felt the piece of seal being across (sqa- across; d'ā to sit; dâsku slice; ēlx seal)
nık''ē lat baqı dem hwîl alē'skut then he felt himself getting weak

### After naxna' to HEAR:

naxna'ı hwîl a'lg'îxı qāq she heard that the raven spoke 151.11 t naxna'ı hwîl hahü't t'an mokul ia'ns he heard that some one was speaking who caught leaves 15.11 (hēt to say; mokul to catch with net; ia'ns leaves)

(Compare with this t naxna' L hēL  $w\bar{\imath}$ - $d^{\bar{\imath}}\bar{e}'$  set he heard what the old man said 22.6)

**§** 59



### After $q \cdot a'a$ to see:

t g'a'aı hwîl göksı melê't he saw a salmon jumping 52.15

t g'a'al hwîl ā'lg'all g'at wī-x'pā'ot he saw a man examining the large jaw 52.6

t g·a'al lîlî'ng·it hwîl la ā'd'îk·skul ilä'e the slaves saw the blood having come out 133.15

### After $\bar{a}'d'\hat{i}k'sk^u$ to come:

 $\bar{a}'d'\hat{a}k \cdot sk^u L \ hw\hat{i}l \ mes\bar{a}'x$  it came to be daylight 160.7

ā'd'îk skul hwîl sīg a'tkudet it came that they cried 104.11

ā'd'îk'skul hwîl q'andā'ul lax-ha' the sky came to be clear 78.12

### After $i\ddot{a}'\hat{e}$ to go:

hagun-iä'êl g'at al hwîl ts'elem-nô'ôt the man went to the hole being there 201.11

### After $q\hat{a}'\hat{o}$ to go to:

nLk  $\dot{t}$   $\dot{q}$   $\dot{d}$   $\dot{a}$   $\dot{c}$   $\dot$ 

### After hwa to find:

 $n\hat{\imath}g\cdot\hat{\imath}t$  hwat hwil  $g\cdot\hat{\imath}k\cdot s$ L  $q\hat{\imath}'ttg\cdot\hat{\imath}$  he did not find his string of fish lying in the water 117.8 ( $n\hat{\imath}g\cdot\hat{\imath}$  not;  $g\cdot\hat{\imath}k\cdot s$  to be in water;  $q\hat{\imath}t$  a string of fish)

#### After mal to tell:

t ma' Ldet hwîl wî' thudetg'ê they told him where they got it from 42.8 (wîthu to come from)

t māls G·îx·sats'ā'ntx·L hwîl lē-hō'kskul lgō'ulkul g·a'tg·ê 90.15 G·îx·sats'ā'ntx· told where the child of the man was on (lē- on; hōksku to be with something; lgō'ulku child; g·at man)

### After adjectives used as verbs, and after numerals:

nakul hwîl iä't long he went 146.11 (long was his going)

nakul hwîl Lô'ôdet long they walked 126.6

 $w\bar{\imath}$ - $t'\bar{e}'$ sL  $hw\hat{\imath}l$   $g\cdot\hat{\imath}'tk^{u}tg\cdot\hat{\imath}$  he swelled up much 90.12

wi-t'ē's k hwîl ayawā'tkut he cried much 123.4

hux k''ēll hwî' hwî' ls Txä'msem T. did one thing more 44.13 q'ayîm-dē'lph" tal hwîl nanî' ûl lax-ha' he was quite near to where the hole in the sky was

### Tsimshian:

adat t!el-qâ'oti wul wa't\*ega sqā'otget he thought about it that the darkness continued ZE 784.3 (t!el-qā'oti to think; wa't\*eg to continue; sqāotg darkness)

adat n!axnū'o wul la g îk ha'ts! Eksem gô'it! Ekst then he heard him come again (n!axnū'o to hear; g îk again; ha'ts! Eksem once more; gô'it! Eks to come)

adat n/axnū'odet Waxayā'ok wul wī-sā'ldzege ts!a-wā'lbet then Waxayā'ok heard the people in the house groan much (wī-greatly; sāldz to groan; ts!a- inside; wālb house)

ada sa-nī'odze ya'ts! Esgede wul kse-gwā'ontge wī-gô'ep!a then the animals saw the great light rising ZE 785.6 (sa- suddenly; nī'odz to see, discover; ya'ts! Esg animal; kse- out; gwā'ontg to touch; kse-gwā'ontg to rise; wī- great; gô'ep!a light)

adat ma'lesge wula ha'usge n-ts!a'ptgao then he told what his tribe said ZE 786.8 (mal to tell; ha'u to say; ts!ap tribe)

adat pliā'ret ne-ts'a'pt gesga wula dza'ksga wai'k tga they told the tribe about their brother being dead (pliā'r to tell; ts'ap tribe; dzak dead; waik brother)

at k:\langle i'otsxan wul kse-gwā'ontge g:a'mget and he showed the moon that rose ZE 791.17 (k:\langle i'otsxan to show; g'amg sun, moon)

ām dep dem iā'oka unula ha'u a'uta good we follow what porcupine says ZE 792.22 (ām good; dep we; dem future; iā'ok to follow; ha'u to say; a'uta porcupine)

The use of wul is not quite so regular in Tsimshian as in the Nass dialect. We find, for instance,

 $t \; n! axn\bar{u}'^{\circ} \; ha'us \; Waxay\bar{a}'^{\circ}k \; \text{he heard what Waxayā'}^{\circ}k \; \text{said} \; ada \; g \cdot \hat{k} \; k! e'relde \; wul \; h \hat{o}ltga^{\circ} \; \text{and one more being full}$ 

On the other hand, wul is used very commonly with the introductory conjunctions ada, da. In fact, in most prose the greater number of sentences begin with this combination:

ada wul k'.'ê'pra-lemâ'otget then every one was saved ada wulat yā'ulemas Waxayā'okgao then he gave advice to W. ada wul ts!īont then he entered

The two forms wul and wula are apparently used without much discrimination. Both are generally admissible, and I have not succeeded so far in discovering any difference in their meaning.

# 2. La expresses a past state (Tsimshian: La).

sem-gwä'êl hwî'lt al gwasl guîs-halai'tg'ê he was very poor on having lost his dancing-blanket 38.14 (sem-very; gwäê poor; gwas to lose; quîs- blanket; halai't ceremonial dance)

k·si-Lô'ôdet al la laxlä'xkudet they went out having finished eating 40.9

 $t g \cdot a' a L w u n \ddot{a}' x \cdot L a \ a x \cdot g \cdot \ddot{e}' b E t g \cdot \hat{e}$  he saw the food which he had not eaten 41.4 ( $w u n \ddot{a}' x \cdot food; \ a x \cdot not; \ g \cdot \bar{e} p$  to eat something)

a'lg'îxs Lôgôbolā' al lat hwîlā'x'l hwîl dz'alt Lôgôbolā' spoke when he knew that he had lost 20.10 (a'lg'îx to speak; hwîlā'x' to know; dz'al to lose)

ba'sîxkudet al la xsdāt they divided upon his having won 21.1 la hux yu'ksa, nlk''ē... when it was evening again 141.4 la lē'skut lē-ia'tsl axt k'ō'ukut al lax-an-la'ku, after the porcupine had struck the fire with its tail 77.7

44877—Bull, 40, pt 1—10——26



adat sem-lu-sanā'lgetga a lat nī'o dudā'u leplô'op then he was much surprised at it when he saw the ice (on the) stones (semvery; lu in;  $san\bar{a}'lq$  surprised;  $n\bar{\imath}'$  to see;  $d\bar{a}'u$  ice;  $l\hat{o}''p$  stone) lu-ā'm gâ'ots nâ'ot gesge lat nī'bstgao his mother was glad when she saw him (lu- in;  $\bar{a}m$  good;  $g\hat{a}^o d$  mind;  $n\hat{a}^o$  mother;  $n\bar{i}^o$  to see) nin!ī' gan-haldem-g'ô'lt gesge la g'îk ganlā'ok therefore they arose when it was morning again ( $nin.'\bar{i}'$  that it is; gan-reason;  $hald_{Em}$ up; g'ôl to run [plural]; gesge at; g'îk again; ganlā'ok morning) adat g'ê'lksa lat wul'am-suwa'nde ba'osget then he felt when the wind had driven him ashore (g'êlks to feel; wul'am-landward; suwa'n to blow:  $b\bar{a}^osa$  wind) la g'îk k'. E'relde la tgi-iā'o sat when again one day went down  $(k/E'rel \text{ one; } tgi\text{-} \text{ down; } i\bar{a}'^{\circ} \text{ to go; } sa \text{ day})$ dzeda' ła xgwa'tksen if you feel cold dze la gwā'nksen you may have been cooked ada la qa'odisge ha'utgao when he had finished speaking

### 3. Lā while (Tsimshian: Lā°).

nlk·'ēt ma' Ldētg·ê Lā metkuL qal-ts'a'p then they told him that the town was full 183.14

ada lat sa-gā'lemga u'nkseget when they had taken off the ashes

La sem-bag ait-d'ā' L Lôqs, nek "ē . . . when really in the middle was the sun, then . . . 103.15

nîg'î hux hwîlt La qû'ôdet they did not do it again when they finished 179.10

#### Tsimshian:

§ 59

n!īnī't wul wulā'i lā°t wula sī'°p! ende na'kstga° that was how she knew that her husband continued to love her (wulā'i to know; sī'°p! en to love; naks husband)

ada lā'o wula hë'otge wul-qâ'osgedet then continued to stand the wise ones ZE 792.20 (hëotg to stand; wul-qâ'osg wise)

ada sagait-and' gasgetga a lā° dem wula iā'o gʻa'mgem dzî'usdet then they agreed together that the sun should continue to go ZE 791.18 (sagait-together; and' gasg to agree; iā'o to go; gʻamg moon, sun; dzī'us daylight)

### 4. dEm future (Tsimshian: dEm).

xpets/a'xl lig''ē'enskug'ê al dem dē-hwîlt the grizzly was afraid to do it also 56.14 (xpets'a'x afraid; lig''ē'ensku grizzly bear)

hēl qû'ôdel xa'el dem t'uks-t'ē'ses Ts'ak the slave thought he would push out Ts'ak 135.4 (hē to say; qû'ôd heart; xa'e slave; t'uks- out of; t'ēs to push)

nîg·i dem hux a'd'îk·sguēg·ê I may not come again 165.14 dzaL am-hā'ts' dem g·ē'îptg·ê the stump ate all he was going to eat

dem k''ē men-iē'en you shall go up 91.2

ada dem k!ul-man-gô'sen then you will jump up and about ZE 790.15 (k!ul- about; man- up; gôs to jump)
gwa'i dem ha'un this will you say ZE 790.15
da me dem kse-lô'o l sī'obet then shove out the bone! (me thou [subj.]; kse- out; lôo to shove; sīob bone)
ma'le demt legū'olardet she told she would burn it

# § 60. Use of Subjunctive in the Negative

The negative conjunction  $n\hat{\imath}g\cdot i$  (Tsimshian:  $alg_E$ ), and that used in interrogative-negative sentences  $n\hat{e}$  (Tsimshian: al), are followed by the subjunctive or by the connective -l

nîg'ît mât'ent dem sqa-iät lât 107.1 it did not let go what went across the way of it (mât't'en to let go; sqa-across; iä to go; lât to it)

nik'-ēt nîg'ît da-a'gikudet they do not reach it 139.2

nık' ēt nîg ît da-a'qıkudet they do not reach it 139.2 nîgîn dem dē-gō'ut I will not take it nēîl ad'ā'dîk sdeda? are they not coming? nē mesem hwa'da? didn't you find it? 106.7

### Tsimshian:

In the Tsimshian dialect the negative is generally used with the connective -l, as described in § 31; the first person singular following the negative is -\(\bar{\epsilon}\). (See § 51.)

a'lge n dem k!înā'mt al hanā°g I shall not give it to the woman a'lge di t!â'°xlgetga° it is not difficult

a wul a'lge dī t wulā'il dem dax-yā'ogul anī'ostgao because he did not know how to hold on to the branch (wulā'i to know; dax-yā'og to hold; anī'os branch)

a'lge di hasā'gai I do not wish (to do so)

a'lget nīsagā'otgetga sts!d'lgao the beaver did not mind it (nīsagā'otg to mind; sts!âl beaver)

Negative-interrogative sentences:

al sī'opgedi guga hanā'oxgao? is not this woman sick? al me wulā'idut în-wulā'gun? don't you know who has done this to you?

# § 61. The Subjunctive after Conjunctions

nLk'ēt g'a'aL hwîl  $l\bar{e}ba'yuk$ L  $q\bar{e}'wun$  103.5 then he saw the gulls fly (g'a'a to see;  $l\bar{e}ba'yuk$  to fly [plural];  $q\bar{e}'wun$  gull) k'ët  $q\bar{o}'uL$   $w\hat{o}h\bar{a}'st$  then he takes a string 217.4

wôalk'et lō-d'ep-t'eklā'alsaant then he breaks it down in it 217.8

(lō- in; d'ep- down; t'eklā'alsaan to break) tse n dem suwa'nt I may cure her 123.7

dat hwîlā'gut when he has done this to him 217.6

§§ 60, 61



adat ge'redaxtgao then hè asked her ada me dem sem wulā'i la gwā'ntgut then ye will know that I have touched

## § 62. Use of the Indicative

On account of the tendency of the Tsimshian language to express all narrative in the subjunctive mood, indicative forms are quite rare, and occur almost only in statements of self-experienced facts. It is remarkable that the particle na, which expresses the completed past, and which occurs in the Tsimshian dialect only, is always followed by the indicative.

 $| nan \ k!ul$ -sag'ap- $i\bar{a}'^onu$  I have only walked about without purpose Examples of the use of the indicative are the following:

dem iä'nēe al awa'an I shall go (to) near you 196.12 dem qalā'qnōm we will play 75.6 nîlne'l iâ'dēe I roast that 121.9

lep-g·ē'bedas dzē'edzē Lgo-lep-tq'al-mē'nt grandmother ate her own little vulva 121.12 (lep- she herself; g·ēb to eat something; dzē'edz grandmother; Lgo- little; tq'al- against; mēn vulva)

### Tsimshian:

gwa'lge ne wā'lbe sem'd'g'ît the chief's house is burnt ama wā'lt Tôm Tom is rich dem g'idi-gā'odu xāo I shall catch the slave wâont yā'ogut my grandfather invites thee

# § 63. The Negative

(a) The negative declarative is expressed by the adverb  $ni'g \cdot i$  (Tsimshian  $a'lg \cdot i$ ), which evidently contains the stem  $n\bar{e}$  (Tsimshian al) and the suffix indicating ABSENCE. The stem without this suffix is used in the negative interrogative (see § 60). The negative adverbs are always followed by the subjunctive.

nîg'ît hwîlā'x'ı hwîl dā'ull stēlt he did not know where his companion had gone 15.2 (hwîlā'x' to know; dāul to leave; stēl companion)

nîg·i t'êst'ē'st they were not large 113.9 (See also p. 403.)

(b) The negative interrogative is expressed by  $n\bar{e}$  (Tsimshian: al).  $n\bar{e}_L \ ad^2\bar{a}'d\hat{i}k \cdot sd_E da^2$  are they not coming?

 $n\bar{e}_L sg \cdot i_L m_E d_{Em} ha \cdot m_{En} \cdot s\bar{a}'g \cdot i_d a!$  have you anything to pull it up with!  $(sg \cdot i \text{ to lie}; m_E \text{ thou}; ha \cdot \text{means of}; m_{En} \cdot \text{up}; s\bar{a}g \cdot \text{to pull})$ 

§§ 62, 63

al ne-bā'odi? has he not been running?

a'l me-wulā'idut în-wulā'gun? don't you know who did this to you?

(c) The word no is expressed by  $n\bar{e}$  (Tsimshian:  $a'y\bar{i}n$ ). The form  $a'y\bar{i}n$  is also sometimes used in interrogative sentences.

" $n\bar{e}$ ,"  $d\bar{e}'yaz \ g\cdot a'tg\cdot \hat{e}$  "no," said the man 87.11

#### Tsimshian:

- "A'yînî ne-gan-wā'lsemi, nāot?"—"A'yîn." Did you not get what you went for, my dear?"—"No." (a'yîn not; ne- possessive; gan- reason; wāl to do; -sem ye; nāot my dear! [masc.])
- (d) hawā'lg (Tsimshian) signifies not yet.
  - a hawā'lga gû'l dedū'olset when not yet anything was alive ZE 782.1
- (e) In subordinate clauses the negation is expressed by ax- (Tsimshian wa-). These prefixes have been described in § 11, no. 137, p. 328. This prefix must be considered to have a nominal character, so that the whole sentence appears as a verbal noun.
  - (f)  $g \cdot \hat{\imath} l \hat{o}' \text{ don't ! (Tsimshian } g \cdot \hat{\imath} l \hat{a}')$ .

g'îlô dze sô'ôsem, ana! don't take the rest out 181.9 (dze weakens the imperative)

g'îlô' me dze sem ma'let don't tell about it! 181.11

#### Tsimshian:

|  $g \cdot \hat{\imath} l \hat{a}' b \bar{a}'^{o} s_{E} n t$  don't be afraid! |  $g \cdot \hat{\imath} l \hat{a}' m_{E} d z_{E} g \hat{a}'^{o} t$  don't go there!

# § 64. The Interrogative

In the Nass dialect the interrogative seems to be formed regularly by the suffix -a, which is attached to the indicative pronominal endings (see § 48). In Tsimshian the most frequent ending is  $-\bar{\imath}$ , but  $-\bar{\imath}$  also occurs. It does not seem unlikely that these endings may be identical with the demonstrative endings  $-\bar{\imath}$  and  $-\bar{\imath}$ , which were discussed in § 56. After interrogative pronouns these endings are not used.

## 1. Interrogative suffix -a:

nēēl ts/ēns K'al-hä'tyum-q'ē'semq al ts/em-hwîlbā'? did not Labret-on-One-Side enter the house? 191.12 (ts/ēn to enter; k'al- on one side; hätgu to stand; q'ē'semq labret; ts/eminterior; hwîlp house; -a interrogative)

nēîz wī-t!ē'sda? is it great?

nē me sem hwa'da? didn't you find it? 106.7



### Tsimshian -ī:

wa, nī'odzenī? do you see?

me dedū'olseni? are you alive?

a wu la dzakl wa'ni? is the deer dead yet?

al me n!axnō'odi gu xstāmqt? don't you hear a noise?

āl di ga'usenī? have you no hair?

#### Tsimshian -u:

sī'opgut? is he sick?
al me wulā'rdut în-wulā'gun? dost thou not know who did this to thee?
al me lā' wula habebâ'ldut? didst thou not always keep it?

2. No interrogative suffix is used after interrogative pronouns.

 $ag\bar{o}'$  what (Tsimshian:  $g\partial_{\bar{o}}$ ):

 $ag\bar{o}'L$  La an-hä'L qal-ts'ap? what is it that the people say? 138.15  $ag\bar{o}'L$  dem an-a'k'sen? what are you going to drink? 17.14  $ag\bar{o}'L$  hē'tsen? what is talking (there)? 23.9

### Tsimshian:

|  $g\hat{a}^o$  wula ha' unt? what do you say? nda where (Tsimshian: ndA):

ndal hwîl hētk" L hwîlp? where is the house?

ndal demt hwîl dē-wîtk"t? where will be have come from? 16.6

Tsimshian:

| ndA wula wā'otgent? where do you come from? nā who (Tsimshian: nāo):

nā t'an-ax-hwîlā'yîn? who does not know thee?

#### Tsimshian:

§ 65

| nāºl t în na'ksgɛ lgū'ºlgɛs Ģauô'? who is the one to marry the daughter of Ģauô? | nāºdɛ qu awā'on? who is the one next to thee?

# § 65. The Imperative

The imperative of intransitive verbs is ordinarily expressed by the second person of the indicative or subjunctive, while its emphasis may be lessened by the particle  $dz_E$ . Very often the personal pronoun is strengthened by the addition of the prefixed subjective pronouns. In many cases the imperative has the future particle, which suggests that the form is not a true imperative but merely a future which serves the purpose of expressing an order.

 $dem~yu'kden L~t'em-l\bar{a}'n\bar{e}e$  hold to my neck! 75.11  $dem~qal\bar{a}'qn\bar{o}m$  let us play! (literally, we shall play) 75.6

### Weakened by dze:

dze ama-g'a'adesem look well after her 191.15 me dze k''ē' me lō-k''ē'tselt then put in the finger 195.10

### Tsimshian:

 $dem \ k!ul-man-gô'sen$  then jump up and about!  $n!\bar{\imath}n\bar{\imath}' dem \ dzagam-h\bar{a}'otgenga^o$  that one call ashore! (literally, that is the one you will call ashore)

dem e'an ne-ama-wā'ls negwā'oden promise him the wealth of your father

# Weakend by dzE:

ada dze wul hau'un "lax-lô'ob" then say "on stone"

Transitive verbs may form their imperatives in the same way.

tgonl dem hwî'len do this! (literally, you will do this)

### Tsimshian:

 $|me\ dem\ lagar-lu-d\hat{a}^o\ d\bar{a}'u$  put ice on each side!  $|me\ dem\ se-wa'dit$  call him a name!

More frequently the imperative of transitive verbs is expressed by indefinite connectives, or, when there is no nominal object, by the ending L (Tsimshian -l).

goul lgo'ulgun take your child! 205.5

hūts'en-d'a' L qa-ts'ō'oL ts'ak' put back from the fire some dishes 207.2

sā'lebel steam it! 54.8.

### Tsimshian:

wai, di bā'oll you, on your part, try!

dex-yā'ogwa anī'oset hold on to the branch!

t!Em-stū'ol lu'msut accompany my son-in-law to the fire!

man-sa'ik'a asi'ont pull up your foot!

By far the most frequent method of expressing the imperative is by the periphrastic expression  $\bar{a}m$  (IT WOULD BE) GOOD (IF).

āml dem guxt take it! 141.6 āml dem se-â'lgum let us cut wood! 63.4 āml dem dē-xsan you gamble also! 29.1 ām me dem wô'ôl qal-ts'a'p invite the town 206.13

#### Tsimshian:

ām me dem dī bāolt try it too!
ā'msenl me k!a-dī-ba'ga n-dī-na-beba'gan just try my playground too (ām good; -senn dubitative; me thou; k!a- just; dī- on (thy) part; bag to taste; n- possessive; na- place; bag to taste, play)
ām dem k!ëogent escape!
ām dze gâos dep negwāoden go to your parents!
§ 65

The negative imperative is expressed by  $g \cdot \mathcal{U}\partial'$ .

g·ûlô'! nexna'yîtg·ê at ts!em-hwî'lp don't! they might hear you in the house 91.10.

g'îlô' me dze sem sqa-yô'xk\*t don't pass in front of it 107.3 g'îlâ'L sexsā'mexsemes don't keep your mouths closed 84.5

### § 66. Subordinating Conjunctions

The use of the temporal particles and of the negative as subordinating conjunctions has been described before (§§ 59 et seq.). It remains to enumerate a few of the other important conjunctions.

k\*'ē THEN; generally in connection with the demonstrative n-n\_k''ē ā'd'îk'sk"t then he came
 k''ē dôqL annā'sL qāq then he took the skins of ravens 39.2
 n\_L dem k''ē me-txē'ldîL smax' then burn the meat 213.1

### 2. **da** when.

da La wôgsl g'a'tg'ê when the man is buried 218.4

3. dzE(tsE) weakens statements.

nlk.'ē g'î'daxl sem'â'g'ît tse hwîl wîtkut then the chief asked where it might come from 183.13

nîg·ît hwîlāx's Wig·a't tse hwîl d'ep-a'xkul not knew Giant where he came down 15.1

nlk''ē wôxwa'xdet a tse hwîl hvî'll ēlx then they wondered at where was the seal 42.6

op tse nô'ôt, tse mē'tkul ak's al ba'nt lest he die, if his belly should be full of water 73.7

The use of dzE with imperatives has been explained before.

4. tsEda (dzE da) when, if.

tsEda hasa'xı haldā'ug'ît dEmt dzakuı sEl-g'a'tt, k''ē, when a witch desires to kill a fellow-man, then 217.1

tseda hux hwî'lēe, nlk''ē, when I do it again, then 165.12 ts!ē'nē nāt, tseda nē'en enter, my dear, if it is you! 39.13

5. op tse else, lest.

ōp tse nô'ôēe else I might die 74.4

k.'ē sem-ia'lkul lax-ō'l lô'ôp; ōp tse g'utg'wâ'ôtkul sāk: qan-hwîlt 34.9 then the top of the stone was very slippery; lest the olachen might be lost was the reason of his doing so (sem-very; ialku slippery; lax-ō' top; lô'ôp stone; g'wâôtku to be lost; sak olachen)

6. ts'ō although.

ts'ōt hux hwîlā'x't although he knows it § 66

### 1. ada then.

ada ma'tede dep gua'o then these told
adat g'ik sga-bā'ot he assisted him (literally, then he stood by
him)

### 2. **da** when.

ne la dem gwā'ntge da n dem sū mea'wulget when I shall have touched it, then I shall swing the rope (gwāntg to touch; sū to swing; mea'wulg rope)

da al ts! elem-ha'pda n!ā'oxlet, ada . . . when the killer-whales rushed in, then . . . (ts! elem- into; hap to rush [plural]; n!āoxl killer-whale)

#### 3. dzE weakens statements.

adat ge'redaxtge a gâ' dze gan ha'ut then they asked why he might have said so

 $\bar{e}\bar{a}p/exd\bar{\iota}$  a n dze  $txal-w\bar{a}'sde$   $lg\bar{u}'^0lgida^0$  I may remember when I may have met my child  $(\bar{a}p/ex)$  to remember;  $txal-w\bar{a}'^0$  to meet;  $lg\bar{u}^0lg$  child;  $-\bar{\imath}$  I, my [see § 51])

## 4. dzE da when, if.

n  $d_{EM}$  wa'lînt  $d_{ZE}$  da  $b\bar{a}'^{o}sen$  I will carry you if you are afraid (wa'li to carry on back;  $b\bar{a}^{o}s$  to be afraid)

 $dz = da \ l\bar{a} \ ts'\bar{\imath}'^o n\bar{\imath} \ dA \ n \ dem \ sa-dA-ga'inat$  when I enter, I shall fall with it  $(ts.'\bar{\imath}^o n$  to enter; sa- suddenly; dA- with something; ga'ina to fall)

### 5. ôp dzE else, lest.

 $b\bar{a}'^{o}senut\;\hat{o}'p\;dz$ e dza'gi I fear (lest) I fall

### 6. ts!u although.

ts.'u nī'yeda tgi-ô'ksut, da g'ap-a'lga-di-sga'yîksgī although I (literally, this one) fell down, he (I) really did not hurt himself (myself) (nīyeda he, this; tgi-down; ôks to drop; -u I; g'ap-really; a'lga not; di- on [my] part; sga'yîksg to be hurt)

ts!u wagait n'a g'ideganë'otsgao even though far to the Tlingit

### 7. $as\bar{\imath}$ while.

ada asī hiä'oksga lī'omitgao then while he began his song

# 8. amī if (event assumed as not likely to happen)

amī dze la me g'a'lkse dze dem lu-da'kkxan if you should feel that you may drown (g'alks to feel, lu-in; da'kkxan to be drowned)

 $am\bar{i} dz = la k \cdot l\bar{e}'^{o}xg = n$  when you have made your escape

# 9. $y\bar{u}^{o}l$ if (event expected to happen).

yw'l ne yê'dzen if I hit you

### § 67. Preposition

The preposition a is used to express local, temporal, and modal relations. When used for expressing local relations, the particular class is often expressed by the local particles prefixed to the verb and substantive. The preposition always takes the connective suffix -L or -s, as described in §§ 23, 28.

The following examples illustrate the wide application of this preposition:

# 1. Signifying AT:

barl lgo-a'k's al awa'adetg'ê a little water ran near them 117.3 (bax to run; lgo-little; ak's water; awa'a proximity)

iaga-ma'gat al g'ā'u he put him down at the front of the house 46.8 (iaga- down; mag to put; g'ā'u beach in front of house) al g'ā'ley outside 121.15

2. Signifying IN; generally with the verbal prefix  $l\bar{o}$ - and with the substantival prefix ts'em-:

lō-ma'qsku t'ēlw at ts'em-ts'ak the grease ran in (into) the dish 46.14 (lō-in; maqsku to stand [plural]; t'ēlw grease; ts'em-inside of; ts'ak dish)

 $tq'al-l\bar{o}-dz\hat{o}'qst$  at  $hw\hat{n}lpg\cdot\hat{e}$  he stayed in the house 64.11 (tq'al-against [i. e., permanently];  $l\bar{o}$ - in;  $dz\hat{o}q$  to camp;  $hw\hat{n}lp$  house)

3. Signifying on; generally with verbal prefix  $l\bar{e}$ - and substantival prefix lax-:

lē-iaq' L oq aL lax-anē'st a copper hangs on a branch 138.3 (lē-on;
 ia'q to hang; anē's branch)

4. Signifying TOWARD; often with the verbal prefix hagun:

hagun-ië'êL g'at aL awa'at a man went toward him 138.14 (hagun-toward; ië'ê to go; g'at man; awa'a proximity)
iü'êt aL g'ilē'lîx' he went into the woods 119.11

g'a'ask" t at lax-ha' he looked at the sky 137.6

5. Signifying From:

wêtkut al awa'as nôxt he came from near his mother 22.12 (wêtkut to come from; awa'a proximity; nôx mother)

k-saxt at hwî'lp he went out of the house 166.11

6. Signifying to; used like our dative:

hwîl hwî'ls dep bê'ebēe as nê'en thus did my uncles to thee 157.9 (hwîl to do; dep plural; (n-)bê'êb uncle; -ēe my; nê'en thou) g'înā'mt al lgo-tk''ê'lk" he gave it to the boy 139.4

7. Signifying WITH; instrumental:

 $La'lb_{EL}\ q'ald\bar{o}'x'$  at  $ha-q'\bar{o}'L$  she scraped the spoon with her fish-knife 8.9 (La'lb to scrape;  $q'ald\bar{o}'x'$  spoon;  $ha-q'\bar{o}'L$  fish-knife)

- lē-ia'tset lax-a'k's al waqlt he struck the water with his tail 75.15 (lē-on; ia'ts to strike; lax-surface; ak's water; waql beaver's tail)
- guxL laku aL lēt qanL daqL he took fire-wood with wedge and hammer 90.8 (gux to take; laku fire-wood; lēt wedge; qan and; daqL hammer)

# 8. Signifying on Account of:

 $s\bar{\imath} Epk^u$ L  $q\hat{a}'\hat{o}ts$   $W\bar{\imath} - g \cdot a't$  at  $xdax \cdot t$  sick was Giant's mind on account of his hunger 69.4

sem-pla'k'skut al hwî'ltg'ê he was very tired on account of what he had done 62.15

## 9. Expressing time:

al wī-sa' all day long 138.9 (literally, at great day)
al haô'ng'ê mesā'x'g'ê before daylight 151.6 (at not yet daylight)
al sînt in summer 20.14

### 10. Used with various verbs:

lē-metmē'tkut al t'ē'ben they were full of sea-lions 108.8 (lē- on; mēthu full; t'ē'ben sea-lion)

mētkul māl al lān the canoe was full of spawn 29.10

ansawa'taut as ne'ta'ê they made fun of him 143.3

nlk'et g'enl g'a'tg'ê al hwîndô'ô the man fed him with tobacco 90.10 (g'en to give to eat; g'at man; hwîndô'ô tobacco)

g·ēkul Liâ'n al haya'tsku he bought elk for coppers 194.11 (g·ēku to buy; Liâ'n elk; haya'tsku copper)

sa-hwa'det al X-ama'lgwaxdel Wâ'se they called him Eating-Scabs-of-Wâ'se 41.14 (sa- to make; hwa name; x- to eat; ama'lku scab)

q'âtskut al hana'q he was tired of the woman 126.1 wai-q'a'tkut as nequâ'ôdet he longed for his father 203.13

The preposition a is used very often with hwil and dem to express causal and final subordination, the subordinate clause being thus transformed into a nominal phrase.

# 11. al hwîl because (literally, at [its] being):

 $laxb\bar{e}ts'\bar{e}'x'd\bar{e}t$  . . .  $aL\ hw\hat{\imath}lt\ g'a'adet$  they were afraid because they saw it 207.10

al hwîl nîgidi halai'ts Ts'ak; nîlne't qant-hwîla'kudetg'ê because Ts'ak: was no shaman, therefore they did so 123.12 (nîgi not; di on his part; halai't shaman; nîlne't that; qan reason; hwîl to do)

lō-hwa'ntkul qâ'ôdet al hwîl x\*tamkut its heart was annoyed because of the noise 95.15 (lō-in; hwantku annoyed; qâôt heart; xstamku noise)

lō-hwa'ntkul qâ'ôdet al hwîl xstamkut he was annoyed on account of the noise 95.15 (lō-hwa'ntku annoyed; qâ'ôt mind)

aba'g'askut al hwîl sî-k''a-wi-yē'tkust he was troubled because he cried anew very much 21.12 (aba'g'asku to be troubled; sî-anew; k''a- exceedingly; wi-yē'tku to cry)

# 12. al dem in order to, that:

tsagam-wô'ôt al  $d_{EM}$   $d_{E}d\bar{a}'l_{E}qt$  he called it ashore to talk with it 38.1 (tsagam- ashore:  $w\hat{o}'\hat{o}$  to call;  $d_{E}d\bar{a}'l_{E}q$  to talk with)

k.'ēt bôxt al dem  $n\bar{o}\hat{o}m$ -a'k.'st he waited for her to be thirsty 21.7 (bôx to wait;  $n\bar{o}\hat{o}m$ - to desire; ak's to drink)

 $l\bar{o}$ -ya'lthut at  $dem \ y\bar{o}'\hat{o}xhut$  he returned to eat 55.9

k·si-ba'x al dem gun-lu'kt he ran out to make move

13. Sometimes the connection expressed by a is so weak that it may be translated by the conjunction AND. Evidently the verb following a is nominalized.

yō'ôxkut al wī-t'ē'sem yō'ôxkut he ate, and ate much 36.10 d'āt al wī-yē'tkut he sat and wept 39.7 (he sat down, weeping) iaga-iä'l na'k'stg'ê... al la gwâ'ôtkut his wife went down, and he was lost 166.7, 8

#### Tsimshian:

The variety of forms which the preposition a takes in Tsimshian has been discussed in § 28. Here examples will be given illustrating its application.

# 1. Signifying AT:

ada k!a-t!ā'ot gesga g-îlhau'li then he sat at the inland-side for a while

al di nâºkl g·ad a awa' nakse ne-wai'g·u? does a person lie near my brother's wife? (al not; di- on his part; nâºk to lie; g·ad a person; awa' proximity; naks wife; waig· brother)

# 2. Signifying in:

demt  $\bar{u}'^o den \ a \ ts!$  em-la'get he will bake thee in the fire ( $\bar{u}^o d$  to bake; ts! em- interior of; lag fire)

# 3. Signifying on:

adat l'ī-se-gu'lge la'ge da lax'ô'tgao then he lighted a fire on top of him (l'ī- on; se- to make; gulg to light; lag fire; lax'ô top)

me dem t'ā'ont gesge stū'op'.elgao make him sit in the rear of the house

# 4. Signifying TOWARD:

ada hagul-iā'ot gesga awa' ne-wā'lbt then he went slowly toward his house

 $gun-i\bar{a}'^{o}t$  gesge wul  $n\hat{a}^{o}kt$  he went to where he lay

# 5. Signifying FROM:

wā'otget gesge awā' na'kstguo he came from near his wife haldem-bā'oget Astiwā'l gesge lax-lô'opgao Astiwā'l arose from the stones

### 6. Signifying to; used like our dative:

ada wul ha'us negwā'ot ges nī'otgao then his father said to him adat wula k'!îna'msge da'u gesge lgū'olgetgao then he gave ice to his child (k'!îna'm to give; da'u ice; lgū'olg child)

### 7. Signifying with, instrumental:

dat wul  $l\bar{u}$ -sga-ya'dze ts'alt gesge  $l\bar{\iota}$  then she struck him across the face with the feather ( $l\bar{u}$ - in; sga- across; yadz to strike; ts'al face;  $l\bar{\iota}$  feather)

dzā'bet al an'o'ntg'ê he made with his hands lalbet al ha-q'ō'l she scraped with a fish-knife 8.9

### 8. Signifying ON ACCOUNT OF:

lū-q/ā'ga gâ'ots Astiwā'l gesge ne-txalā'ndet Astiwā'l was sad on account of those he had (left) behind (lū- in: q/āg open, hollow; gâod mind; txalā'n behind)

### 9. Expressing time:

a wi-gâ'msɛm during the whole (great) winter a nA-qâ'ga in the beginning ZE 78111

## 10. Used with various verbs:

a wult se-q!an-q!adā'ulu ga-gâ'odA a gwa'dEk\*Em iēont because she refreshed the hearts with cool fog ZE 797.32 (q!an-dā'ul, literally, to go over, to refresh; gwa'dEk\*s cool; iēon fog)

hô'ltge wā'lbet a ts!ā°g full was the house of fat

adat wul pliā'res negwā'ot gesget g'îlks-nī'osge na'kstgao then she told her father that she had looked back at her husband (pliā'r to tell; g'îlks- back;  $n\bar{\iota}$ o to see)

#### 11. a wul because:

a wult la na'gedat n'axnū' hau because for a long time she had heard say (nag long; n'axnu' to hear; hau to say)

asd  $\bar{e}$  wull wa-d $\bar{i}$ -dgu- $x\bar{a}'$   $^{o}ga$  because they, on their part, were even without a little foam (i. e., had nothing) (wa- without;  $d\bar{i}$ -on their part; lgu- little;  $x\bar{a}^{o}g$  foam)

### 12. a dem in order to, that:

txan!ī' gā bā°lde la'msu a demt wula dza'kdut everything tries my father-in-law to kill me (txan!ī all; gā what, something; bā'°ld to try; lams father-in-law; dzak to kill)

a  $demt \, \bar{u}'^{o}tut$  in order to bake me

a demt ma'ksge ne-sesī'optgao in order to gather his bones

### 13. a and:

ada wul wa'ndit a bâ'okedet then they sat down and lamented

Digitized by Google

#### TEXTS

#### NASS DIALECT

Txanē'tkL¹ S8. 2 hîs-dzô'qsL3 klope-tk·lē'Lku. 4 Wī-hē′lt.⁵ little Every day played camping children. Many g'am-k'!ēlL6 wī-ga'n.7 Wī-lō-nô'ôL8 Wi-d'E'xL10 wī-ts!ä'wut.9 Great in hole inside. one great log. great only Large NL11 hwîl12 wī-ga'n.<sup>7</sup> g'its'EL-qâ'ôdEL 13 k'ope-tk''ē'Lku.4 NîLne'L 14 Then little Then great tree. in went children. hwî'lpdētg:ê 15 wī-qalk·si-nô'ôm 16 gan.7 NLk 'et 17 lō-sī-me'ıdēl 18 large through hole of in made burn they their house tree. Then lât.19 NLk . 'e 17 txâ'xkudet 30 wi-hē'lL5 laku ts'ēle'mdet. hux fire in it. Then again they ate many their traveling provisions. gul-q'anē'tkuL21 k'ope-tk''eLku.4 La 22 nakuL23 Hân ts'elē'mL little Salmon the provisions of children. When long aL 25 hwî'ldet24 sa.2 nLk . 'e17 La<sup>22</sup> txanë'tkuL1 hux t'esL ak s they did so day, then at every when again large was water La <sup>22</sup> lō-dzô'qdet 26 aL 25 wī-ts'Em-ga'n.27 NLk ''e 17 hux hux pta'lîk's. when again in they camped at great in Then again the water log. rose.

<sup>1</sup> txa- all (§ 10, no. 93); txanētku independent form; L-connective of numerals (§ 23.6).

<sup>\*</sup> Same form in singular and plural (§ 41).

<sup>\*</sup> his- to pretend (§ 10, no. 79); dzóq to camp; -s suffix (§ 17, no. 6) required by his-; L- connective of predicate and subject (§ 23).

<sup>\*</sup> k'opz- small [plural] (§ 10, no. 113); tk''čLk" children [plural]; k'opz- only in the plural; Lgō- is the singular of small.

<sup>6</sup> wi- great (§ 10, no. 73); helt many (almost always used with the prefix wi-).

<sup>\*</sup> q'am- only (§ 10, no. 118);  $k''\ddot{c}l$  one flat thing (§ 57); L- connective of numerals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> wī- great (§10, no. 73); gan tree, log.

<sup>\*</sup> wi great; lo- in (verbal prefix [§ 9, no. 29]); no'o hole; -L predicative connective.

<sup>•</sup> ts/āwu the inside; in combination with nouns the prefix ts'zm- is used to designate THE INSIDE (§ 11, no. 152); -t probably possessively its.

<sup>10</sup> wi great; d'Ex large.

<sup>11</sup> n-demonstrative (?); L probably connective.

<sup>12</sup> Verbal noun, here designating the place where something happens (§ 59).

<sup>&</sup>quot;The prefix g-its EL is not known in other combinations;  $i\tilde{e}'\ell$  (singular),  $q\tilde{a}'\delta$  (plural), to go; -det 3d person plural (§ 53); -L connective.

<sup>14</sup> n- demonstrative (?); L- probably connective. This conjunction seems to appear here doubled.

<sup>16</sup> hwilp house; -det their; -gr invisible (§ 20).

<sup>16</sup> wi- great; qalk-si- through (§ 9, no. 24); nó'ó hole; -m adjectival connective.

 $m_{nL}$ ; see note 11; k' $\bar{e}$  then; t transitive subject, 3d person (§ 48).

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  lö- in (§ 9, no. 29); si- to cause (§ 13, no. 164); meL to burn; -det they; -L connects predicate and object.

<sup>19</sup> tát 3d person pronoun, oblique case (§ 54).

<sup>20</sup> ya'axku (singular), txa'6xku (plural), to eat (intransitive verb); -det they.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> A compound the elements of which are not quite clear (compare txanē'tku all); also qane-hwila always (§ 10, no. 120).

<sup>22</sup> Particle indicating that one action is past when another sets in; also verbal noun (§ 59).

<sup>22</sup> naku long, temporal and local.

<sup>\*</sup> hwil to do; -det they.

<sup>25</sup> a general preposition (§ 67); -L indefinite connective.

<sup>≠</sup> lo- in; dzóq to camp; -det they.

<sup>#</sup> wi- large; ts/Em- inside of (§ 11, no. 152).

NLk ''ē 17 g 'îg 'â'k 'sL 28 wi-ga'n. Nık''ē uks-o'lîk'skut.29 Nî'g'ît30 Then floated Then out to sea it drifted. the great log. Not they Yukl 32 hwîlā'x'L³¹ k'ope-tk''ē'Lku.4 gwanem-qala'qdet 33 aL 25 knew it the little children. Beginning they were playing at lo-ts'ä'wuL34 wī-ga'n La22 hwagait-uks-dā'uL 35 aL 25 hwagait-g ·ī'ks 36 out it was going at inside of great log when away way off shore to sea La<sup>22</sup> uks-na'kut.<sup>37</sup> NLk ''ē 17 k'si-Lô'ôtk"L38 k·'âlL39 Lgō-tk·'ē'Lku.4 when out to sea far. Then out went one little La 41 hwagait-uks-o'lîk skut 29,35 aL 25 NLk · 'ēt 17 g'a'at40 hwîl Then he SB W where when way seaward it drifted to hwagait-gʻī'îks. 36 k'si-qâ'ôdeL42 NLk ''ē 17 k'ope-tk''e'Lku.4 NLk''ē 17 way off shore. Then out went the little children. sîg'a'tkudēt;43 sîg:a'tkudēt.43 NLk ''ē 17 k'uL-da'uL45 qanē-hwîla44 they cried; always they cried. Then about went &L 25 wī-ga'n <sup>7</sup> hwagait-lax-sē'Elda.46 way off the on the ocean. log at great Nrk.,ē k·si-Lô'ôtkuL38 Lgō-hwîl-xô'ôsgum47 Lgo-tk''ē'Lku.4  $\mathbf{hux}$ little the little being out was put child. Then again wise lēba'yukL48 qē'wun.49 NLk 'et g'a'aL40 hwîl<sup>12</sup> NLk 'e ha'ts'îk sem50 Then he 88.W where flew gulls. Then K·'ēt maLt:52 lō-va'ltkuts1 ts'ä'wuL34 wī-ga'n. "Qa'nē-hwîla" &L inside of great \log. Then he told it: "Always he returned яt lax-ō'Em,54 aq-dep-hwîlā'gut?"55 lē-hwa'nL53 qē'wun49 NLk''ē 8.L without we [way of] doing?" on sit. gulls at top of us, Then

<sup>■</sup> g·ig·d'k·s to drift.

<sup>\*</sup> uks- out to sea, from land to sea (§ 8, no. 6); -t intransitive, 3d person singular.

nig'i indicative negation; -t transitive subject, 3d person.

<sup>21</sup> hwild'x: to know; -det (3d person plural ending has been omitted here).

<sup>23</sup> yuk appears both as verb and as particle.

m gwan Em-a prefix of doubtful significance.

 $b\bar{b}$  a verbal prefix, appears here with the noun  $b\bar{a}'\bar{a}'vu$  the inside. It seems that this whole expression is possessive or verbal, because otherwise the connective would be -m (§ 22).

<sup>\*\*</sup> hwagait- away (§ 10, no. 71); uks- seaward (§ 8, no. 6); da'uL to leave; perhaps the ending -t would be better.

<sup>\*\*</sup> hwagait- is both verbal and nominal prefix; g-iks the region off shore (a noun corresponding to the verbal prefix uks-).

<sup>7</sup> uks-seaward; naks far; -t perhaps closure of sentence (§ 20).

k·si- out (§ 8, no. 8); Lô'ôtku.

<sup>\*</sup> k'dl one (numeral for counting human beings [§ 57]; -L connective of numerals (§ 23).

<sup>ø g a'a to see; -t it (object).</sup> 

<sup>41</sup> hwil La present and past participle forming nominal clause (§ 59).

<sup>\*</sup> k'si-out of (§ 8, no. 8); ad'od to go (plural); -det they.

<sup>4</sup> irregular plural (§ 46); singular wuyi'tku.

<sup>&</sup>quot; qanē- always (§ 10, no. 120).

<sup>\*</sup> k'uL- about; da'uL to leave, to go.

<sup>&</sup>quot; hwaqail- way off (verbal and nominal prefix); lax- surface of (nominal prefix corresponding to l\(\bar{c}\) on; (\(\frac{1}{3}\) 11, no. 151; \(\frac{5}{3}\) 9, no. 30) s\(\bar{c}\)-zlda ocean.

<sup>47</sup> Lgö-little; hwil-being (§ 59); xô'ôsku wise; -m adjective connective (§ 22).

<sup>48</sup> g'ibā'yuku (plural  $l\bar{e}b\bar{a}'yuku$ ) to fly (§ 45).

<sup>49</sup> Singular and plural same form (§ 41).

<sup>₩</sup> Adverb.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> This verb occurs always with the prefix  $l\bar{o}$ - in.

<sup>52</sup> mal to tell (transitive verb).

is it- on corresponds to the nominal prefix lax- (note 46); d'a (plural hwan) to sit; -L indefinite connective.

bi lax-surface (corresponds to the verbal prefix  $l\tilde{\epsilon}$ - on [note 53]);  $\tilde{\sigma}^{\epsilon}$  top; -m our.

is aq-without, and also negation of dependent clauses (§ 11, no. 137); dxp-plural of transitive pronoun;  $hwila^ik^{\mu}$  is a peculiar form; while it is apparently a passive of hwil, it is used as a transitive verb; -t probably object 3d person.

```
tgön<sup>56</sup>
          hēL57
                     k ''âlL39
                                 Lgō-tk·'ē'Lku:4
                                                        "Ām<sup>58</sup>
                                                                    dep 59
                                                                               d'îsd'ē'sr.
                                 little
           said
                                          child:
                                                         "Good
                                                                                  strike
                        one
qa-dz'ā'gam,61
                                       k · 'ē62
                                                 ilä'êlaat.63
                                                                   dep64
                                                                                       k·'ē
                             dem
                                                                              dem
                      nL
                     they
                             future
                                       then
                                                    bleed.
                                                                             future
                                                                                        then
   our noses,
                                                                    we
mant<sup>64</sup>
                  dāx L65
                                              N_L
                                                                k · 'ē62
                                                                           tq'al-hathe't66
                               wī-ga'n.
                                                      dem
           aL
                                                                then
rub it
            at
                  outside of
                              great
                                    log.
                                             They
                                                      future
                                                                          against stand
ts'obä'qL
              qē'wun
                          lâ'tg'ê.67"
                                                       hwî'ldetg:ê.68
                                                                           D'îsd'e'sdēL60
                                           Nık'e
                             on it."
                                            Then
                                                         they did so.
                                                                             They struck
qa-dz'a'qdēt.
                     K·'ē ā'd'îk'skuL69
                                            hwîl12
                                                     iLä'êLaat.63
                                                                      NLk''ēt k''îlq'al-
                                                                       Then they
  their noses.
                     Then
                                came
                                             being
                                                     · they bled.
                                                                                   around
ma'ndēt70 al wi-ga'n.
                                            la'mdzîxdēt<sup>71</sup>
                                Nrk.'ē
                                                               aL
                                                                     ts'ä'wuL
                                                                                 wī-ga'n.
                                                                     the inside of the
rubbed it
           on the great log.
                                   Then
                                              they entered
                                                                at
                                                                                great
Nık 'e
           ad'ā'd'îk skur.69
                                 wi-hē'ldEm<sup>72</sup>.
                                                    qē'wun.
                                                                   Nık'ë
                                                                              lē-hwa'nt<sup>53</sup>
 Then
                    came
                                       many
                                                       gulls.
                                                                     Then
                                                                                  they sat
                                                             La<sup>22</sup>
lâ'ôt.19
                   tq'al-gulgwa'lukL73
                                              as'îsa'it.74
                                                                     sem-bagait-d'āL75
           K.'ē
                              dried
                                              their feet.
                                                             When
                                                                      very middle
 on it.
           Then
                   against
                                                                                     was
Lôqs,76
                                        Lgō-k·'ā-wī-t'ē'st.78
           nlk.'ē hux k.saxl17
                                                                   NLk 'e leba'yukl48
                                        little really great large.
the sun.
                    again
                           went out
                                                                     Then
                                                                                   flew
                                                                                   Nık 'et
qē'wun.
              Nî'g ît30
                           daa'qLkudēL<sup>79</sup>
                                                \mathbf{dem}
                                                       lēbā'yukdētg:ĉ.48
 the gulls.
              Not they
                              succeeded
                                                future
                                                              they flew.
                                                                                   Then he
dôq L<sup>80</sup>
           k·'âlL39
                       Lgō-tk·'ē'Lku.4
                                              Nrk·'ēt
                                                           lō-ḥaL-t'uxt'a'qL81
                                                                                     t'em-
                        little
took them
                                              Then he
              one
                                child.
                                                           in along
                                                                       twisted
                                                                                      their
               gul-ganē'L<sup>83</sup>
lā'nîx t82
                                  wi-hē'ldEm<sup>72</sup>
                                                      qē'wun.
                                                                     Nık 'et
                                                                                  lō-d'ep-
 necks
                     all
                                                                      Then he
                                                                                   in down
                                    great many
                                                         gulls.
dā'LEt84
                         nanô'ôL85
                                       wī-ga'n.
                                                    Nrk.'ē
                                                                                 qagô'ôL87
                 hwîl
                                                              lō-am'ā'mL86
put them
                 where
                            holes
                                      great log.
                                                     Then
                                                               in
                                                                    good
                                                                                   hearts
```

<sup>™</sup> The introductory t- of the demonstrative is the subject of the transitive verb; HE.

<sup>57</sup> For het-L.

<sup>#</sup> dm good; used here as a periphrastic exhortative: IT WOULD BE GOOD IF WE --- (§ 65).

dEp plural of transitive subject (§ 48).

<sup>∞</sup> d'ēs (plural d'isd'ē's) to strike (§ 42).

<sup>•1</sup> dz'ag nose; plural qa-dz'ag (§ 43); -m our.

<sup>62</sup> nLk. c (note 17) appears here divided by the future particle dEm.

<sup>4</sup> iLät blood.

<sup>64</sup>d Ep mant we rub it (§ 48) (subjunctive).

<sup>6</sup> dax surface, outer side.

<sup>%</sup> tq'al-against (§ 9, no. 35);  $h\bar{\epsilon}t$  (plural  $hath\bar{\epsilon}'t$ ) to stand.

<sup>\*</sup> lit oblique case, 3d person pronoun; -g-è absent (because the outer side of the tree was invisible to the speaker).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> hwil to do; -det they; -g·ℓ absent.

<sup>60</sup> å'd'ik'sku (plural ād'ā'd'ik'sku) to come.

<sup>70</sup> k. ilq'al- around; man to rub (transitive verb).

<sup>11</sup> ts'en (plural la'mdzix) to enter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> wi-hi'lt many (see note 5); usually used with adjectival connective -m, not with numeral connective -L ( $\S$  22).

<sup>13</sup> tq'al- against; gwa'luk to dry.

 $<sup>^{74}</sup>$  asa'e (plural as'isa'e) foot.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> sem-very (§ 15, no. 168); bagait-in middle; d'a to sit (used to express the idea of to be in a position, for round objects.

<sup>76</sup> sun or moon.

n k-sax to go out (probably related to k-si- out of [§ 8, no. 8]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Lgō- a little;  $k^{*i}\bar{a}$ - really;  $w\bar{i}$ - great;  $t^{i}\bar{c}s$  large (almost always combined with  $w\bar{i}$ -);  $\cdot t$  probably close of sentence.

<sup>&</sup>quot; da-aqlku; aqlku to attain. The prefix da may be the same as in de'ya he says thus (§ 49, d).

so gou (plural doq) to take (§ 46).

<sup>81</sup> lo-in; hal along (§ 9, no. 50); t'aq (plural t'Ext'a'q) to twist; -L connects predicate with object.

<sup>\*\*</sup> t' zm- prefix indicating certain parts of the body; probably from t'am sitting (§ 33).

<sup>84</sup> See note 21.

<sup>4</sup> lo- in; d' Ep- downward (§ 8, no. 4); dal to put.

<sup>85</sup> See note 8; nanó'ó is here plural.

<sup>\*</sup>  $l\bar{o}$ - in;  $\bar{a}m$  (plural  $am'\bar{a}'m$ ) good (§ 42).

er ga'ot (plural qaqa'ot) mind, heart.

water.

(them)

some- on edge of

to

k'ope-tk''ē'lku. G'ē'îpdel8 sma'x'tg'ê9 la2 t'a'k'dēl9 hwî'ldetg'ê91 the little children. They ate it the meat when they forgot hwagait-k'uL-da'uLdēt92 8L hwagait-lax-sē'lda.46 when way out about they went at way out Nîg î lîg·i-lax-ts'ä'L94 lîg'i-tsagam-dē'lpkudet, 88 aL ak's.

short they

NLk''ē La hux dē-nexna'xdēL95 K·'ē k·'ēlL6 88. wī-xstō'ntk". when again they heard one day noise. Then an-tgo-lē'lbîk'sku 97 k·si-Lô'ôL96 k'ope-tk''ē'Lku. Gwinā'dēl. out went the little boys. Behold the whirlpool lō-lē-d'Ep-yu'kdet.99 in on down they went. 1.A<sup>98</sup> NLk'e ā'd'îk 'skuL69 hwîl12 hwîl where when Then came the La<sup>22</sup> sīg a'tkudēt43 lō-d'ep-hē'tkuL100 wi-ga'n **⊾**Lôqk<sup>u</sup>L at. dem<sup>101</sup> when in down stood future swallow

an-tgo-lē'lbîk·sku.97 the whirlpool.

their crying

anywhere landward

La22 lō-d'Ep-hē'tkut,100 Nrk.'ē dē-uks-ba'xL k ''âlL39 g'a'tg'ê.102 Then when in down it stood, also sea-ward

the great tree

Q'am-k.'ē'lL103 g'a'tg'ê.102 asa'eL74 NLk.'ēt g'alkul104 wī-ga'n aL<sup>25</sup> Only foot the man. Then he the great speared log

qalā'st. 105 K·'ēt tsagam-dā'mgantg ê;106 de-lē-mâ'tguL107 g'a'tg'ê.102 Then he ashore pulled it; he saved them the man. bax-Lô'ôL108 k'ope-tk''ē'Lk" ts'Ein-hwî'lpL109 Nık'ë gʻa'tgʻê. aLThen went the little children to inside of house of the man.

Nık'e yuk-txâ'q'Ens<sup>110</sup> Q'am-k''ē'lem-asa'ē.111 began he fed them Only-One-Foot. Then

<sup>\*</sup>  $g \cdot \tilde{e}ip$  to eat something. We should expect here  $t g \cdot \tilde{e}'ipdet$  smax.

<sup>∞</sup> smax venison; -t its; -gê absent.

<sup>&</sup>quot; t'ak' to forget; -det they; -L connective.

n hwil to do: -det they; -gr € absent.

n hwagait - way off; k'uL- about; dauL to go; det they.

<sup>22</sup> lig i-somewhere, indefinite place (§8, no. 20); lsagam-landward (§8, no. 9); delnku short, near; -det they.

<sup>\*\*</sup> lig'i- (see note 93); lax- surface; is'ät shore, edge (nominal term corresponding to isagam).

 $m d\tilde{\epsilon}$ - also (precedes transitive subject); nExna'x to hear.

<sup>#</sup> iäê (plural Łó'ó) to go (§ 46).

<sup>97</sup> an- prefix indicating place (§ 12, no. 157); Igo- around; E'lbik-sku to flow (?).

<sup>98</sup> hwil La where in the past.

<sup>#</sup> lo- in (namely, inside the whirlpool); lo- on (namely, on the surface of the water); d'zp downward; yuk to begin; -det they.

<sup>100</sup> lo-in; d'zp-down; het to place upright: hetke to be placed upright, to stand (§ 17).

<sup>101</sup> aL dem to the future—, final sentence (§§ 59, 67); i. e., to the future swallowing of the whirlpool. 103  $g \cdot at$  man;  $-g \cdot \ell$  absent.

<sup>163</sup> q'am only;  $k''\tilde{e}l$  one flat or round thing.

g alk to spear; the preceding t is the subject, the terminal -L connecte predicate and object.

<sup>106</sup> Terminal t either pronom or close of sentence.

<sup>108</sup> tsagam-shoreward; dā'mgan to haul.

<sup>107</sup> málku (plural le-má'lku) to save (§ 45).

<sup>108</sup> bax- up along ground (§ 8, no. 1). 100 ts' Em- the inside of (nominal prefix).

<sup>110</sup> yuk- beginning; txdoxk\* to eat (plural) (see note 20); -En causative suffix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> See note 103. Here q'am k' ël is used as an attribute, not as a predicate, hence the connective -am instead of -L.

<sup>44877—</sup>Bull. 40, pt 1—10——27

#### [Translation]

Children played camping every day. There were many of them, and there was only one great log. It had a great hole inside. It was a large log. That is the place where the children went in. Then the large tree with the hole in it was their house. They made a fire burn in it, and they also ate [many] traveling-provisions. Salmon was the traveling-provisions of all the children. When they had done so for a long time every day, when the water was great (high) again, they again camped in the great log. The water rose again and the great log floated. It drifted out to sea. The children did not know it. They were playing inside of the great log while it was going out to sea and when it was far away from the shore. Then one boy went out. He saw that they had drifted seaward and that they were way off shore. Then the children went out. Then they cried. They cried all the time. Then the great log went way out on the ocean.

Then a little wise boy went out. He saw gulls flying about. He returned again into the great log, and he told them, "Gulls are always sitting on top of us. Can we not do anything?" Then one child said the following: "Let us strike our noses. Then they will bleed. Then we will rub (the blood) on the outside of the great log. Then the feet of the gulls will stand on it." They did so. They struck their noses, and blood came out of them. Then they rubbed it on the great log. Then they entered the inside of the great log. Many gulls came and sat on it. Then their feet dried against it. When the sun was right in the middle of the sky, the one who was really a little large went out again. Then the gulls flew. They did not succeed in flying. Then one boy took them. Then he twisted off the necks of all the many gulls. Then he put them down into the hole of the great log. Then the children were glad. They ate the meat and forgot what was happening, that they were going way out on the ocean.

They were not anywhere near shore or the edge of the water. Then one day they heard a great noise. The boys went out. Behold! there was a whirlpool in which they were going down. Then they began to cry when the great log stood downward in it, about to be swallowed by the whirlpool.

While it was standing downward in it, a man ran seaward. The man had one foot. Then he speared the great log with his harpoon. He pulled it ashore. The man saved them. Then the children went up into the house of the man. Then Only-One-Foot began to feed them.

#### TSIMSHIAN DIALECT

## ADĀ'OĢAM¹ Ā'UTAGA°² (STORY OF PORCUPINE)

```
Ninlī'sge<sup>3</sup> la ksū'otgao, 5 a la wa'nsga txanlī'sge<sup>8</sup> ya'tslesgesga 
    That it was when
                         fall.
                                   at when were sitting
                                                                             animals in
na-ga-ts!Em-ts!a'ptgao.10
                                  Da'11 wula 13 dī 18
                                                             t!ā'osgE14
                                                                            wī-medī'ok 15
                                                                 sitting
         their towns.
                                   Then
                                           being
                                                   on his part
                                                                            great grizzly bear
gesga<sup>16</sup> n dī ts!a'pt<sup>17</sup> A<sup>6</sup>
                                 dza 18 wī-gâ'msEmgao. 19
                                                                    Ada 20 ga'ni-wula 21
          his also
                                                                                 always
                    town
                            at
                                  when great
                                                  winter.
                                                                    Then
gwa'ntgEsgA22 wā'osgao,23 da11 g'ik24 lū-la6wa'l25
                                                                  na-ts!Em-ts!a'psga10
     touched
                      the rain,
                                   then
                                          also
                                                   in it dripped
                                                                          the town of
wī-medī'okgao. 15
                         Ada 20
                                  g'ik 24
                                             lô'gaksgesga 26
                                                                   n-lī'otgao.27
                                                                                     Ada 20
the great grizzly bear.
                          Then
                                   again
                                                 he was wet
                                                                      his fur.
                                                                                     Then
                                    gâ'ot 30
semgal 28
              lu-hā'oxgesga 29
                                              gesga 16
                                                          sga-na'ksga 31
                                                                              wā'ostgao.33
   very
               in
                     annoyed
                                    his heart
                                                  яŧ
                                                             too
                                                                                   rain.
 1 ada'og story: -Em connection (§ 22).
 <sup>2</sup> a'uta porcupine; -gao absent (§ 20)
```

```
1 la when (§ 59).

    ksū'o fall; -gao absent (§ 20).

  a preposition (§ 67).
  <sup>7</sup> t/āa (plural wan) to sit (§ 46); -8gE (§ 24).
  * txan/i' all (contains the particle txa- ENTIRELY); -sg E (§ 24).
  From yats to kill many; ya'ts' sek the killing (§ 17, no. 2); the terminal -sega stands here for
asga IN.
  10 n.4. separable possession (§ 55); ga- distributive plural, the towns of the various kinds of animals;
ts/mm-inside (§ 11, no. 152); ts/ab town; -t his; gas absence.
  11 da conjunction (§ 66, no. 2).
  18 § 59.
  13 di on (his) part (§ 15, no. 167).
  14 t'āo to sit; -sg# § 25.
  16 wi- great (§ 10, no. 73); mEdi'ok grizzly bear.
  16 a preposition (§ 67); absent conjunctive form (§ 28).
  17 n- separable possession; di- on his part (cf. note 13); ts/ab town.
  18 dza weakened statement, WHEN IT MAY HAVE BEEN (§ 66, no. 3).
  19 wi-great (§ 10, no. 73); gd'msEm winter; -gao absence.
  no. 1).
  31 gani- all (§ 10, no. 120).
  gwantg to touch (i. e., here, fell); -sgA connection (§§ 24, 25).
  23 wāos rain.
  * g'ik again (§ 15, no. 169).
  ^{25} l\bar{u}- in (§ 9, no. 29); la^{\epsilon}wa'l to drip; no connective after l (§ 29).
  ≈ 16'gaksg to be wet (fur, skin).
  " n- separable possession; lī fur, hair of body; -t his; -gao absence.

■ smm-gal very (§ 15, no. 178).

  " lu- in (§ 9, no. 29), relating to gdod mind; hdoxg annoyed.
```

\* nin/i' that (§ 56); -sg # (§ 25).

so galod mind.

\*1 sga- across (§ 9, no. 36); nag long; here apparently a verbal subordinate construction: AT ACROSS LONG BEING THE RAIN.

22 wāos rain; the -t is a difficult directive ending, which is used very frequently, and for which no adequate explanation has been given.

```
Nīn lī' 33 gan-kse-t lā' ot 34 gesga 16 ne-txaa'gasga 35 n-ts la'ptgao, 10 at 36
           reason out he sat
                                       at
                                                     the mouth of
                                                                              his town.
nī°37 lîgʻi-lep-gâ′°38 gesga 16 kudū′°ntga°.39
                                                             Ada a'sī 40 det!ā'ot 41 gesga 16
                                         around him.
          everything
                                                             Then while
                                                                              sitting
gwa'sga, 42 gakstatnā'oga 43 ā'utaga 44 gun-hē'otget 45 gesga 16 awā'otgao. 46
                                                       toward stood
                                     the porcupine
    that
                  behold who
                                                                             At.
                                                                                    his proximity.
A'sī 40
                  sga-iā'ot 48
                                   gesga 16
                                                  n-leksâ'gasge49
                                                                           n-ts!a'psgE 10
                  across went
When
                                                     the doorway of
                                                                              the town of
                                                                                                  the
medī'okgao. 15 ada wul
                                 ha'usga 50
                                                                         "Ts!ī'onA51
                                                                                            g'ī'ot 52
                                                  wī-medī'okgao
great grizzly bear, then being
                                      said
                                                  the great grizzly bear,
                                                                              "Enter
                                                                                              here.
                       ME dem k!a-xdī'oyut."54 Nin!ī'88
n-sī'Ep!Ensgī! 53
                                                                               gan da'
                                                                                              wula
    my friend!
                        You
                               shall
                                         a little eat with me."
                                                                  That it was reason then
                            \underset{at}{\mathbf{gEsga}} \quad \underset{the \; proximity \; of}{\mathbf{aw\bar{a}'^o sga^{46}}} \quad w\bar{\mathbf{i}}\text{-}\\ \underline{\mathbf{med\bar{i}'^o kga^o.^{15}}} \\ \text{the great grizzly bear.}
ts!ī'onsga<sup>51</sup>
                 a'ut44
                                                                                    Ada'
                                                                                              wula
 entered
                the porcu-
                                                                                               being
wī-sE-la'ksEsgA<sup>55</sup>
                                                    Adat sa-gā'osga<sup>56</sup>
                           wī-medī'okgao.
                                                                                 łgu-ā'utagaº.57
great made fire
                          the great grizzly bear.
                                                   Then he suddenly took
                                                                                 the little porcupine.
                                 ga-sesī'otgao 59
          dekda'kłega<sup>58</sup>
                                                          dił 60
                                                                   ga-an'ô'ntgao.61
Adat
Then he
                  tied
                                       his feet
                                                           and
                                                                        his hands.
                  gesga dzô'gasga63 la'ktgao.64
hal-sge'rt 62
                                                                Adat wul gwa'lk!Ensga65
alongside laid it
                               the edge of
                                                 the fire.
                                                                 Then
                      at
                                                                                     he burnt
hak lâ'osga66 lgu-a'utagao.57 N! ī 33 ada' wul ha'usga50 wī-medī'ok 15 asga16
the back of the little porcupine.
                                        He
                                               then
                                                               said
                                                                         the great grizzly to the
                                                                               hear
 " ni that: n/i probably demonstrative (§ 56)
 24 gan-reason; following nin/i, it means THEREFORE; kss- out, generally directive, but here indi-
cating the position outside; t/do to sit; -t he.
 * ng- separable possession; txa- direction; dg mouth.
 ■ a preposition (§ 67) with subjective (subjunctive) pronoun attached (§ 49).
 n nio to see; after io the connective is missing (§ 29).
 = lig·i-somewhere, this or that (§ 8, no. 20); lEp-self (§ 10, no. 129); gdo something, what; lig·i-gd'o
anything; lig-i-lkp-ado everything.
 m kudūon the place around (a nominal expression). When used in the possessive, it is considered
as inseparable possession (§ 55).
 « asi while (§ 66, no. 7), here followed by the progressive form.
 41 d'Et/d'o progressive form of t/do to sit (§ 37).
 42 gwao this; gwa'sgA that (§ 56).
 4 an interjection, probably gaksta behold; t he; não who.
 " a'uta porcupine: -ga connective (§ 25).
  46 gun-toward (§ 10, no. 114); hëotg to stand; -t he.
  46 awa proximity (a noun which corresponds to the particle gun- [see notes 39, 45]).
 47 t subject of intransitive verb, here emphatic.
  # sga across (§ 9, no. 36); iā'o to go; -t he.
  * n- separable pronoun; leksd'g doorway.
 50 ha'u to say.
 51 ts/ion (plural, la'mdzEx) to enter by (imperative [§ 65]).
 52 griot here.
 53 n-separable possession; si'op/Ensg friend; -i my (in address [§ 51]).
 44 mE thou (subjective [§ 49]); dEm future (§ 59); k/a- a little while (§ 10, no. 10%); xd7% to eat with
some one; -u me; -t (see note 32).
 55 wi- great (§ 10, no. 73); sr- to make (§ 13, no. 164).
 56 t subjective pronoun; sa- suddenly; gāo to take.
 57 lgu- little (§ 10, no. 135).
 M dakl to lie (with plural object dEkda'kl).
 50 asī'o (plural, gaszsī'o [§ 43]).
 odi and; I connective (§ 30).
```

61 an'ô'n hand; ga-an'ô'n hands (§ 43). 62 hal- along (§ 9, no. 50); sg∉r to lie.

4 lak fire (cf. note 32).

44 dzóg edge (noun corresponds to the particle hal- [see note 62]).

\* hak/do back; has no prefix ns., because, as a part of the body, the possession is inseparable.

# gwalg to burn; gwa'lk!En to cause to burn (§ 17, no. 1).

Digitized by Google

łgu-a'ut a6 ła4 gwa'lksga65 n-līom67 hak!â'otgao66: "Duu, duu," "Duu, duu," little porcu- at when burnt the fur of ita back: pine. was da-yê'ga 68 wī-medī'okgao, "Dem wā'lut," 69 the great grizzly bear. "Future I do it," da-yê'ga 68 sald the a'utaga, "sem'â'g id, 70 lū'on 71 deda'klut, 72 ada dem wul wā'luda ne-ha'unt." "chief, untie my bands, then future being I do it what you say." Yagai 73 a'lget 74 nesegâ'tga 75 wī-medī'okga ha'usga lgu-a'uta ges 76 the great grizzly bear said the little porcupine minded n!ī'otgao, a wul''' sem-gal' wi-gat-g'a'dgao. N!ī'otga k!a-gat-g'a'det'' him, because very greatly he is strong. He is most strong gesga txan!ī'sga8 ya'ts!esgaº.º Nīn!ī'33 gan-a'lget74 n! exnō'80 k!abeanimals. reason not he ha'usga 81 lgu-a'uta gEs 76 n! ī'otgao. Sem-gal wī-a'dzeksgao, 82 adat g'ik Very much proud, then he again little porcupine to much proud, him. lagauk-kła'xset 83 gesga ts!em-n-la'ktgaº.84 into to fire kicked him in the fireplace.

#### [Translation]

When it was fall, all the animals were sitting in their towns. A great Grizzly Bear, on his part, was also sitting in his town in midwinter. Rain was always falling, and it also dripped into the house of the great Grizzly Bear. His fur was wet. Then he was much annoyed because it was raining too long, therefore he sat at the entrance of his house and looked around to see everything. While he was sitting there, behold! Porcupine came near him. When he passed the doorway of the house of the great Grizzly Bear, the great Grizzly Bear said, "Enter here, friend! You shall eat with me for a little while." Therefore the Porcupine entered near the great Grizzly Bear. The great Grizzly Bear made a great fire. He suddenly took the little Porcupine. He tied his feet and his hands. Then he laid him near the edge of the fire. Then the back of the little Porcupine was burnt. Then the great Grizzly Bear said to the little Porcupine when

```
er Rom hak!d'o back fur (§ 22).
```

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> This verb has always subjective pronouns (see § 49).

<sup>•</sup> Here indicative, therefore -u objective pronoun with third person object (§ 50).

<sup>70</sup> smm'd'g id chief (see § 33).

n luo to untie. Here indicative construction in place of imperative.

<sup>12</sup> dzda'kl bands; -u my; -t (see note 32).

<sup>78</sup> yagai however (§ 15 no. 174).

<sup>74</sup> a'lg# not (§ 15, no. 180; § 63).

<sup>&</sup>quot; nEsga' to mind; -tgE connective (§ 24 BI2 absent).

<sup>\*</sup> ggs preposition, definite form before pronoun designating human beings (§ 28).

 $<sup>\</sup>eta$  a wul because (§ 67, no. 11).

<sup>&</sup>quot; wi- greatly (§ 10, no. 73); gat-g'a'd strong (a compound of g'ad PERSON).

<sup>79</sup> k/a- exceedingly (here used as superlative [§ 10, no. 106]).

n nexno' to hear; no connective after vowels (§ 29).

<sup>\*1</sup> k!abs the little one, poorly (§ 10, no. 113), also plural to lgu-small.

<sup>#</sup> å'dzzk proud.

<sup>&</sup>quot; lagauk- from the sides of the house to the fire; klazs to kick.

<sup>\*</sup> ts/Em- the inside; n- place (§ 12, no. 157); lak fire.

the fur on his back was burnt, "Duu, duu!" said the great Grizzly Bear. "I will do it," said the Porcupine. "Chief, untie my bands, then I will do what you say." However, the great Grizzly Bear did not mind what the little Porcupine said to him, because he was very strong. He is the strongest of all the animals, therefore he did not listen to what the poor little Porcupine said to him. He was very proud. Then he kicked him again into the fireplace.